

Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal

Review of prices for the Sydney Catchment Authority

From 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2012

Water — Draft Determination and Draft Report March 2009



Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal

Review of prices for the Sydney Catchment Authority

From 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2012

Water — Draft Determination and Draft Report March 2009 © Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal of New South Wales 2009

This work is copyright. The *Copyright Act 1968* permits fair dealing for study, research, news reporting, criticism and review. Selected passages, tables or diagrams may be reproduced for such purposes provided acknowledgement of the source is included.

ISBN 978-1-921328-81-7

The Tribunal members for this review are:

Dr Michael Keating, AC, Chairman Mr James Cox, Chief Executive Officer and Full Time Member

Ms Sibylle Krieger, Part Time Member

Inquiries regarding this document should be directed to a staff member:

 Amanda Chadwick
 (02) 9290 8453

 Matthew Edgerton
 (02) 9290 8488

Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal of New South Wales PO Box Q290, QVB Post Office NSW 1230 Level 8, 1 Market Street, Sydney NSW 2000 T (02) 9290 8400 F (02) 9290 2061 www.ipart.nsw.gov.au

Invitation for submissions

IPART invites written comment on this document and encourages all interested parties to provide submissions addressing the matters discussed.

Submissions are due by 10 April 2009.

We would prefer to receive them by email <ipart@ipart.nsw.gov.au>.

You can also send comments by fax to (02) 9290 2061, or by mail to:

Review of metropolitan water prices Sydney Catchment Authority Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal PO Box Q290 QVB Post Office NSW 1230

Our normal practice is to make submissions publicly available on our website <www.ipart.nsw.gov.au>. If you wish to view copies of submissions but do not have access to the website, you can make alternative arrangements by telephoning one of the staff members listed on the previous page.

We may choose not to publish a submission – for example, if it contains confidential or commercially sensitive information. If your submission contains information that you do not wish to be publicly disclosed, please indicate this clearly at the time of making the submission. IPART will then make every effort to protect that information, but it could be subject to appeal under freedom of information legislation.

If you would like further information on making a submission, IPART's submission policy is available on our website.



Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal

Sydney Catchment Authority

Draft Determination No. 3, 2009

Contents

Prel	iminary	1
1	Background	1
2	Application of this determination	1
3	Replacement of Determination No. 7 of 2005	2
4	Monitoring	2
5	Schedules	2
Sch	edule 1 Water supply services	3
1	Application	3
2	Water supply services to the Corporation	3
3	Water supply services to Wingecarribee Shire Council	3
4	Water supply services to Shoalhaven City Council	3
5	Water Supply Services to Goulburn Mulwaree Council	4
Tab	les 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6	5
Sch	edule 2 Water supply services – Bulk Raw Water	7
1	Application	7
2	Bulk Raw Water	7
Tab	le 7	8
Sch	edule 3 Water supply services – Unfiltered Water	9
1	Application	9
2	Unfiltered Water	9
Tab	les 8 and 9	0
Sch	edule 4 Definitions and Interpretation 1	1
1	Definitions	11
2	Interpretation	13

Preliminary

1 Background

- (a) Section 11 of the *Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal Act* 1992 (NSW) permits IPART to conduct investigations and make reports to the Minister on the determination of the pricing for a government monopoly service supplied by a government agency specified in Schedule 1 of the IPART Act.
- (b) Sydney Catchment Authority (**Authority**) is listed as a government agency for the purposes of Schedule 1 of the IPART Act. The services of the Authority declared as monopoly services under the *Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal (Water Supply Services) Order 2000* (**Order**) are:
 - (1) water supply services; and
 - (2) ancillary and miscellaneous services for which no alternative supply exists and which relate to the supply of those water services,

(together the Monopoly Services).

Accordingly, IPART may determine the prices for the Monopoly Services.

- (c) In investigating and reporting on the pricing of the Monopoly Services, IPART has had regard to a broad range of matters, including the criteria set out in section 15(1) of the IPART Act.
- (d) In accordance with section 13A of the IPART Act, IPART has fixed the maximum price for the Monopoly Services or has established a methodology for fixing the maximum price.
- (e) Under section 18(2) of the IPART Act, the Authority may not fix a price below that determined by IPART without the approval of the Treasurer.

2 Application of this determination

- (a) This determination fixes the maximum prices (or sets a methodology for fixing the maximum prices) that the Authority may charge for the Monopoly Services.
- (b) This determination commences on the later of 1 July 2009 and the date that it is published in the NSW Government Gazette (**Commencement Date**).
- (c) The maximum prices in this determination apply from the Commencement Date to 30 June 2012. The maximum prices in this

determination prevailing at 30 June 2012 continue to apply beyond 30 June 2012 until this determination is replaced.

3 Replacement of Determination No. 7 of 2005

This determination replaces Determination No. 7 of 2005 from the Commencement Date. The replacement does not affect anything done or omitted to be done, or rights or obligations accrued, under Determination No. 7 of 2005 prior to its replacement.

4 Monitoring

IPART may monitor the performance of the Authority for the purposes of:

- (a) establishing and reporting on the level of compliance by the Authority with this determination; and
- (b) preparing a periodic review of pricing policies in respect of the Monopoly Services supplied by the Authority.

5 Schedules

- (a) Schedules 1-3 (inclusive) and the Tables in those Schedules set out the maximum prices that the Authority may charge for the Monopoly Services specified in the schedules.
- (b) Schedule 4 sets out the definitions and interpretation provisions.

Schedule 1 Water supply services

1 Application

This schedule sets the maximum prices that the Authority may charge for services to a person (other than a Customer) under paragraph (a) of the Order (water supply services).

2 Water supply services to the Corporation

The maximum charge for water supplied by the Authority to the Corporation is the sum of:

- (a) the Fixed Availability Charge in Table 1, corresponding to the applicable Period in that table; and
- (b) the Volumetric Charge (per ML) in Table 2, corresponding to the applicable Period in that table.

3 Water supply services to Wingecarribee Shire Council

The maximum charge for water supplied by the Authority to Wingecarribee Shire Council is the Volumetric Charge (per ML) in Table 3, corresponding to the applicable Period in that table.

4 Water supply services to Shoalhaven City Council

4.1 Supply to Kangaroo Valley

The maximum charge for water supplied by the Authority to Shoalhaven City Council for use in Kangaroo Valley is the Volumetric Charge (per ML) in Table 4, corresponding to the applicable Period in that table.

4.2 Tallowa Dam Releases to Shoalhaven City Council

The maximum charge for water supplied by the Authority to Shoalhaven City Council from the Tallowa Dam Releases during times of drought (as determined by Shoalhaven City Council) is the Volumetric Charge (per ML) in Table 5, corresponding to the applicable Period in that table. l

5 Water supply services to Goulburn Mulwaree Council

The maximum charge for water supplied by the Authority to Goulburn Mulwaree Council is the Volumetric Charge (per ML) in Table 6, corresponding to the applicable Period in that table.

Tables 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6

Table 1 Fixed Availability Charges for the Corporation

Charge	Commencement Date to 30 June 2010	1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011	1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012
Fixed Availability Charge (\$ per calendar month)	5,985,142 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	6,186,941 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	6,395,543 x (1+ΔCPI₃)

Table 2 Volumetric Charges for the Corporation

Charge	Commencement Date to 30 June 2010	1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011	1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012
Volumetric Charge (\$ per ML)	237.43 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	245.43 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	253.71 x (1+ΔCPI₃)

Table 3 Volumetric Charges for Wingecarribee Shire Council

Charge	Commencement Date to 30 June 2010	1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011	1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012
Volumetric Charge (\$ per ML)	224.48 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	232.04 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	239.87 x (1+ΔCPI₃)

Table 4	Volumetric	Charges fo	or Kangaroo	Valley

Charge	Commencement Date to 30 June 2010	1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011	1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012
Volumetric Charge (\$ per ML)	224.48 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	232.04 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	239.87 x (1+ΔCPI₃)

l

in tim	es of drought		
Charge	Commencement Date to 30 June 2010	1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011	1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012
Volumetric Charge (\$ per ML)	224.48 x(1+ΔCPI ₁)	232.04 x (1+ΔCPl ₂)	239.87 x (1+ΔCPI ₃)

Table 5Volumetric Charges for Tallowa Dam Releases to Shoalhaven City Council
in times of drought

Table 6 Volumetric Charges for Goulburn Mulwaree Council

Charge	Commencement Date to 30 June 2010	1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011	1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012
Volumetric Charge (\$ per ML)	224.48 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	232.04 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	239.87 x (1+ΔCPI₃)

Schedule 2 Water supply services – Bulk Raw Water

1 Application

This schedule sets the maximum prices that the Authority may charge for services of Bulk Raw Water to a Customer under paragraph (a) of the Order (water supply services).

2 Bulk Raw Water

The maximum charge for Bulk Raw Water supplied by the Authority to a Customer is the Volumetric Charge (per kL) in Table 7, corresponding to the applicable Period in that table.

Table 7

Charge	Commencement Date to 30 June 2010	1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011	1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012
Bulk Raw Water charges - Volumetric Charge (\$ per kL)	0.53 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	0.54 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	0.56 x (1+ΔCPI₃)

Table 7 Volumetric Charges for Bulk Raw Water

Schedule 3 Water supply services – Unfiltered Water

1 Application

This schedule sets the maximum prices that the Authority may charge for services of Unfiltered Water to a Customer under paragraph (a) of the Order (water supply services).

2 Unfiltered Water

The maximum charge for Unfiltered Water supplied by the Authority to a Customer is the sum of:

- (a) the Fixed Availability Charge in Table 8, corresponding to the service connection size and the applicable Period in that table; and
- (b) the Volumetric Charge (per kL) in Table 9, corresponding to the applicable Period in that table.

Tables 8 and 9

Service Connection Size	Commencement Date to 30 June 2010	1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011	1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012
20mm	80.15 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	82.85 x (1+ΔCPl ₂)	85.65 x (1+ΔCPI ₃)
25mm	125.24 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	129.46 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	133.82 x (1+ΔCPI₃)
30mm	180.34 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	186.42 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	192.71 x (1+ΔCPI₃)
32mm	205.19 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	212.10 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	219.26 x (1+ΔCPI₃)
40mm	320.60 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	331.41 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	342.59 x (1+ΔCPI₃)
50mm	500.94 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	517.83 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	535.29 x (1+ΔCPI₃)
80mm	1,282.42x (1+ΔCPI₁).	1,325.65 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	1,370.35 x (1+ΔCPI₃)
100mm	2,003.78 x (1+ΔCPI₁)	2,071.34 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	2,141.17 x (1+ΔCPI₃)
150mm	4,508.49 x (1+ΔCPI₁)	4,660.50 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	4,817.64 x (1+ΔCPI₃)
200mm	8,015.10 x (1+ΔCPI₁)	8,285.34 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	8,564.70 x (1+ΔCPI₃)
>200mm	(Meter size) ² x 20mm charge/400	(Meter size) ² x 20mm charge/400	(Meter size) ² x 20mm charge/400

 Table 8
 Fixed Availability Charges for Unfiltered Water

Table 9	Volumetric Charges for Unfiltered Water
---------	---

Charge	Commencement Date to 30 June 2010	1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011	1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012
Unfiltered Water Volumetric Charge (\$ per kL)	0.90 x (1+ΔCPI ₁)	0.93 x (1+ΔCPI ₂)	0.96 x (1+ΔCPI₃)

Schedule 4 Definitions and Interpretation

1 Definitions

1.1 General definitions

In this determination:

Authority means the Authority as defined in clause 1(b) of the *Preliminary* section of this determination, constituted under the *Sydney Water Catchment Management Act* 1998 (NSW).

Bulk Raw Water means water that has not been managed in any way.

Commencement Date means the Commencement Date as defined in clause 2(b) of the *Preliminary* section of this determination.

Corporation means the Sydney Water Corporation constituted under the *Sydney Water Corporation Act* 1994 (NSW).

Customer means a person to whom the Authority supplies water, other than:

- (a) the Corporation; or
- (b) a water supply authority, a local council or a county council each as defined in the *Sydney Water Catchment Management Act* 1998 (NSW).

Fixed Availability Charge means a fixed charge imposed by the Authority for making water available for supply to a person, irrespective of the amount of water consumed by that person.

Goulburn Mulwaree Council means the Goulburn Mulwaree Council as constituted under the *Local Government Act* 1993 (NSW).

GST means the Goods and Services Tax as defined in *A New Tax System* (*Goods and Services Tax*) *Act* 1999 (Cth).

IPART means the Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal of New South Wales established under the IPART Act.

IPART Act means the *Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal Act* 1992 (NSW).

Kangaroo Valley means the township of Kangaroo Valley within the local government area of the Shoalhaven City Council.

kL means kilolitre or one thousand litres.

ML means megalitre or one million litres.

Monopoly Services means the Monopoly Services as defined in clause 1(b) of the *Preliminary* section of this determination.

Order means the Order defined in clause 1(b) of the *Preliminary* section of this determination and published in Gazette No. 22 dated 11 February 2000.

Period means the Commencement Date to 30 June 2010, 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011 or 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012 (as the case may be).

Shoalhaven City Council means the Shoalhaven City Council as constituted under the *Local Government Act* 1993 (NSW).

Tallowa Dam Releases describes the circumstance where the Shoalhaven City Council requests the Authority to release from Tallowa Dam water in excess of that which would usually be released by the Authority so as to enable the Shoalhaven City Council to provide water to towns within its local government area in times of drought.

Unfiltered Water means Bulk Raw Water that has been managed for quality, whether by chemical treatment or otherwise but not treated at a water filtration plant.

Volumetric Charge means a charge imposed by the Authority for water supplied by the Authority to a person where the charge is based on the amount of water consumed by that person.

Wingecarribee Shire Council means the Wingecarribee Shire Council as constituted under the *Local Government Act* 1993 (NSW).

1.2 Consumer Price Index

(a) CPI means the consumer price index, All Groups index number for the weighted average of eight capital cities as published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics, or if the Australian Bureau of Statistics does not or ceases to publish the index, then CPI will mean an index determined by IPART.

(b)
$$\Delta \text{CPI}_{1} = \left(\frac{CPI_{Jun2008} + CPI_{Sep2008} + CPI_{Dec2008} + CPI_{Mar2009}}{CPI_{Jun2007} + CPI_{Sep2007} + CPI_{Dec2007} + CPI_{Mar2008}} \right) - 1$$
$$\Delta \text{CPI}_{2} = \left(\frac{CPI_{Jun2009} + CPI_{Sep2009} + CPI_{Dec2009} + CPI_{Mar2010}}{CPI_{Jun2007} + CPI_{Sep2007} + CPI_{Dec2007} + CPI_{Mar2008}} \right) - 1$$
$$\Delta \text{CPI}_{3} = \left(\frac{CPI_{Jun2010} + CPI_{Sep2010} + CPI_{Dec2010} + CPI_{Mar2011}}{CPI_{Jun2007} + CPI_{Sep2007} + CPI_{Dec2010} + CPI_{Mar2011}} \right) - 1$$

each as calculated by IPART and notified in writing by IPART to the Authority.

(c) The subtext (for example Jun 2008) when used in relation to paragraph (b) above means the CPI for the quarter and year indicated (in the example the June quarter for 2008).

2 Interpretation

2.1 General provisions

In this determination:

- (a) headings are for convenience only and do not affect the interpretation of this determination;
- (b) a reference to a schedule, annexure, clause or table is a reference to a schedule, annexure, clause or table to this determination;
- (c) words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa;
- (d) a reference to a law or statute includes all amendments or replacements of that law or statute;
- (e) a reference to a person includes any company, partnership, joint venture, association, corporation, other body corporate or government agency;
- (f) a reference to an officer includes a reference to the officer which replaces him or her or which substantially succeeds to his or her powers or functions;
- (g) a reference to a body, whether statutory or not:
 - (i) which ceases to exist; or
 - (ii) whose powers or functions are transferred to another body,

is a reference to the body which replaces it or which substantially succeeds to its powers or functions.

2.2 Explanatory notes and clarification notice

- (a) Explanatory notes do not form part of this determination, but in the case of uncertainty may be relied on for interpretation purposes.
- (b) IPART may publish a clarification notice in the NSW Government Gazette to correct any manifest error in this determination as if that clarification note formed part of this determination.

2.3 Prices exclusive of GST

Prices or charges specified in this determination do not include GST.

l

2.4 Billing cycle of the Authority

For the avoidance of doubt nothing in this determination affects when the Authority may issue a bill to a customer for prices or charges under this determination.



Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal

Review of prices for the Sydney Catchment Authority

From 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2012

Draft Report No. 03, 2009 March 2009

Contents

Inv	itatio	n for submissions	iii
1	Intro	oduction and executive summary	1
	1.1	Summary of price outcomes	1
	1.2	Structure of this report	10
2	Cont	ext for this review	11
	2.1	IPART's review process	11
	2.2	Matters considered	12
	2.3	SCA's operations	14
	2.4	Overview of SCA's submission	22
3	IPAR	T's approach to setting prices	26
	3.1	Overview of price setting approach and draft decisions	26
	3.2	Approach for determining the notional revenue requirement	27
	3.3	Broad approach for converting the notional revenue requirement into prices	28
	3.4	Length of the determination period	29
	3.5	Aggregate pricing approach	30
	3.6	Adjustment to account for lower than forecast water sales and lower than expected capital expenditure over the 2005 determination	31
	3.7	Mechanism to address risk of significant variation between forecast water sales and actual water sales over the 2009 determination period	33
	3.8	Mechanism to allow SCA to pass through unforeseen costs associated with pumping water from the Shoalhaven	34
	3.9	Requirement to report on progress against output measures	36
4	Over	view of SCA's revenue requirement	38
	4.1	SCA's proposed revenue requirement	39
	4.2	Overview of draft decisions on SCA's revenue requirement	39
5	Reve	enue required for operating expenditure	41
	5.1	Summary of IPART's decision	41
	5.2	SCA's submission	42
	5.3	WorleyParsons' review	43
	5.4	Stakeholder comments	45
	5.5	IPART's analysis	46

Contents

6	Reve	enue required for capital investment	47
	6.1	Assessing SCA's past and forecast capital expenditure	47
	6.2	Calculating the annual value of the RAB over the determination period	56
	6.3	Calculating the allowance for a return on assets	59
	6.4	Calculating the allowance for regulatory depreciation	61
7	SCA	's forecast water sales	64
	7.1	Summary of IPART's decisions	64
	7.2	Forecast sales to Sydney Water	65
	7.3	SCA sales to Local Councils	67
	7.4	SCA sales to unfiltered and raw water customers	67
	7.5	IPART's analysis	68
8	Prici	ng decisions for SCA's water services	70
	8.1	Summary of draft pricing decisions	70
	8.2	Pricing decisions for charges to Sydney Water	71
	8.3	Pricing decisions for charges to Local Councils	76
	8.4	Pricing decisions for charges to unfiltered and raw water customers	79
9	Imp	lications of draft pricing decisions	83
	9.1	Implications for water customers	83
	9.2	Implications for SCA's service standards	90
	9.3	Implications for SCA and its shareholders	91
	9.4	Implications for general inflation	93
	9.5	Implications for the environment	93
Ap	pendi	ces	95
	А	Matters to be considered by IPART under section 15 of the IPART Act	97
	В	SCA's 2006/07 water balance (for Total Supply System)	99
	С	Recommendations of the 2007 Audit of the Sydney Drinking Water Catchment	100
	D	SCA's compliance with its operating licence over 2007/08	102
	Е	Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC)	103
	F	Pricing that depends on dam levels	117
	G	Section 16A direction	123
	Н	Output measures	124
Glo	ossary	,	127

1 Introduction and executive summary

The Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal of New South Wales (IPART) is currently reviewing the prices that the Sydney Catchment Authority (SCA) can charge for providing water services. The purpose of the review is to determine the maximum prices for these services from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2012 (the 2009 determination period).

This draft report explains IPART's draft determination of SCA's prices, including the rationale and analysis that underpin IPART's draft decisions. IPART is seeking submissions from stakeholders on the draft report and determination, which it will consider before making its final determination in June 2009. Details on how to make a submission are provided on page iii at the front of this report. Please note that the closing date for submissions is 10 April 2009.

IPART is also seeking stakeholder views on the potential introduction of a form of 'scarcity pricing' at the next determination of SCA's prices (in 2012). Under this pricing approach, SCA's price to Sydney Water would vary inversely with dam levels (available SCA water supply). IPART will be considering this option further over the course of the 2009 determination period. Its preliminary thoughts on this pricing approach are outlined in Appendix F.

1.1 Summary of price outcomes

Under the draft determination, the prices that SCA can charge its customers increase by about 14 per cent in real terms from 2008/09 to 2011/12. The largest increase occurs in 2009/10, then prices increase steadily to 2011/12. Table 1.1 shows the draft prices for each SCA service, and the percentage increase compared to current (2008/09) prices.

Tables 1.3 and 1.4 (in section 1.1.2) show how this draft determination impacts on Sydney Water's service charges to its customers and typical residential and non-residential customer water and sewerage bills.

	Current price (2008/09)	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Volumetric price to Sydney Water (\$/ML)	222.17	237.43	245.43	253.71
Year on year increase in price		6.9%	3.4%	3.4%
Increase 2008/09 to 2011/12				14.2%
Fixed charge to Sydney Water (\$M)	67.21	71.82	74.24	76.75
Year on year increase in price		6.9%	3.4%	3.4%
Increase 2008/09 to 2011/12				14.2%
Volumetric price to Local Councils (\$/ML)	210.05	224.48	232.04	239.87
Year on year increase in price		6.9%	3.4%	3.4%
Increase 2008/09 to 2011/12				14.2%
Volumetric price for unfiltered water (\$/kL) ^a	0.84	0.90	0.93	0.96
Year on year increase in price		7.1%	3.3%	3.2%
Increase 2008/09 to 2011/12				14.3%
Volumetric price for raw water (\$/kL) ^a	0.49	0.53	0.54	0.56
Year on year increase in price		8.2%	1.9%	3.7%
Increase 2008/09 to 2011/12				14.3%
Fixed charge to unfiltered water customers – for 20 mm meters (\$)	75.00	80.15	82.85	85.65
Year on year increase in price		6.9%	3.4%	3.4%
Increase 2008/09 to 2011/12				14.2%
Fixed charge to unfiltered water customers – for meter size > 20 mm (\$)	(Meter size) ² x 20mm charge/400	(Meter size) ² x 20mm charge/400	(Meter size) ² x 20mm charge/400	(Meter size) ² x 20mm charge/400
Year on year increase in price		6.9%	3.4%	3.4%
Increase 2008/09 to 2011/12				14.2%

Table 1.1 Draft decisions on prices for SCA services from 2009/10 to 2011/12(\$, real2008/09)

a These volumetric charges to unfiltered and raw water customers do not increase by the exact same proportions as SCA's other prices, due to rounding (to the nearest cent per kL).

IPART considers these price increases necessary to enable SCA to operate, maintain and renew the assets needed to effectively carry out its catchment management and bulk water supply functions. In reaching its draft decisions, it has considered the potential impact of these price increases on water customers, SCA's financial viability, SCA's service standards, and the environment. It considers that the draft determination appropriately balances the needs and interests of each.

The sections below summarise the reasons for these prices increases, the impact of IPART's draft determination on water customers and SCA, and IPART's draft decisions in relation to the structure of SCA's prices. Please note that all figures in this report are presented in 2008/09 dollars (unless stated otherwise). For

comparative purposes, prices and costs are often presented for 2008/09, in addition to the 2009 determination period (2009/10 to 2011/12).

1.1.1 Reasons for price increases

Table 1.2 shows IPART's draft decision on SCA's annual notional revenue requirements over the 2009 determination period, and its draft decisions on the components of these revenue requirements. This table, along with Figure 1.1, indicates that the increase in SCA's notional revenue requirement relative to current levels – and therefore the increases in prices under this draft determination – are driven by an increase in SCA's efficient operating expenditure in 2009/10 (due to SCA's contribution to the Accelerated Sewerage Program), and increases in the allowances for a return on assets and a return of assets (or regulatory depreciation) over the determination period.

Table 1.2 also shows that IPART has set prices so that SCA's target revenue (ie, the revenue IPART expects SCA to generate from charges, given its draft decisions on prices and SCA's forecast water sales) will be equal to its notional revenue requirement in the final year of the determination period only. IPART considers that this approach ensures that SCA is financially viable and has sufficient revenue to fund efficient operating expenditure and capital investment, while also mitigating the impact of price rises on water customers.

	Current (2008/09)	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Operating expenditure	87.0 a	80.0	80.0	80.0
Contribution to ASP (operating expenditure) ^b		17.3		
Allowance for a return on assets	76.3	89.2	90.9	91.5
Allowance for regulatory depreciation	18.8	21.2	22.0	22.5
Allowance for working capital	0.5	0.7	1.1	1.1
Other (unregulated) revenue	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4
Notional revenue requirement ^c	182.3	208.0	193.7	194.8
Target revenue	182.3	193.4	185.2	194.8

Table 1.2 Draft decisions on SCA's annual notional revenue requirement, and
annual target revenue (\$million, real 2008/09)

a Includes \$4 million in Shoalhaven pumping costs.

b SCA's contribution to the Accelerated Sewerage Program (ASP).

Totals may not add due to rounding.





Efficient operating expenditure

SCA's total operating expenditure in 2009/10 is forecast to be significantly higher than operating expenditure in 2008/09. This is due to the NSW Government's requirement for SCA to make a one-off contribution of \$17.7 million (\$2009/10) to the Accelerated Sewerage Program (ASP), which will fund the upgrade of sewage treatment plants needed to enhance and protect Sydney's water quality. Pursuant to section 16A of the IPART Act, the Minister for Water has directed IPART to include in its 2009 determination the efficient costs of SCA complying with this Government direction.

When this contribution to the ASP is excluded (along with SCA's costs of pumping water from the Shoalhaven in 2008/09), SCA's forecast efficient operating costs in each year of the determination period are around 3.6 per cent less than in 2008/09. This is due to SCA's forecast cost savings and efficiency measures over the determination period.

Allowances for a return on assets and regulatory depreciation

The allowance for a return on capital compensates SCA for the opportunity cost of the capital it has invested in assets, and thus ensures that prices are cost reflective and provide SCA with an incentive for it to make further investments when new infrastructure is needed. The allowance for regulatory depreciation recognises that an efficiently operating business will allow for the cost of maintaining its assets within its revenue requirements. Both these allowances increase over the 2009 determination period, to incorporate SCA's forecast capital expenditure and to reflect IPART's decisions on an appropriate rate of return for SCA (for calculating the return on assets) and average asset lives (for the purposes of calculating depreciation).

SCA's efficient forecast capital expenditure, which is incorporated into the Regulatory Asset Base (RAB) and therefore increases the allowances for return on assets and regulatory depreciation, includes provision for upgrading dams to provide environmental flows and to improve dam safety, and upgrading or replacing aging infrastructure and assets (including electrical wiring, fencing, roads and support assets) to ensure the safety of SCA's workforce and the community and the efficient functioning of its systems.

1.1.2 Impact of IPART's draft determination on water customers

SCA is primarily a bulk water supplier. Its main customer is Sydney Water (which purchases about 99 per cent of its supply). It also supplies three Local Councils¹ (which purchase approximately 1 per cent of SCA's supply). In addition, SCA acts as a water retailer to a small number of 'raw' and 'unfiltered' water customers, which account for less than 0.1 per cent of its total sales.

Increases in SCA's prices largely affect the customers of Sydney Water and the Local Councils rather than these businesses themselves, because the businesses can generally pass on SCA price increases to their customers. In this regard, IPART's 2008 determination of Sydney Water's retail prices included a mechanism to allow Sydney Water to adjust its water service charges for the period 2009/10 to 2011/12 to reflect any changes to SCA's prices that occur as a result of the 2009 SCA determination. The expected impacts of the price increases under the draft determination on Sydney Water's customers, the Local Councils' customers, and SCA's raw and unfiltered water customers are summarised below.

Sydney Water's customers

Table 1.3 shows increases in Sydney Water's water service charges as a result of this draft determination. These increases are relative to the schedule of charges set at the 2008 determination of Sydney Water's prices. For Sydney Water customers with a 20mm meter connection, which generally includes all residential customers, this draft determination will increase the water service charge by \$16.41 per year by 2011/12. The table shows that this draft determination will increase all water service charges, regardless of meter size, by approximately 14 per cent by 2011/12.

¹ Over the 2009 determination period, SCA will supply Wingecarribee Shire Council, Shoalhaven City Council and Goulburn Mulwaree Council.

Meter size (mm)	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
20	6.59	9.56	16.41
25	10.30	14.94	25.65
20	14.83	21.51	36.93
32	16.87	24.48	42.02
40	26.37	38.24	65.65
50	41.20	59.76	102.58
65	69.62	100.99	173.37
80	105.46	152.98	262.61
100	164.79	239.03	410.33
150	370.77	537.82	923.25
200	659.15	956.12	1,641.34
% increase to all service charges	7.2%	9.0%	14.1%

Table 1.3	Increase in Sydney Water's water service charges as a result of the draft
	determination (\$, real 2008/09)

Note: These increases are relative to Sydney Water's schedule of prices for 2008/09 to 2011/12, as set by IPART at the 2008 Determination of Sydney Water's prices.

Table 1.4 shows the increases in average water and sewerage bills for customers of Sydney Water as result of IPART's 2008 determination of Sydney Water's prices and its draft determination on SCA's prices. This table indicates that while the 2008 determination of Sydney Water's prices results in substantial increases in average bills over 2007/08 to 2011/12, this draft determination of SCA's prices will further increase these bills by only a relatively small amount. For example, the table shows that the 2008 Sydney Water determination will increase average water and sewerage bills for a household consuming 200kL per annum by \$245 (or 33 per cent) over the four-year determination period (from \$752 in 2007/08 to \$997 in 2011/12). In comparison, the draft SCA determination would increase these bills by a further \$16 or 1.6 per cent.

		-			
Typical water & sewerage bills	2007/08	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Res: 20mm meter & 100 kL pa					
Bill - 2008 SWC Det.ª	615	717	753	784	804
Year on year increase		16.6%	5.0%	4.1%	2.6%
Bill – 2009 SCA Det.			760	794	820
Increase to bill from 2009 SCA Det.			0.9%	1.2%	2.0%
Res: 20mm meter & 200 kL pa					
Bill - 2008 SWC Det.ª	752	878	933	974	997
Year on year increase		16.8%	6.3%	4.4%	2.4%
Bill – 2009 SCA Det.			940	984	1,013
Increase to bill from 2009 SCA Det.			0.7%	1.0%	1.6%
Non-Res: 20mm meter & 300 kL pa					
Bill - 2008 SWC Det. a	890	1,039	1,113	1,164	1,190
Year on year increase		16.7%	7.1%	4.6%	2.2%
Bill – 2009 SCA Det.			1,120	1,174	1,206
Increase to bill from 2009 SCA Det.			0.6%	0.8%	1.4%
Non-Res: 32mm meter & 1,000 kL pa					
Bill - 2008 SWC Det.ª	3,130	3,581	3,816	3,969	4,043
Year on year increase		14.4%	6.6%	4.0%	1.9%
Bill – 2009 SCA Det.			3,833	3,993	4,085
Increase to bill from 2009 SCA Det.			0.4%	0.6%	1.0%
Non-Res: 80mm meter &10,000 kL pa					
Bill - 2008 SWC Det. a	31,519	35,408	37,584	38,920	39,494
Year on year increase		12.3%	6.1%	3.6%	1.5%
Bill – 2009 SCA Det.			37,689	39,073	39,757
Increase to bill from 2009 SCA Det.			0.3%	0.4%	0.7%

Table 1.4	Increase in typical water and sewerage bills for customers of Sydney Water
	as a result of the 2008 Sydney Water determination and the draft 2009
	SCA determination (\$, real 2008/09)

a Sourced from IPART, *Review of prices for Sydney Water Corporation's water, sewerage, stormwater and other services, From 1 July 2008, Determination and Final Report,* June 2008, pp 131-133.

Local Councils' customers

IPART's indicative analysis suggests that this draft determination will also result in a moderate increase in the water bills of customers of the three Local Councils supplied by SCA. For instance, Table 1.5 shows that typical household water bills in the Wingecarribee Shire Council area (the largest of SCA's three Local Council customers) are expected to increase by about 1.8 per cent from 2008/09 to 2011/12 as a result of the draft determination. Typical combined water and sewerage bills are likely to rise by about 0.7 per cent over the same period.

Table 1.5	🗧 Impact of draft determination on typical water and sewerage bills f			
	customers of Wingecarribee Shire Council (\$, real 2008/09)			

	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Typical household water bill	380 a	383	385	387
Increase relative to 2008/09		0.9%	1.3%	1.8%
Typical household water and sewerage bill	920 b	923	925	927
Increase relative to 2008/09		0.4%	0.5%	0.7%

a Source: Email from Wingecarribee Shire Council to IPART, 5 December 2008.

b Source: Water Services Association of Australia, *National Performance Report 2006-2007, urban water utilities*, p 158, indexed to \$2008/09.

SCA's unfiltered and raw water customers

SCA has a total of approximately 65 'raw' and 'unfiltered' water customers, comprising industry, government departments and agencies, religious orders, schools, agricultural producers and domestic users.

IPART's draft determination will increase SCA's prices to these retail customers (and therefore their water bills) by approximately 14 per cent over 2008/09 to 2011/12. Table 1.1 shows that the largest increase in these prices occurs in 2009/10, followed by further but more gradual increases in 2010/11 and 2011/12.

IPART considers that these price rises are reasonable and justified, particularly considering SCA's raw and unfiltered water charges have remained essentially unchanged from 2000/01 to 2008/09. It considers that the draft determination achieves an appropriate balance between ensuring that raw and unfiltered water customers adequately contribute to the recovery of SCA's costs, while protecting them from a significant price shock.

IPART also notes that SCA undertakes a limited range of social programs designed to assist its vulnerable retail customers, including rebates for eligible pensioners equal to the unfiltered water service charge.

1.1.3 Impact of IPART's draft determination on SCA

In making its draft decisions on SCA's prices, IPART analysed a range of financial indicators that are commonly used by credit rating agencies to assess an entity's financial capacity and ability to service and repay debt. The NSW Government believes that a BBB rating (generally considered investment grade) is the minimum target rating to ensure financial viability.

IPART's analysis and financial modelling indicate that the maximum prices under the draft determination will enable SCA to achieve an overall credit rating of A+ in 2009/10 and 2010/11, and AA in 2011/12. This is well above the minimum requirement of a BBB rating and should enable SCA to continue to operate its business to a high standard.
1.1.4 Draft decisions on SCA price structure

As part of its price review, IPART considered the structure of SCA's prices, including stakeholder comments on this structure made in submissions and at the public hearing. SCA proposed that the current balance between the volumetric (per kL) charge and the fixed service charge to Sydney Water be changed, so that it generates more revenue from the fixed charge. Other stakeholders argued that the volumetric charge should be relatively higher, to more accurately signal the longer-term costs imposed (or avoided) if SCA's customers increase (or reduce) the amount of water they purchase. In turn, this can help to ensure that the amount of water consumed from SCA's storages is efficient, and that water conservation or supply augmentation measures are implemented where appropriate.

IPART's draft decision is not to change SCA's current price structure, including the balance between the volumetric and fixed charges. IPART considers that this approach is a reasonable 'holding' option for the 2009 determination period, given that there is some uncertainty about SCA's operating environment over this period, due to the scheduled release of the updated Metropolitan Water Plan, the review of the water restrictions regime, the development of the operating regime for the desalination plant and the commissioning of this plant in 2010.

Once these matters have been resolved by Government, and IPART is able to determine SCA and Sydney Water's prices concurrently, IPART is interested in exploring the potential to introduce a form of scarcity pricing as part of its 2012 price reviews. Under such a pricing approach, IPART would set the price of water from SCA's dams to vary inversely with dam levels, reflecting the value of SCA water under prevailing conditions. This would have the potential benefits of: signalling to Sydney Water when it might be more appropriate to draw on alternative sources of water in preference to SCA supply (ie, when dam levels are low, and SCA's price is relatively high); providing incentives to Sydney Water to invest in additional water conservation and demand management measures, where efficient; and providing signals to potential new suppliers of bulk water. IPART envisages that this form of pricing would complement, rather than replace the water restriction regime. IPART also favours a scarcity pricing model that protects non-discretionary levels of water consumption from large price rises - if variations in SCA's prices are passed through to Sydney Water's retail customers. IPART's preliminary thoughts on this pricing option are outlined further in Appendix F.

In making its draft decisions on the level of SCA's volumetric charge to Sydney Water over the 2009 determination period, IPART has used forecasts of SCA's sales to Sydney Water. These forecasts, which are the same as those proposed by SCA², are based on the demand projections IPART used in making its 2008 determination of Sydney Water's prices, less forecast supplies from Sydney Water's desalination plant and its North Richmond supply facility. In estimating supply from Sydney Water's desalination plant, IPART (and SCA) assumed that the plant will operate at

² SCA submission, September 2008, p 7.

100 per cent capacity for its first two years of operation and then at 50 per cent following this initial proving period.³

1.1.5 IPART's use of output measures

For this draft determination, SCA's performance against a set of output measures set by IPART at its 2005 determination formed part of the assessment of the prudency of SCA's capital expenditure over 2005/06 to 2008/09 (see Chapter 6).

IPART has decided to develop output measures for the 2009 determination, as a starting point for the assessment of prudent expenditure at the next determination of SCA's prices. Accordingly, draft output measures are listed in section 3.9 and Appendix H. IPART seeks comment from SCA and other stakeholders on these output measures.

1.2 Structure of this report

This report explains IPART's decisions for the draft determination in detail, including analysis supporting each decision. The report is structured as follows:

- Chapter 2 outlines the scope and context for the review, including IPART's review process, SCA's operating and regulatory environment, and SCA's submission to IPART
- Chapter 3 outlines IPART's price setting approach and its draft decisions related to the regulatory framework
- Chapter 4 explains the 'building block' approach used to establish SCA's notional revenue requirement, and provides an overview of IPART's draft decisions on this revenue requirement and its individual components
- Chapters 5 and 6 discuss IPART's draft decisions on these individual components in more detail:
 - Chapter 5 explains the draft decisions on SCA's efficient operating expenditure
 - Chapter 6 explains the draft decisions on the allowances for a return on assets and regulatory depreciation.
- Chapter 7 sets out the draft decisions on SCA's forecast water sales
- Chapter 8 discusses the draft decisions on SCA's price structure and price levels
- Chapter 9 outlines the implications of IPART's draft pricing decisions, including the impacts on SCA, its customers and the environment.

³ Sydney Water's September 2007 submission (p 51) to its 2008 determination states that: "After the plant is commissioned, there will be a 24-month proving period, during which the plant will predominately run at 100 per cent of its capacity." SCA's sales forecast have assumed that beyond the plant's initial two years of operation, it will run at 50 per cent capacity. IPART has accepted this assumption.

2 Context for this review

As Chapter 1 noted, the purpose of IPART's review is to determine the maximum prices SCA can charge for the water services it provides to its customers. The following sections outline the context for the review, including IPART's review process, the matters it has considered, SCA's operations and regulatory environment and SCA's submission to the review.

2.1 IPART's review process

For the first stage of its review, IPART undertook an extensive investigation and public consultation process, including:

- releasing an Issues Paper in July 2008 to assist in identifying and understanding the key issues for review
- inviting SCA to make a submission to the review detailing its pricing proposal, and requiring it to provide extensive financial and performance data on the future capital and operating expenditure necessary to maintain service levels and respond to regulatory demands⁴
- ▼ inviting other interested parties to make submissions on the Issues Paper and SCA's submission⁵
- holding a public hearing on 19 November 2008 to discuss a wide range of issues raised by SCA and other stakeholders
- engaging an independent consultant, WorleyParsons Services Pty Ltd (WorleyParsons), to review SCA's capital expenditure, asset planning, asset lives and operating expenditure proposals
- releasing this draft report and draft determination, and inviting stakeholders to make submissions.

IPART's Issues Paper, stakeholder submissions, the transcript from the public hearing and WorleyParsons' reports are available on IPART's website (www.ipart.nsw.gov.au).

⁴ SCA's submission was received on 12 September, 2008. SCA also submitted a supplementary submission on 4 December 2008, in response to IPART seeking clarification and elaboration from SCA on several aspects of its proposal.

⁵ A total of 8 written submissions were received from other interested parties.

During the next stage of the review, IPART will consider all matters raised in submissions in response to the draft report and determination, and then make its final determination in June 2009. The new charges are expected to apply from 1 July 2009.

2.2 Matters considered

IPART is empowered to review and make determinations on the prices SCA charges for its water services under the *Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal Act* 1992 (IPART Act). Section 15 of this Act requires IPART to consider a broad range of matters when making determinations. These matters include:⁶

- consumer protection the protection of consumers from abuses of monopoly power; the quality, reliability and safety standards of the services concerned; and the social impact of pricing decisions and their effect on inflation
- economic efficiency the need for greater efficiency in the use and supply of services; the need to promote competition; and the need to consider demand management and least-cost planning
- financial viability the cost of providing the services concerned, the appropriate rate of return on public sector assets; and the impact of pricing decisions on the agency's borrowing, capital and dividend requirements
- environmental protection the need to promote ecologically sustainable development through appropriate pricing policies.

In considering these matters, IPART aimed to balance the diverse needs and interests of stakeholders, while also ensuring that SCA is adequately recompensed for the services it provides.

IPART also takes into account the principles issued by the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) and contained in the National Water Initiative.⁷

In addition, for this determination, the Minister for Water (Minister) directed IPART (under section 16A of the IPART Act)⁸ to take account of the efficient costs of SCA's contribution to the Accelerated Sewerage Program, and set prices to recover these costs. (The effect of the Minister's direction on prices is discussed in Chapter 9, and the Minister's direction is provided in Appendix G.)

IPART's general approach to determining monopoly prices for water agencies is set out in Figure 2.1 below.

⁶ The section 15 requirements are listed in full in Appendix A.

⁷ The National Water Initiative has built on the principles established in the 1994 COAG Water Reform Framework.

⁸ Section 16A of the IPART Act states that the "portfolio Minister for a government agency may direct the Tribunal to include in the maximum price an amount representing the efficient cost of complying with a specified requirement imposed on the agency".





2.3 SCA's operations

SCA was established under the *Sydney Water Catchment Management Act, 1998* (the Act). Its purpose is to manage and protect the water catchment areas and infrastructure under its control, and to supply bulk water of sufficient quality to Sydney Water and several smaller customers. Box 2.1 outlines its statutory objectives. The sections below discuss its customers, water supply system and regulatory and policy framework.

Box 2.1 SCA's statutory objectives

The Sydney Water Catchment Management Act, 1998 lists SCA's objectives as:a

- to ensure that the Catchment Areas and the Catchment Infrastructure Works are managed and protected so as to promote water quality, the protection of public health and safety, and the protection of the environment
- to ensure that water supplied by it complies with appropriate standards of quality
- ▼ where its activities affect the environment, to conduct is operation in compliance with the principles of ecologically sustainable development contained in section 6(2) of the *Protection of the Environment Administration Act, 1991*; and
- to manage the SCA's Catchment Infrastructure Works efficiently and economically and in accordance with sound commercial principles.
- **a** Sydney Water Catchment Management Act, 1998; Section 14(1).

2.3.1 SCA's customers

SCA's bulk water supply system is the source of drinking water for approximately 4.5 million people, or about 60 per cent of NSW's population.⁹ Sydney Water currently purchases about 99 per cent of SCA's bulk water supply. SCA's other 'bulk' or 'wholesale' customers include Wingecarribee Shire Council and Shoalhaven City Council. SCA also supplies about 65 smaller 'unfiltered' and 'raw' water retail customers, who have direct offtakes from pipelines, canals and storages.

In addition, there are plans to build a pipeline from SCA's Wingecarribee Reservoir to Goulburn, to supply Goulburn Mulwaree Local Council with up to 7.5 ML of water per day in times of drought.¹⁰ The total cost of the 88 kilometre pipeline is estimated to be \$50 million, with the NSW Government and the Federal Government's Water Fund each contributing \$20 million and the Goulburn Mulwaree Council liable for the remaining \$10 million.¹¹ Construction of the

² Context for this review

⁹ SCA submission, September 2008, p 8.

¹⁰ Goulburn Mulwaree Council submission, October 2008.

¹¹ http://www.environment.gov.au/water/programs/wsa/projects/nsw19.html, accessed 12 February 2009.

pipeline is scheduled to commence in 2009, and it is expected to be completed by June 2010.¹²

As well as supplying these water customers, SCA is required to release water to the environment in accordance with the conditions of its water management licence.

2.3.2 SCA's water supply system

SCA's bulk water supply system has a total operating storage capacity of 2.6 million ML, and comprises a number of water storages and several water transfer conduits. SCA draws bulk water from five primary catchments: Blue Mountains, Shoalhaven, Warragamba, Woronora, and Upper Nepean.¹³

As Figure 2.2 shows, these catchments extend from the headwaters of the Coxs River north of Lithgow to the Shoalhaven River south of Braidwood. They (and therefore SCA's area of operations) cover more than 16,000 square kilometres, and include 3,700 square kilometres of Special Areas. These areas of bushland surround SCA's storages, and act as a buffer zone by stopping potentially harmful substances from entering the storages and restricting or prohibiting public access.

The water storages and infrastructure currently under SCA's control are shown in Figure 2.3. SCA's water balance, which lists its inflows and outflows, is provided in Appendix B.

¹² Goulburn Mulwaree Council submission to IPART, October 2008.

¹³ SCA submission, September 2008, p 8 & Appendix A.



Figure 2.2 SCA's catchments and special areas

Source: www.sca.nsw.gov.au, accessed June 2008.



Figure 2.3 Water storages and infrastructure under SCA's control

Note: SCA infrastructure only includes infrastructure upstream of water filtration plants (WFP). Other infrastructure is controlled by organisations other than SCA.

Source: www.sca.nsw.gov.au, accessed June 2008.

2.3.3 SCA's regulatory and policy framework

Because of the important environmental, social, health and economic issues associated with catchment management and bulk water supply, SCA's operations are closely regulated by a number of agencies, and through a range of regulatory and planning instruments. The requirements and obligations imposed by these

2 Context for this review

instruments are an important driver of the organisation's costs, and therefore its prices.

The sections below outline the key regulatory instruments and requirements, including SCA's operating licence and water management licence, its Memoranda of Understanding in relation to environmental protection, water quality and public health, requirements related to dam safety and fisheries management, the state of the catchment audit, environmental planning instruments, bulk water supply agreements, and the Metropolitan Water Plan.

The operating licence

SCA's operating licence, which is issued under section 25 of the Act, sets out the terms and conditions under which SCA must meet its objectives and other requirements under the Act, and its performance standards, indicators and reporting requirements.¹⁴ The operating licence contains provisions relating to bulk water quality, catchment management and protection, an environment plan and environmental performance indicators, management of catchment infrastructure works and water conservation, asset management, customer service and licence audits.

IPART is responsible for monitoring and reporting on SCA's compliance with the operating licence (in addition to setting the maximum prices SCA can charge). The current operating licence is for 2006-2010, and is available via SCA's website (www.sca.nsw.gov.au).

The water management licence

SCA's water management licence authorises it to take and use water from water sources and water management works as specified in this licence. The water management licence also specifies the amount of water SCA must release as environmental flows.¹⁵

SCA began releasing environmental flows from Avon Dam in 2006, and is scheduled to begin releasing flows from the Cataract, Cordeaux and Nepean Dams from 2009. The NSW Government has also announced new flow rules from Tallowa Dam, which will commence once all water restrictions in Sydney are lifted. The 2007 Progress Report on the Metropolitan Water Plan notes that the NSW Government is currently

¹⁴ See section 1.1 of SCA's operating licence.

¹⁵ SCA's water management licence was granted in April 2001, pursuant to Part 9 of the *Water Act* 1912, by the Water Administration Ministerial Corporation (DWE undertakes water resource management activities on behalf of the Water Administration Ministerial Corporation). The licence is for a term of 20 years, but must be reviewed before the end of each five year period for the term of the licence. (See: http://www.sca.nsw.gov.au/about-sca/legislative-framework/water-management-licence, accessed 24 February 2009.)

preparing water sharing plans for the river and groundwater systems of the greater Sydney region, which will specify environmental flow requirements.¹⁶

The NSW Department of Water and Energy (DWE), which has primary responsibility for the management of water resources throughout NSW, is responsible for administering SCA's water management licence and water sharing plans.

Memoranda of Understanding

SCA has established Memoranda of Understanding (MoU) with NSW Health, the NSW Department of Environment and Climate Change (DECC), and the Water Administration Ministerial Corporation (part of DWE), as required by section 36 of the Act. SCA's operating licence sets out requirements in relation to each of these MoU, which relate to environmental protection, water quality standards and public health.¹⁷

Requirements in relation to dam safety and fisheries management

The dams SCA manages are deemed to be 'prescribed dams', and therefore must meet the requirements set by the NSW Dams Safety Committee. Under the *Dams Safety Act 1978* and the *Mining Act 1992*, this committee's main objective is to ensure that all 'prescribed dams' in NSW are in such a condition as to not pose an unacceptable danger to downstream residents and property, or to adversely affect the public welfare and environment. This is achieved by requiring all dam owners to arrange for regular monitoring and surveillance of their dams, ongoing assessment of their behaviour on the basis of monitoring and surveillance information, regular review of the compliance of their dams with current standards and review of all such information and assessments by experienced personnel.¹⁸

In addition, SCA is required to meet requirements set by the NSW Department of Fisheries (under the *Fisheries Management Act 1994*) to install infrastructure enabling fish to migrate along river systems within the catchment area.

The state of the Catchment audit

The Act requires that SCA's performance is monitored via an audit of the state of Sydney's drinking water catchment. This audit is to be undertaken every two years, and a report on its finding is to be submitted to the Minister responsible for SCA.

DECC undertook the most recent audit, which covered the period from 1 July 2005 to 30 June 2007. The audit report is available on DECC's website

¹⁶ NSW Government, *Metropolitan Water Plan – 2007 Progress Report*, pp 20-21.

¹⁷ See:www.sca.nsw.gov.au/about-sca/legislative-framework/memoranda-of-understanding, accessed 24 February 2009.

¹⁸ Dams Safety Committee, DSC1 – General Information, April 2005, www.damsafety.nsw.gov.au/FTP/PUBLICATIONS/PDF/DSC01.pdf, accessed 27 February 2009.

(www.environment.nsw.gov.au), and its recommendations are summarised in Appendix C.

Environmental planning instruments

The Sydney Drinking Water Catchments Regional Environmental Plan No 1 (REP) is intended to assist SCA in fulfilling its catchment protection function, and also imposes requirements and responsibilities on SCA. It replaces State Environmental Planning Policy No 58 (SEPP 58)¹⁹ and:

- sets water quality objectives for the Catchment
- requires SCA to develop Rectification Actions Plans (RAPs)
- requires councils to prepare and review local environmental plans (LEPs), which include consideration of strategic land and water capability assessments
- requires councils to assess and approve new developments and activities in the catchments, and that proposals have a neutral or beneficial effect on water quality.²⁰

Bulk water supply agreements

Section 22 of the Act requires SCA to enter into agreements with Sydney Water regarding the supply of bulk water. The agreements are to deal with water quality, continuity of water supply, the maintenance of adequate reserves of water by SCA and the cost paid by Sydney Water. In addition, SCA's operating licence requires it to enter into agreement with other customers to define the terms and conditions of bulk water supply by SCA.

SCA's Bulk Water Supply Agreement (BWSA) with Sydney Water commenced in September 1999 for a term expiring on 30 June 2004. This term was subsequently extended to the end of 2005. A new BWSA commenced in April 2006 for an unspecified period.²¹

SCA has also finalised a BWSA with Shoalhaven City Council and is working towards finalising a BWSA with Wingecarribee Shire Council.²² IPART expects that SCA will also develop a BWSA with Goulburn Mulwaree Council, in light of the planned Wingecarribee to Goulburn pipeline.

¹⁹ SEPP 58 required councils to only grant approval to developments that demonstrated a neutral or beneficial effect on drinking water quality, and to seek agreement from SCA for certain developments.

²⁰ Sydney Catchment Authority and NSW Department of Planning, Sustaining the Catchments – The Regional Plan for the drinking water catchments of Sydney and adjacent regional centres, Summary Brochure, 1 January 2007.

²¹ Halcrow Pacific Pty Ltd, 2007 Operational Audit of Sydney Catchment Authority, Audit Report, Report to IPART, December 2007, p 3-5.

²² www.sca.nsw.gov.au/water-quality/bulk-water-supply-agreements, accessed 12 February 2009.

The Metropolitan Water Plans

Although not a regulatory instrument per se, the Metropolitan Water Plan is a major driver of SCA's investment and operational requirements. The Metropolitan Water Plan was first developed in 2004, with an updated version released in 2006 and a progress report published in 2007. This plan is the NSW Government's strategy for ensuring that Sydney's water supply matches demand over the next 25 years. It identifies several projects to be carried out by SCA to augment Sydney's water supplies. These include:

- ▼ accessing previously inaccessible deep water in Warragamba, Avon and Nepean Dams
- increasing transfers of water from the Shoalhaven to Sydney, involving increasing the capacity of Tallowa Dam (by raising the dam wall) and construction of new transfer conduits
- modifications to Tallowa Dam to allow fish passage and to improve the quality of water releases for the downstream environment, and new environmental flow operating rules from Tallowa Dam to the Shoalhaven River
- investigating potential groundwater resources in the catchments, including sites at Kangaloon, Leonay and Wallacia
- modifications to dam outlets at SCA's Upper Nepean dams to enable the release of flows in accordance with a new environmental flow regime.²³

The 2007 Progress Report on the Metropolitan Water Plan noted that:

- SCA has competed new works at Warragamba, Avon and Nepean Dams to enable it to access water at the bottom of these dams
- ▼ SCA "has made significant progress" in investigating the potential for using groundwater from Kangaloon, Leonay and Wallacia
- Avon Dam has been modified to allow environmental flow releases, and work is underway to configure nearby dams and weirs to allow such releases to be made, and to pass down the river for environmental benefit
- Tallowa Dam will soon be modified to allow fish to travel up and over the dam wall and to improve the quality of environmental water released from the dam.²⁴

However, since the 2004 Metropolitan Water Plan, the Government has decided not to proceed with raising the dam wall at Tallowa. Instead, it is looking at alternative operational arrangements for the Shoalhaven Transfer Scheme and investigating pipeline and tunnel options should it proceed with transfers of more water from Tallowa Dam to Sydney and the Illawarra.²⁵

²³ NSW Government, 2006 Metropolitan Water Plan.

²⁴ NSW Government, *Metropolitan Water Plan – 2007 Progress Report*, p 20.

²⁵ NSW Government, 2006 Metropolitan Water Plan, pp 83-85; and NSW Government, "Water for Life, frequently asked questions",

 $www.waterforlife.nsw.gov.au/about/frequently_asked_questions, accessed 12 \ February \ 2009.$

2 Context for this review

2.4 Overview of SCA's submission

SCA provided its initial submission and its Information Returns to IPART in September 2008, and a supplementary submission that provided clarification and further information on a few elements of its initial submission in December 2008. Since then, SCA has also advised IPART's consultants (WorleyParsons) of relatively minor adjustments to its actual capital expenditure in 2006/07 and 2007/08 and its estimated operating expenditure in 2008/09.²⁶

In relation to operating expenditure, SCA spent approximately 9 per cent more over 2005/06 to 2008/09 than IPART allowed for in the 2005 determination. This was due to unforeseen costs associated with pumping water from the Shoalhaven to Sydney, to augment Sydney's water supply during the drought. When these pumping costs are excluded, SCA's operating costs over the 2005 determination period were about 1.5 per cent less than allowed for in the 2005 determination.²⁷

SCA is forecasting an 11.8 per cent increase in operating expenditure from 2008/09 to 2009/10. This is due to the NSW Government's requirement for it to contribute \$17.7 million (\$2009/10) to the Accelerated Sewerage Program. When these costs are excluded (and the costs of pumping water from the Shoalhaven are excluded from its past operating costs),²⁸ SCA's forecast operating expenditure over the 2009 determination period is about 3.6 per cent less than 2008/09 levels.

In relation capital investment, SCA spent significantly less over the 2005 determination period (about 34 per cent) than IPART allowed for in the 2005 determination. This is primarily due to the NSW Government's decision not to proceed with raising the Tallowa Dam wall, which meant that the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme did not proceed. Excluding the forecast costs of Shoalhaven Transfer Scheme, SCA's capital expenditure over the 2005 determination period was about 28 per cent more than allowed for in the 2005 determination.

For the 2009 determination period, SCA's forecast capital expenditure program is modest compared to its program for 2005/06 to 2008/09. Its submission indicates it proposes to spend an average of \$42.8 million per year over the 2009 determination period, compared to an average of \$101.3 million per year over the 2005 period.

²⁶ SCA has advised WorleyParsons that its expected operating expenditure for 2008/09 has been revised from \$86 million to \$87 million (including \$4 million in Shoalhaven pumping costs). SCA's financial audit (which was finalised after its submission) identified \$6.3 million in capital expenditure that was not included in its 2008 Information Returns (and submission) to IPART. This is comprised of \$6.6 million that was incorrectly excluded from SCA's capital costs for 2007/08, less \$0.3 million that was incorrectly included in SCA's capital costs for 2006/07. (WorleyParsons, *Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority* (2009 *Determination*), January 2009, p 5 and p 71.)

²⁷ See: WorleyParsons, *Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority* (2009 Determination), January 2009, pp 22-23.

²⁸ Estimated at \$4 million in 2008/09.

Other key elements of SCA's pricing proposal include:

- a three year price path, to enable alignment with Sydney Water at the next price review
- a 7.5 per cent return on assets, to be achieved in each year of the price path
- a mechanism to enable SCA to pass through Shoalhaven pumping costs to Sydney Water throughout the determination period
- ▼ a mechanism to make price adjustments in the subsequent determination (2012), where the variation between SCA's actual and forecast water demand is more than +/- 5 per cent over the 2009 determination period
- ▼ a change in the balance between revenue generated through fixed charges and volumetric charges to Sydney Water, so that more revenue is generated through the fixed charge (around 80 per cent in 2008/09 compared to 35 per cent in 2008/09) and less revenue is generated through the volumetric charge (around 20 per cent in 2009/10 compared to around 65 per cent in 2008/09)
- ▼ the maintenance of prices to Local Councils at their 2008/09 levels, in real terms
- increases to unfiltered water prices so they are aligned with Sydney Water's unfiltered water charges, and increases to raw water prices so they are aligned with unfiltered water prices by the end of the determination period (this would affect approximately 60 retail customers).

SCA's submission expressed concern that IPART may have underestimated SCA sales volumes in the 2008 Sydney Water determination, and that a "shortfall of eight gigalitres per annum in SCA's sales is equivalent to a loss of revenue of approximately \$1.8 million per annum to SCA."²⁹ IPART notes, however, that its determination of SCA's volumetric price to Sydney Water is based on the sales forecasts outlined in Chapter 7 of this report. It also notes that the cost pass through mechanism established at the 2008 Sydney Water determination adjusts Sydney Water's retail prices to account for any difference between SCA's prices set at this determination and the forecast sales volumes used to set these prices, and SCA prices and forecast sales volumes used to set Sydney Water's prices at its 2008 determination.³⁰

SCA also expressed concern that the meter numbers used in the denominator of the pass through formula from IPART's 2008 Sydney Water determination may not be the number of 20mm equivalent connections, but rather the residential portion of 20mm connections only.³¹ However, IPART confirms that the forecast 20mm equivalent connection numbers in the cost pass through mechanism in IPART's 2008

²⁹ SCA submission, September 2008, p 44.

³⁰ As noted in Chapter 1, IPART's 2008 Sydney Water determination included a pass through mechanism that allows Sydney Water to adjust its water service charges to reflect changes in its bulk water cost as a result of the 2009 determination of SCA's prices. (See: IPART, *Review of prices for Sydney Water Corporation's water, sewerage, stormwater and other services, From 1 July* 2008, Determination, June 2008, pp 64-68.)

³¹ SCA submission, September 2008, p 44.

Sydney Water determination include both residential and non-residential connections.

Table 2.1 shows SCA's proposed annual notional revenue requirement, which equates with its proposed annual target revenue from charges in each year of the determination period. Tables 2.2 and 2.3 list SCA's proposed prices and the implications of these proposed prices for Sydney Water's customers. Table 2.3 shows that SCA's proposed charges to Sydney Water would result in increases in typical residential water service charges of about \$18 per annum, relative to the schedule of charges set at the 2008 determination of Sydney Water's prices. According to SCA, in 2009/10 this is comprised of \$7 per customer for the increase in return on assets and \$11 per customer for SCA's contribution to the Accelerated Sewerage Program (ASP).

Table 2.1 S	CA's pro	posed revenue	requirement	(\$ million	, real 2008/2009)
-------------	----------	---------------	-------------	-------------	-------------------

	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Operating expenditure	87.0 a	97.3 b	80.0	80.0
Depreciation ^c	19.6	21.1	21.8	21.9
Return on assets ^c	78.1	95.1	97.5	98.6
Revenue requirement	184.7	213.5	199.3	200.5

Source: SCA submission, p 36.

^a Adjusted up from SCA's submission – see pages 22 to 23 of WorleyParsons' *Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination).*

b Includes SCA's \$17.7 million (\$2009/10) contribution to the Accelerated Sewerage Program (ASP).

C WorleyParsons notes that SCA's financial audit identified \$6.258 million that has not been included in its 2008 Information Returns to IPART. This would affect SCA's opening RAB value for the 2009 determination period and hence its allowance for depreciation and return on assets. The figures in Table 2.1 are from SCA's September submission.

	Current price (2008/09)	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Volumetric price to Sydney Water (\$/ML)	222.17	75.59	78.69	78.76
Fixed charge to Sydney Water (\$M)	67.21	172.43	161.52	161.67
Volumetric price to Local Councils (\$/ML)	210.05	210.05	210.05	210.05
Volumetric price for unfiltered water (\$/kL) ^a	0.84	1.50	1.60	1.63
Volumetric price for raw water (\$/kL) ^a	0.49	0.87	1.25	1.63
Fixed charge to unfiltered water customers – for 20 mm meters (\$) a	75.00	90.96	105.86	116.39
Fixed charge to unfiltered water customers – for meter size > 20 mm (\$)	(Meter size) ² x 20mm charge/400			

Table 2.2 SCA's proposed prices (\$, real 2008/09)

Source: SCA submission, pp 41-43, and SCA 2008 Information Returns.

^a SCA does not specifically list unfiltered and raw water prices in its submission. The prices listed in this table are based on its proposal on p 43 of its submission that "unfiltered water prices be fully aligned with Sydney Water unfiltered water prices" and that "over the next price path, raw water customers' usage charge be glide pathed up, to align with that of unfiltered water customers."

Typical water & sewerage bill: Household (20mm meter), consuming 200 kL pa	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Bill - 2008 Sydney Water determination	\$933	\$974	\$997
Increase to bill from 2009 SCA determination	\$18	\$17	\$19
Increase to bill from 2009 SCA determination	1.9%	1.8%	1.9%

Table 2.3 Impact of SCA's proposed prices on Sydney Water customers (\$, real 2008/09)

Source: SCA submission, September 2008, p 45.

3 | IPART's approach to setting prices

The approach to price setting can be defined as the rules and methodologies a regulator uses to determine, monitor and change prices for regulated services over a determination period. For this review, IPART used the same broad approach it has used in past determinations on SCA's prices to calculate SCA's notional revenue requirement, and convert this revenue requirement into prices. It also reviewed and made draft decisions on several aspects of its price setting approach, including:

- the length of the determination period
- the aggregate pricing approach
- whether to adjust SCA's notional revenue requirement to account for SCA's lower than forecast water sales and lower than expected capital expenditure over the 2005 determination
- whether to introduce a regulatory mechanism to address the risk that there is significant variation between SCA's forecast water sales and actual water sales over the 2009 determination period
- whether to introduce a regulatory mechanism to allow SCA to pass through unforeseen costs associated with pumping water from the Shoalhaven to Sydney over the 2009 determination period
- whether to require SCA to report on its progress against output measures, and if so, what these measures should be.

The section below summarises IPART's approach and draft decisions in relation to price setting. The following sections discuss the price setting approach and draft decisions in more detail.

3.1 Overview of price setting approach and draft decisions

As for previous determinations, IPART used the building block approach to calculate SCA's notional revenue requirement. To convert this amount into prices, it maintained the current price structure, which includes volumetric (per ML or kL) charges and fixed (per annum) charges. It also maintained the relative proportions of revenue to be generated through each type of charge, and increased all of SCA's charges (to all of its customers) by the same percentage over the determination period. It set the level of charges after considering a range of matters. In particular,

it aimed to balance several objectives including ensuring SCA's financial viability, encouraging economic efficiency and protecting water consumers from price shocks.

IPART has made a draft decision to adopt a three-year determination period, from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2012. This will enable future price determinations for SCA to occur at the same time as those for Sydney Water and increase certainty and clarity for all stakeholders.

IPART also decided to set final price levels using a 'p-nought' adjustment and then a 'glide path' approach. For SCA, this means its annual 'target revenue' (ie, the revenue expected to be generated through charges) will not equal the annual notional revenue requirement until the final year of that period. For customers, it means that prices will increase by a significant but reasonable amount in 2009/10, then increase smoothly and more gradually in the remaining years of the determination period.

In addition, IPART decided not to adjust SCA's notional revenue requirement to account for lower than forecast water sales and lower than expected capital expenditure in the 2005 period. It considers an adjustment is unnecessary, as the effects of these variations have approximately offset each other. It also decided not to include a regulatory mechanism to address the risk of variations between forecast water sales and actual water sales in the 2009 determination, or to allow SCA to pass through costs associated with pumping water from the Shoalhaven. Finally, it made a draft decision to require SCA to report on progress against six output measures.

3.2 Approach for determining the notional revenue requirement

As for previous determinations, IPART used the building block approach to calculate SCA's notional revenue requirement in each year of the determination period. To apply this approach, it made draft decisions on the revenue SCA will require for efficient operating expenditure and capital investment over the determination period.

IPART considers the building block approach has advantages over alternative approaches. In particular, it ensures that the full, efficient costs of providing the regulated services are measured and monitored in a rigorous and transparent way. It also enables IPART to create incentives for the regulated business to improve its economic efficiency over the determination period. In addition, it is consistent with the approach IPART uses in regulating other water businesses and industries in NSW.

Chapter 4 provides fuller explanation of the building block approach and summarises IPART's draft decisions on each building block.

3 IPART's approach to setting prices

3.3 Broad approach for converting the notional revenue requirement into prices

To convert the notional revenue requirement into prices, IPART considered a range of matters, including:

- SCA's forecast water sales over the determination period
- the structure of SCA's prices, and the ratio of the revenue to be generated from each type of charge
- ▼ the level of prices.

3.3.1 Forecast water sales

SCA's forecast water sales over the determination period are an important input for setting the level of charges that vary with the customer's usage (ie, SCA's volumetric charges). The less accurate these forecasts are, the greater the risk that the prices IPART sets will result in SCA either over- or under-recovering its required revenue over the determination period. IPART's considerations and draft decision on forecast water sales are discussed in Chapter 7.

3.3.2 Price structure and ratio of revenue to be generated from each type of charge

The structure of prices and the ratio of revenue to be generated from each type of charge are important, as they have implications for the price signals sent to customers and the revenue risk for SCA.

After considering the views of SCA and other stakeholders, IPART maintained the current price structure, which includes a variable volumetric (or usage) charge and a fixed service charge to Sydney Water. It also maintained the current volumetric/fixed ratio of charges to Sydney Water, whereby SCA generates around two-thirds of its required revenue through the volumetric charge and about one-third through the fixed charge. In addition, IPART decided to increase all charges, to all customers, by the same percentage over the determination period.

IPART's considerations and draft decisions on these issues are discussed in detail in Chapter 8.

3.3.3 Price levels

IPART does not simply set prices to generate the annual notional revenue requirement. Rather, in line with the requirements of the IPART Act, it considers a range of matters, including:

 the magnitude of the price increases required to generate the annual notional revenue requirements, and impacts of these increases on water customers with varying levels of water consumption the implications of these and smaller price increases for SCA and its shareholders

 including the implications for SCA's short and long-term financial viability, likely rate of return over the determination period, ability to pay dividends, and credit rating.

It then sets price levels to achieve a balance between potentially competing objectives, such as ensuring that price increases do not have unacceptable impacts on customers and society in general, and allow SCA to generate sufficient revenue to operate, maintain and renew its assets, and carry out its functions in a way that meets its service standards and other obligations. Achieving this balance can mean that it sets price levels so that SCA's target revenue (ie, the revenue it is expected to generate through charges) is less that its notional revenue requirement in some or all years of the determination period.

For the draft determination, IPART decided to set prices so that the target revenue is less than the notional revenue requirement in the first two years of the determination period, and equals this revenue requirement in the final year of this period. IPART's draft decision on the pattern of price increases over the determination period (the aggregate pricing approach) is discussed in section 3.5 below.

3.4 Length of the determination period

Draft decision

1 IPART's draft decision is to adopt a three-year determination period (from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2012).

3.4.1 SCA's proposal

SCA proposed a three-year determination period, as it considers there would be risks associated with setting prices for longer than three years.³² These risks arise from uncertainty about several issues with major implications for SCA's expenditure requirements, which should be resolved in the coming years. For example, the NSW Government is expected to release its next Metropolitan Water Plan in 2010. SCA expects this plan will include decisions on the Shoalhaven Transfer Scheme, the Upper Canal project, the timing of environmental flow releases from Warragamba Dam, the water restriction regime and the desalination plant's operating rules.

SCA also notes that a three-year determination period would ensure that IPART's next price determination for SCA will coincide with its determination for Sydney Water (in 2012).

³² SCA submission, September 2008, p 25.

3 IPART's approach to setting prices

3.4.2 Stakeholder views

In their submissions to this price review, both Jemena Limited and Total Environment Centre (TEC) supported a three-year determination period to align IPART's price reviews for SCA and Sydney Water.

Jemena Limited considered that a three-year determination period recognises the interdependence of SCA and Sydney Water, and reduces SCA's exposure to uncertainty about the operating strategy for Sydney Water's desalination plant beyond its initial two years of operation.³³

TEC submitted that there is value in aligning the price paths of SCA and Sydney Water, as SCA's prices have a major bearing on Sydney Water's prices and are crucial in providing a conservation signal to encourage Sydney Water to invest in demand management.³⁴

3.4.3 IPART's considerations

On balance, IPART considers that a three year determination period (1 July 2009 to 30 June 2012) is appropriate. This will enable future price determinations of SCA and Sydney Water to be aligned, which will enhance certainty and clarity for all stakeholders.

3.5 Aggregate pricing approach

Draft decision

2 IPART's draft decision is to set prices so that SCA's target revenue reaches its notional revenue requirement in the final year of the determination period, using a p-nought adjustment and then glide path approach.

In the 2005 determination, IPART used a 'p-nought adjustment' and then 'glide path' aggregate pricing approach. Under this approach, price increases in the first year of the determination period were higher than subsequent years (ie, a 'p-nought adjustment'). Then, in the remaining years of the period, prices increased smoothly by amounts sufficient for SCA's target revenue to equal to its notional revenue requirement in the final year only.

3.5.1 SCA's proposal

Under SCA's pricing proposal, prices would be set at levels expected to generate the notional revenue requirement in each year of the determination period.

³³ Jemena Limited submission, October 2008, p 2.

³⁴ Total Environment Centre submission, October 2008, p 3.

3.5.2 IPART's considerations

For the draft report, IPART decided to use the same approach as the 2005 determination. Prices have been set to achieve the notional revenue requirement in the final year of the determination, with a higher increase in the first year of the determination period than in subsequent years. Table 3.1 shows that under the draft decision, SCA's prices to Sydney Water and Local Councils will increase by approximately 6.9 per cent in 2009/10 and then by about 3.4 per cent in 2010/11 and 2011/12.

	Current (2008/09)	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Notional revenue requirement	182.3	208.0	193.7	194.8
Target revenue	182.3	193.4	185.2	194.8
Year on year increase in charges (%) ^a		6.9	3.4	3.4
Expected rate of return (real pre-tax) (%)	6.3	5.8	6.3	7.0

Table 3.1 Draft decision on aggregate pricing approach (\$ million, real 2008/2009)

a Volumetric charges to unfiltered and raw water customers (which account for less than 0.05 per cent of SCA's total sales) do not increase by the exact same proportions as SCA's other prices, due to rounding (to the nearest cent per kL).

In reaching this decision, IPART has considered the potential financial implications for SCA and the impacts on water customers (as required under section 15 of the IPART Act). It has also taken into account the revenue required by SCA to fund its operating and capital expenditure needs, which are higher in the first year of the determination period.

3.6 Adjustment to account for lower than forecast water sales and lower than expected capital expenditure over the 2005 determination

Draft decision

3 IPART's daft decision is to not adjust the notional revenue requirement for the 2009 determination period to account for SCA's lower than forecast water sales and unspent monies associated with the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme over the 2005 determination period.

As section 3.3.1 discussed, IPART uses forecasts of water sales over a determination period in setting SCA's volumetric charges. If SCA's actual water sales over that period are greater than forecast, it will over-recover revenue relative to its revenue requirement. But if actual sales are less than forecast, it will under-recover revenue.

In its 2005 determinations on prices for Sydney Water and SCA, IPART introduced the option of adjusting the notional revenue requirements in the subsequent 3 IPART's approach to setting prices

determination period where variations between forecast and actual sales were outside a deadband of +/-10 per cent.

In addition, in making its 2005 determination on SCA's prices, IPART noted that there was significant uncertainty about the timing and level of SCA's forecast capital expenditure on the Shoalhaven Transfer Scheme.³⁵ Therefore, it indicated that it would adjust SCA's revenue requirement in the 2009 determination to account for any unspent monies allowed for in the 2005 determination for the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme.

3.6.1 SCA's proposal

In its submission, SCA reported that, to date, its water sales for the 2005 determination period are 12 per cent less than the forecasts IPART used to set prices in 2005. SCA estimates that this will result in a total shortfall in revenue of \$57 million (some \$14 million of which relates to variations greater than the – 10 per cent deadband).³⁶

SCA also reported that the NSW Government's decision not to proceed with the raising of Tallowa Dam led to changes in the form and timing of the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme outlined in SCA's 2005 determination expenditure program. As a result, its capital expenditure was less than forecast. It estimates that it has generated around \$30 million in return on assets and depreciation associated with this unrealised capital investment.³⁷

SCA submitted that the revenue effects of not proceeding with the raising of Tallowa Dam have been offset by the revenue effects of its lower than forecast water sales, and therefore it would be inequitable for IPART to adjust its revenue requirements of the 2009 determination period to account for lower than forecast capital expenditure associated with the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme.³⁸

3.6.2 IPART's considerations

IPART accepts SCA's view that the \$30 million in revenue generated as a return on assets and depreciation for capital expenditure on the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme that it did not actually incur has been more than offset by a shortfall of \$57 million in water sales revenue. Therefore, it decided not to increase SCA's revenue requirement for the 2009 determination period to account for sales below forecasts over 2005 determination period, or to reduce the revenue requirement for 'unspent' monies associated with the Shoalhaven Transfer Scheme (raising Tallowa Dam).

³⁵ The Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme involved increasing the capacity of Tallowa Dam (through the installation of radial gates) and construction of new transfer conduits, to increase the yield from the Shoalhaven to Sydney (NSW Government, 2006 Metropolitan Water Plan, p 84).

³⁶ SCA submission, September 2008, p 24.

³⁷ Ibid, p 25.

³⁸ Ibid.

IPART notes that the revenue associated with a return on assets and depreciation for the unrealised capital expenditure on the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme will be generated in the 2005 determination period only. This is because only capital expenditure that is actually incurred and deemed prudent will be included in calculating the value of SCA's Regulatory Asset Base (RAB) over the 2009 determination period. This value is used to determine SCA's allowance for return on assets and depreciation over this determination period. (This is discussed in detail in Chapter 6.)

IPART also notes that decisions on the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme were beyond SCA's control. The NSW Government made the decision not to proceed with the raising of Tallowa Dam and the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme, after IPART's 2005 determination of SCA's prices.³⁹

3.7 Mechanism to address risk of significant variation between forecast water sales and actual water sales over the 2009 determination period

Draft decision

4 IPART's draft decision is not to include a mechanism to adjust the notional revenue requirement in the next determination period to account for differences between the forecast water consumption used to set prices in the 2009 determination period and the actual water consumption in this period.

3.7.1 SCA's proposal

SCA submitted that there is considerable potential for continuing revenue volatility associated with consumption forecasting and medium-term price setting, due to uncertainty over future dam levels (and hence water restrictions) and the operating regime of the desalination plant. It proposed that IPART include in the 2009 determination a mechanism to make price adjustments in the subsequent determination, where the variation between actual and forecast water demand is more than +/-5 per cent.⁴⁰

3.7.2 IPART's considerations

Uncertainty about water availability due to drought has lessened because of rising dam levels (which are currently around 60 per cent⁴¹) and an improved seasonal outlook. IPART acknowledges that there is some future uncertainty about water demand from Sydney Water, until the operating rules for the desalination plant have

³⁹ See: NSW Government, 2006 Metropolitan Water Plan, p 85, available at: www.waterforlife.nsw.gov.au/about/plan.

⁴⁰ SCA submission, September 2008, p 24.

⁴¹ www.sca.nsw.gov.au, as at 13 February 2009.

3 IPART's approach to setting prices

been released by Government. However, IPART notes that supply from the plant is relatively certain for its two-year commissioning period (January 2010 to 31 December 2011)⁴², which comprises much of the upcoming determination period.⁴³ For these reasons, IPART considers that a consumption adjustment mechanism is not necessary.

3.8 Mechanism to allow SCA to pass through unforeseen costs associated with pumping water from the Shoalhaven

Draft decision

5 IPART's draft decision is not to introduce a mechanism to allow SCA to pass through to Sydney Water unforeseen costs associated with water transfers from the Shoalhaven.

3.8.1 SCA's proposal

To augment Sydney's water supply in times of drought, SCA has pumped water from the Shoalhaven. SCA estimates that unforeseen costs of pumping water from the Shoalhaven over the 2005 determination period amounted to \$31 million to the end of 2007/08.44

Due to uncertainty associated with the volume and cost of water that may have to be pumped from the Shoalhaven over the 2009 determination period, SCA proposed that a mechanism be included in the determination to allow it to pass through to Sydney Water the cost of Shoalhaven pumping. It submitted that:

The SCA believes that in order to provide greater regulatory certainty and ensure that risks are appropriately managed, a well-defined and systematic process should be put in place for responding to unforeseen events, that enables prices to be adjusted within the period.

It is noted that IPART has put in place a sophisticated methodology to pass through the SCA's prices to Sydney Water over the next price path. Similarly the SCA proposes that the cost of pumping water from the Shoalhaven should also be immediately passed on to Sydney Water. As pumping occurs in times of water shortage, if the cost is in turn passed through to Sydney Water's customers in their next available bill, it would have the effect of sending a water conservation signal to consumers.⁴⁵

⁴² Sydney Water's September 2007 submission (p 51) to its 2008 Determination states that: "After the plant is commissioned, there will be a 24-month proving period, during which the plant will predominately run at 100 per cent of its capacity."

⁴³ Further, SCA's sales forecasts, which IPART has accepted and used to set prices (see Chapter 7), assume that the desalination plant will run at full capacity for its first two years of operation. Therefore, there is only downside sales risk to SCA (where the plant could displace more SCA water than forecast) beyond this initial two year proving period – which is the last six months of the 2009 determination period (where SCA has assumed that the plant will run at 50 per cent of capacity).

⁴⁴ SCA submission, September 2008, p 23.

⁴⁵ Ibid.

IPART notes that on 7 November 2008, the Minister for Water announced a threeyear moratorium on pumping from the Shoalhaven.⁴⁶ This is based on current water storage levels, the impacts of recycling projects underway by Sydney Water, and the commissioning of the desalination plant in 2009/10.

Nevertheless, SCA's supplementary submission restated its view that it is still prudent to establish a pass-through mechanism for Shoalhaven pumping costs.⁴⁷ It noted that the Government has indicated that pumping could recommence if drought conditions return. It also noted that it is currently required to provide environmental flows for platypus breeding of 100ML per day for approximately six months of the year, equivalent to \$7,000 per day in pumping costs.⁴⁸

3.8.2 Stakeholder views

The Total Environment Centre (TEC) supported SCA's proposal for a pass-through mechanism for Shoalhaven pumping costs. However, it argued that Sydney Water should not be able to pass through these costs to its customers, in order to provide a strong resource conservation signal to Sydney Water.⁴⁹

Sydney Water submitted that it would be concerned if Shoalhaven pumping costs were to be passed through to its customers *immediately* after they were incurred (ie, at the next bill). It opposed this approach as it could involve up to four price changes to its customers in a year, and result in high administrative costs to reconfigure billing systems and inform customers. However, Sydney Water indicated that if IPART assesses that SCA is not able to absorb Shoalhaven pumping costs in between determinations, the pass-through mechanism in Sydney Water's determination could be used to pass through these costs on an *annual* basis.⁵⁰

IPART notes that, in response to Sydney Water's concern, SCA indicated at the Public Hearing that it envisages that the pass through of Shoalhaven pumping costs could occur on an annual basis.⁵¹

⁴⁶ "Sydney cuts reliance on Shoalhaven for drinking water", http://www.sca.nsw.gov.au/news/ministerial-media-releases/sydney-cuts-reliance-onshoalhaven-for-drinking-water---minister-phillip-costa-mp, accessed 13 February 2009.

⁴⁷ SCA supplementary submission, December 2008, p 5.

⁴⁸ SCA have advised, however, that this requirement to pump for platypus breeding is due to be reviewed in early 2009. The outcome of this review may be that SCA's requirement is maintained. Alternatively, SCA could be relieved of this requirement altogether (pers comm., SCA to IPART, 9 December 2008).

⁴⁹ Total Environment Centre submission, October 2008, p 2.

⁵⁰ Sydney Water submission, October 2008, pp 1-2.

⁵¹ Transcript of Public Hearing for IPART's Review of Water Prices for the Sydney Catchment Authority, 19 November 2008, p 17.

3 IPART's approach to setting prices

3.8.3 WorleyParsons' review

After reviewing SCA's expenditure, WorleyParsons found that no Shoalhaven pumping costs should be allowed for in calculating SCA's efficient operating expenditure for the 2009 determination period.⁵² It considered that pumping from the Shoalhaven is unlikely over the determination period, as the NSW Government has recently declared a moratorium on transfers from the Shoalhaven system for the next three years. This reflects current water storage levels in SCA's system, forecast climatic conditions and expected water production from Sydney Water's desalination plant.

3.8.4 IPART's considerations

After considering the views of SCA and other stakeholders and WorleyParsons' finding, IPART decided not to include a pass-through for Shoalhaven pumping costs. The Government's recent announcement of a three-year moratorium on pumping from the Shoalhaven suggests that SCA will incur little or no such pumping costs over the 2009 determination period. IPART considers that a cost pass-though mechanism will add unnecessary complexity to the regulatory regime, given it appears the probability that it will be needed or justified over the next three years is low.

IPART and its consultant sought forecast Shoalhaven pumping costs from SCA prior to the moratorium being announced. Detailed information was not provided.

For future price determinations, IPART considers that SCA should explain and justify any forecast Shoalhaven pumping costs – rather than assume they can be treated as a cost pass through. While IPART recognises that there is some inherent uncertainty associated with such forecasts, developing and refining them over time is likely to be an important element of SCA's business planning and its pricing proposals.

3.9 Requirement to report on progress against output measures

Draft decision

6 IPART's draft decision is to require SCA to monitor and report annually on progress against the output measures described in Box 3.2 below throughout the 2009 determination period.

In the 2005 determination, independent consultants engaged by IPART to assess each metropolitan water agency's operating and capital expenditure (WS Atkins International Ltd/Cardno MBK) recommended that IPART specify outputs for each agency against which to measure the prudency of capital and operating expenditure in price determinations. Accordingly, in the 2005 determination, IPART specified a

⁵² WorleyParsons, Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination), January 2009, p 82.

set of output measures based on each agency's proposed expenditure program. SCA's output measures are set out in Box 3.1.

Box 3.1 2005 determination output measures for SCA

- 1. Substantial completion of the Deep Storage scheme and provision of an additional 30GL per annum resource yield by July 2006.
- 2. Substantial completion of the Prospect Pumping Station and associated Dam remedial works by March 2007.
- 3. Substantial completion of the Warragamba Spillway and associated works by June 2007
- 4. Completion of phase 1 of the Shoalhaven scheme and provision of an additional 50GL per annum resource yield by July 2010.
- 5. Completion of works to allow the release of environmental flows into the Upper Nepean River by July 2010.

For the 2009 determination, IPART asked WorleyParsons to review SCA's progress against these measures as part of its assessment of the prudency of SCA's capital expenditure over 2005/06 to 2008/09 (discussed in Chapter 6).

IPART has decided to maintain the use of output measures as a starting point for the assessment of prudent expenditure and the basis for reporting on any deviation from targets established. After considering WorleyParsons' advice on "the criticality of various projects",⁵³ IPART has developed output measures for the 2009 determination to reflect SCA's current operating environment and forecast capital expenditure program. This list of output measures is presented in Box 3.2 below. Further details on these output measures, as well as SCA's proposed output measures, are provided in Appendix H. IPART seeks comment from SCA and stakeholders on these output measures.

Box 3.2 2009 Draft determination output measures for SCA

- 1. Deliver a strategy for the future of the Upper Canal by June 2013.
- 2. Complete the Prospect Reservoir upstream embankment stabilisation upgrade by April 2013.
- 3. Complete the Warragamba Dam crest gates construction project by 30 June 2011.
- 4. Complete the Wingecarribee Dam safety upgrade project by June 2013.
- 5. Complete the Upper Nepean environmental flows works project by April 2010.
- 6. Complete the Metropolitan Dams electrical systems upgrade project by April 2013.

⁵³ WorleyParsons, Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination), January 2009, p 78.

4 Overview of SCA's revenue requirement

As Chapter 3 discussed, IPART used the building block approach to determine SCA's notional revenue requirement over the determination period. To apply the building block approach, IPART made draft decisions on:

- The revenue required for operating expenditure over the determination period. This amount represents IPART's estimate of SCA's forecast efficient operating, maintenance and administration costs, plus an allowance for working capital.
- The revenue required for capital investment over the determination period, including:
 - an allowance for a return on assets, which represents IPART's assessment of the opportunity cost of capital invested in SCA by its owner, and ensures that efficient investment in capital continues into the future
 - an allowance for a return of assets (regulatory depreciation), which recognises that through the provision of services to customers, a water utility's capital infrastructure will wear out over time and that an allowance is therefore required for the cost of maintaining the capital base.

The sum of these amounts represents IPART's view of SCA's total efficient costs over the determination period, or its notional revenue requirement.

Next, as Chapter 3 also discussed, IPART considered the price levels required to generate the notional revenue requirement and the implications of these price levels for customers, SCA's financial viability and economic efficiency. To achieve an acceptable balance between these interests, it set prices to generate revenue that is less than the notional revenue requirement in the first two years of the determination period, and equal to this requirement in the final year. This resulting expected revenue from prices is known as the target revenue.

The sections below set out SCA's proposed revenue requirement, and provide an overview of IPART's draft decisions on SCA's notional revenue requirement and target revenue. Chapters 5 and 6 discuss these draft decisions in detail.

4.1 SCA's proposed revenue requirement

SCA's submission identified a need to increase its revenue requirement by approximately 8.6 per cent in real terms from 2008/09 (the last year of the current determination period) to 2011/12 (\$ 2008/09). SCA's proposed revenue requirement is shown in Table 4.1 below.

	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Operating expenditure	87.0 a	97.3 b	80.0	80.0
Allowance for a return on assets	78.1	95.1	97.5	98.6
Allowance for regulatory depreciation	19.6	21.1	21.8	21.9
Revenue requirement	184.7	213.5	199.3	200.5

Table 4.1	SCA's proposed	revenue requirement	(\$ million, real 2008/09	9)
-----------	----------------	---------------------	---------------------------	----

Source: SCA submission, September 2008, p 36.

a Adjusted up from SCA's submission – see pages 22 to 23 of WorleyParsons' *Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination).*

b Includes SCA's \$17.7 million (\$2009/10) contribution to the Accelerated Sewerage Program (ASP).

SCA's proposed efficient operating expenditure does not include any costs for pumping water from the Shoalhaven to Sydney. Rather, as Chapter 3 discussed, SCA proposed that any costs incurred in pumping water from the Shoalhaven be passed through to Sydney Water and its customers.

4.2 Overview of draft decisions on SCA's revenue requirement

IPART's application of the building block approach resulted in a lower notional revenue requirement than SCA proposed, due to differences in the components related to capital investment. IPART's allowances for a return on assets and regulatory depreciation are lower than those proposed by SCA, due to differences in capital expenditure incorporated into the RAB and the rate of return on SCA's RAB (discussed in Chapter 6). Overall, IPART's draft decision on the total notional revenue requirement over the determination period is around 2.8 per cent lower than SCA's proposed revenue requirement.

In addition, IPART's draft decisions to set prices to generate the notional revenue requirement in the final year of the determination only, and to use a p-nought and glide path approach in setting prices, mean that SCA's total target revenue over the determination period is around 6.5 per cent lower than SCA's proposed revenue requirement.

IPART's draft decisions on the notional revenue requirement and target revenue are shown in Table 4.2. Chapters 5 and 6 explain how IPART made its drafts decisions on the revenue SCA requires for operating expenditure and for capital investment (including the allowances for a return on assets and regulatory depreciation). Please note that working capital and 'other revenue' are not discussed further in this report, as these relatively small amounts do not have a significant impact on prices.

	Current (2008/09)	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Operating expenditure	87.0 a	80.0	80.0	80.0
Contribution to ASP (operating expenditure) b		17.3		
Allowance for a return on assets	76.3	89.2	90.9	91.5
Allowance for regulatory depreciation	18.8	21.2	22.0	22.5
Allowance for working capital	0.5	0.7	1.1	1.1
Other (unregulated) revenue c	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4
Notional revenue requirement ^d	182.3	208.0	193.7	194.8
Target revenue	182.3	193.4	185.2	194.8
Expected rate of return	6.3%	5.8%	6.3%	7.0%

Table 4.2 Draft decisions on SCA's annual notional revenue requirement and annualtarget revenue (\$million, real 2008/09)

a Includes \$4 million in Shoalhaven pumping costs.

b SCA's contribution to the Accelerated Sewerage Program (ASP).

^c SCA earns income from renting out some of its facilities (eg, its conference centre). In line with its 2008 determination of Sydney Water's prices, 50 per cent of this unregulated income has been deducted from SCA's notional revenue requirement. IPART's 2008 report (p 37) of its determination of Sydney Water's prices noted that this approach achieves an appropriate balance between passing benefits of other income onto customers (via lower prices) and providing the utility with an incentive to pursue these opportunities.

d Totals may not add due to rounding.

5 Revenue required for operating expenditure

To determine SCA's notional revenue requirement for operating expenditure, IPART assessed SCA's proposed operating expenditure and assessed the efficient level of operating costs it will incur in providing services over the determination period.

As part of this assessment, IPART engaged WorleyParsons, an independent engineering consultant, to review SCA's forecast operating expenditure. IPART also invited submissions from stakeholders on:

- ▼ the efficiency of the projected operating expenditure outlined in SCA's submission
- whether there was scope for SCA to achieve further efficiency gains over the determination period.

The section below summarises IPART's draft decision on the revenue required for operating expenditure. The following sections discuss IPART's considerations in reaching this decision, including SCA's submission on its past and forecast operating expenditure, WorleyParsons' review and recommendations on these expenditures, stakeholders' comments, and IPART's own analysis and findings on SCA's operating expenditure.

5.1 Summary of IPART's decision

Draft decision

7 IPART's draft decision on the efficient level of operating expenditure SCA requires to provide its services over the period 2009/10 to 2011/12 is as shown in Table 5.1 below.

Table 5.1 Draft decision on revenue required for operating expenditure (\$ million,real 2008/09)

	2009/10 ª	2010/11	2011/12	Total
SCA proposed ^b	97.3	80.0	80.0	257.3
WorleyParsons recommended ^c	97.8	80.0	80.0	257.8
IPART draft decision	97.3	80.0	80.0	257.3

a Includes SCA's \$17.7 million (\$2009/10) contribution to the Accelerated Sewerage Program (ASP).

b SCA submission, September 2008, p 7.

^C WorleyParsons, *Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination)*, January 2009, p 7.

IPART has accepted SCA's proposed operating expenditure over 2009/10 to 2011/12. In line with WorleyParsons' findings, IPART considers that these forecasts represent a reasonable estimate of SCA's efficient operating costs over this period, particularly given some of SCA's proposed efficiency measures.

5.2 SCA's submission

SCA's submission outlined its past operating expenditure over the 2005 determination period and its forecast operating expenditure for the 2009 determination period, and explained the drivers of this expenditure.

5.2.1 Past operating expenditure

SCA's submission indicates that, excluding the costs associated with pumping water from the Shoalhaven to Sydney, SCA's operating expenditure over the 2005 determination period was close to the operating expenditure IPART allowed for in making the 2005 determination.

SCA's submission noted that it did not include Shoalhaven pumping costs in its pricing proposal for the 2005 determination, partly due to uncertainty regarding the ongoing need for this pumping. It also noted that the adaptive management approach to implementing the Metropolitan Water Plan resulted in considerable volatility in SCA's operating and capital expenditure over the 2005 determination period. For example, the NSW Government's decision to not proceed with the raising of Tallowa Dam meant that a portion of expenditure on this project, which was previously classified as capital expenditure, had to be 'expensed' (ie, classed as operating expenditure), in accord with Australian Accounting Standards.⁵⁴

5.2.2 Forecast operating expenditure

SCA's submission indicated that, excluding the costs of its contribution to the Accelerated Sewerage Program (ASP) in 2009/10 (\$17.7 million in \$2009/10), its forecast operating expenditure is \$80 million in each year of the 2009 determination period.⁵⁵

The ASP includes a number of sewerage projects designed to significantly reduce the loads of pathogens and nutrients discharged to catchment waterways. SCA reports that when complete, the ASP will reduce the loads of nitrogen by 25 tonnes per annum and the loads of phosphorus by 15 tonnes per annum.⁵⁶ In October 2007, the Government approved an additional \$17.7 million funding for the ASP. In July 2008, the Minister for Water directed SCA to pay the Department of Water and Energy this

⁵⁴ SCA submission, September 2008, pp 19-20.

⁵⁵ Ibid, p 32.

⁵⁶ Ibid, p 26.

\$17.7 million.⁵⁷ As Chapter 2 noted, the Minister for Water also directed IPART to include the efficient cost of SCA complying with the direction to contribute these funds to the ASP in making its 2009 determination.

IPART notes that SCA's operating expenditure for 2008/09 was \$83 million (excluding \$4 million in costs associated with Shoalhaven pumping).⁵⁸ Relative to this expenditure, SCA's forecast expenditure of \$80 million per annum includes an efficiency saving of approximately 3.6 per cent. SCA's submission noted this efficiency saving is possible due to a number of initiatives, including:

- moving dam safety survey work in-house
- renegotiating the Special Area Strategic Plan of Management (SASPoM) Service Contract with the Department of Environment and Climate Change (DECC)
- reviewing and redeveloping the Dam Safety Management Program, leading to better risk identification and cost savings
- improving the efficiency of its catchment program through better targeting of activity as a result of the Catchment Decision Support System
- developing an evaluation and monitoring process for all catchment activities.⁵⁹

5.3 WorleyParsons' review

5.3.1 WorleyParsons' findings on past operating expenditure

In assessing SCA's past operating expenditure, WorleyParsons examined a number of cost categories – including labour, hire and contract services, bulk water purchases, materials, energy, licence fees, administration, grants and sponsorships, property, maintenance of assets, insurance, employee provisions, and other provisions. WorleyParsons used trend analysis to examine reasons for movement in costs over time.⁶⁰ It noted that trend analysis can be valuable in reviewing SCA's costs, given that its functions and the scale of its operations are relatively stable over time.

⁵⁷ SCA's contribution includes \$13.4 million for four sewage treatment plant (STP) upgrades (Bowral, Bundanoon, Robertson and Kangaroo Valley), a contribution of \$1 million to build Taralga's sewage treatment plant and \$3.3 million to upgrade Braidwood's STP. (SCA submission, September 2008, p 26.)

⁵⁸ See: WorleyParsons, Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination), pp 5-6.

⁵⁹ SCA submission, September 2008, p 32.

⁶⁰ According to WorleyParsons, where changes in costs over time exceed a threshold (10% movement for operational expenditure) and where the overall cost is material (>\$200,000), a rationale for the movement was sought. (WorleyParsons, *Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination)* January 2009, p 16.)

WorleyParsons found that:

- SCA undertook minimal activity that falls outside its regulated activities, and confirmed that the cost of this unregulated activity is separated from its regulated costs.
- SCA achieved operating cost savings via lower insurance costs and some operating efficiency gains associated with capital projects.
- SCA's total actual operating expenditure was 9.0 per cent greater than IPART allowed for in the 2005 determination. However, when Shoalhaven pumping costs are excluded, SCA's actual operating expenditure was only 1.5 per cent greater than that allowed for in the 2005 determination. (Table 5.2.)
- In addition to Shoalhaven pumping costs, SCA incurred other unforeseen operating costs including 'expenses' associated with the raising of Tallowa Dam and the development of groundwater sources. A portion of expenditure on these projects, previously classified as capital expenditure, has been expensed following the Government's decision not to proceed with their completion.

Based on these findings, WorleyParsons concluded that SCA's operating expenditure over the 2005 determination period was efficient.

	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09 a	Total
Expenditure allowed for in 2005 determination	89.0	88.8	87.2	85.4	350.4
Actual expenditure including Shoalhaven pumping costs	91.7	98.7	104.4	87.0	381.8
% variation	3.0%	11.1%	19.7%	1.9%	9.0%
Actual expenditure excluding Shoalhaven pumping costs	82.4	88.6	91.2	83.0	345.2
% variation	-7.4%	-0.2%	4.6%	-2.8%	1.5%

Table 5.2SCA's actual operating expenditure over 2005/06 to 2008/09 compared to
expenditure allowed for in 2005 determination (\$ million, real 2008/09)

Source: WorleyParsons' Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination), pp 22-23.

a SCA's expenditure for 2008/09 is forecast rather than actual expenditure.
5.3.2 WorleyParsons' findings forecast operating expenditure

In reviewing forecast operating expenditure, WorleyParsons used SCA's current expenditure levels as the starting point, then tried to identify exactly where cost savings could be achieved to realise SCA's proposed efficiency saving of 3.6 per cent.⁶¹ WorleyParsons noted that:

SCA has not determined its forecast operating expenditure by reviewing line items or specific cost categories and then summing to calculate a total expenditure figure. It is presently establishing plans to enable it to achieve the forecast efficiency target.⁶²

WorleyParsons was largely able to reconcile SCA's forecast operating expenditure with identified sources of efficiency savings. It identified likely cost reductions associated with labour, bulk water purchases, management of the Special Areas by the Department and Environment and Climate Change (DECC) and flow related licence fees. The only difference between WorleyParsons' recommended level of forecast operating expenditure and SCA's forecasts is \$0.5 million in 2009/10 (Table 5.3). This difference reflects WorleyParsons' view that not all of SCA's forecast labour cost reductions will be achieved in 2009/10, due to the time taken to implement these cost saving measures.⁶³

Table 5.3SCA's forecast operating expenditure compared to WorleyParsons'
findings on efficient forecast operating expenditure
(\$ million, real 2008/09)

	2009/10 ª	2010/11	2011/12	Total
SCA forecast	97.3	80.0	80.0	257.3
WorleyParsons efficient forecast	97.8	80.0	80.0	257.8

Source: SCA submission, September 2008, p 7; and WorleyParsons, *Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination)*, January 2009, p 7.

5.4 Stakeholder comments

Several stakeholders commented on SCA's forecast operating expenditure. The Total Environment Centre (TEC) urged IPART to ensure that SCA is provided with sufficient revenue to enable it to properly fulfil its catchment protection functions. It stressed that SCA's proposed efficiencies in its catchment program should not diminish the quality of catchment management and water quality protection. TEC also submitted that catchment protection should include measures to prevent long-wall mining from occurring in areas where water quality and quantity may be affected.⁶⁴

⁶¹ Relative to 2008/09 expenditure levels, excluding Shoalhaven pumping costs (ie, \$83 million).

⁶² WorleyParsons, Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination), January 2009, p 5.

⁶³ Ibid, pp 40-47.

⁶⁴ Total Environment Centre submission, October 2008, pp 1-2.

The NSW Department of Environment and Climate Change (DECC) noted that while it is currently in discussions with SCA about the possibility of reviewing the SASPoM Service Contract:

...these discussions are in the initial stages and are not yet sufficiently progressed to confirm any cost-savings for the coming price $period.^{65}$

5.5 IPART's analysis

In relation to the forecast operating costs for SCA's contribution to the ASP, IPART notes that the Minister's section 16A direction that IPART include these costs in the 2009 determination means that it is limited to assessing whether SCA has complied with the Minister's direction in the most cost-effective way possible. Therefore, in line with the Minister's direction, IPART has included the full \$17.7 million (\$2009/10) SCA was directed to contribute to the ASP in its calculation of SCA's notional revenue requirement for 2009/10 for the purpose of setting prices. (The impacts of this on customer prices are discussed in Chapter 9.)

In relation to the rest of SCA's forecast operating costs, IPART is conscious of the need to ensure that any efficiency savings do not come at the expense of service quality (in terms of catchment management, water quality and reliability and security of supply). However, it notes that SCA's submission and statements at the public hearing identify a number of initiatives that are aimed at maintaining and even enhancing its water supply and catchment management performance, at potentially lower cost.

WorleyParsons' review has essentially validated SCA's forecast operating expenditure, aside from the small difference between SCA's forecast expenditure in 2009/10 and WorleyParsons calculated figure for that year. Furthermore, IPART considers that an operating efficiency savings target of about 3.6 per cent⁶⁶ is reasonable, regardless of whether or not SCA is in a position to quantify specific sources of efficiency gains at this stage. Therefore, IPART has accepted SCA's forecast operating expenditure for the draft determination.

⁶⁵ DECC submission, October 2008, p 1.

⁶⁶ Relative to 2008/09 expenditure, excluding the cost of Shoalhaven transfers.

6 Revenue required for capital investment

As Chapter 4 discussed, the revenue required for capital investment comprises two cost blocks: an allowance for a return **on** capital, and an allowance for a return **of** capital (or regulatory depreciation). Together, these allowances make up around 57 per cent of SCA's total notional revenue requirement over the 2009 determination period, and so have a significant impact on prices. IPART determined a value for each of these allowances by taking four steps:

- ▼ assessing SCA's past capital expenditure over the 2005 determination period to decide whether it was prudent and should therefore be incorporated into the opening value of SCA's Regulatory Asset Base (RAB), and assessing SCA's forecast capital expenditure to determine whether it is efficient and should therefore be included when rolling forward the RAB
- calculating the annual value for the RAB over the determination period, taking into account its decisions on past and forecast capital expenditure and making other adjustments as necessary
- calculating the allowance for a return on assets by deciding on an appropriate rate of return for SCA, and multiplying the annual value of the RAB by this rate
- calculating the allowance for depreciation by deciding on an appropriate depreciation method and asset lives for SCA's existing and new assets.

The sections below discuss each of the above steps, and outline and explain IPART's draft decisions on key inputs used to calculate the allowances for a return on capital and regulatory depreciation.

6.1 Assessing SCA's past and forecast capital expenditure

Draft decisions

8 IPART's draft decisions are that past capital expenditure shown in Table 6.1 was prudent, and the forecast capital expenditure shown in Table 6.2 is efficient.

Table 6.1	Draft decision on past capital expenditure that was prudent
	(\$ million, real 2008/09)

	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09	Total
SCA actual a	151.5	91.2	70.4	92.0	405.1
WorleyParsons recommended b	149.7	87.3	67.1	92.0	396.2
IPART draft decision	149.7	87.3	67.1	92.0	396.2

^a Source: SCA's 2008 Information Return to IPART, increased by approximately \$6.4 million (\$2008/09) to correct errors identified by SCA's financial audit (see p 71 of WorleyParson's report), and indexed to \$2008/09.

b Source: WorleyParsons, *Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination),* January 2009, p 9, indexed to \$2008/09.

Table 6.2 Draft decision on forecast capital expenditure that is efficient
(\$million, real 2008/09)

	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12	Total ^c
SCA forecast ^a	61.8	34.1	32.5	128.5
WorleyParsons recommended b	61.6	33.4	31.8	126.8
IPART draft decision	61.6	33.4	31.8	126.8

a Source: SCA submission, September 2008, p 28; and SCA 2008 Information Return to IPART.

b Source: WorleyParsons' Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination), January 2009, p 10, converted to \$2008/09.

C Totals may not add due to rounding.

6.1.1 Past capital expenditure, 2005/06 to 2008/09

SCA's submission on past capital expenditure

Table 6.3 compares SCA's actual capital expenditure over the 2005 determination period with the capital expenditure IPART allowed for in making the 2005 determination. It shows that SCA's actual expenditure level over the current determination period was substantially less than allowed for in the determination.

Table 6.3SCA's actual capital expenditure compared to the expenditure allowed for
in the 2005 determination (\$ million, real 2008/09)

	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09	Total
2005 determination ^a	206.9	133.5	157.0	120.1	617.5
SCA actual expenditure ^b	151.5	91.2	70.4	92.0	405.1
Variation to 2005 determination	-55.4	-42.3	-86.6	-28.1	-212.4
Variation to 2005 determination %	-26.8%	-31.7%	-55.1%	-23.4%	-34.4%

a Source: SCA submission, September 2008, p 20, indexed to \$2008/09.

b Source: SCA's 2008 Information Return to IPART, increased by approximately \$6.4 million (\$2008/09) to correct errors identified by SCA's financial audit (see p 71 of WorleyParson's report), and indexed to \$2008/09.

SCA submitted that the primary reason for this large 'underspend' was the NSW Government's decision to not proceed with raising the Tallowa Dam wall as part of

the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme. This scheme was planned and approved at the time of the 2005 price review, and costs associated with it comprised around 47 per cent of SCA's forecast capital expenditure for the 2005 determination period.⁶⁷ However, the NSW Government subsequently decided not to raise Tallowa Dam and the scheme did not proceed as originally planned.

When the costs associated with the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme are excluded, SCA's actual capital expenditure over the determination period was around 28 per cent higher than allowed for in the 2005 determination. This is shown in Table 6.4 below.

Table 6.4SCA's actual capital expenditure compared to that allowed for in the 2005
determination – excluding the impact of the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme
(\$ million, real 2008/09)

	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09	Totalc
2005 determination ^a	196.1	80.3	22.3	19.1	317.7
SCA actual expenditure ^b	151.5	91.2	70.4	92.0	405.1
Variation to 2005 determination	-44.6	10.9	48.2	72.9	87.4
Variation to 2005 determination %	-22.7%	13.6%	216.3%	381.8%	27.5%

^a Source: Worley Parsons, *Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure - Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination)*, January 2009, p 8, indexed to \$2008/09.

b Source: SCA's 2008 Information Return to IPART, increased by approximately \$6.4 million (\$2008/09) to correct errors identified by SCA's financial audit (see p 71 of WorleyParson's report), and indexed to \$2008/09.

c Totals may not add due to rounding.

SCA submitted that it delivered the following significant projects that were forecast at the 2005 price review over the determination period:

- deep storage pumping capacity at both Warragamba and Nepean Dams
- upgrades to Warragamba Dam's electrical systems
- a raw water pumping station at Prospect Reservoir
- ▼ significant upgrades to Warragamba precinct, operations and visitor buildings (scheduled to be completed in 2008-09).⁶⁸

It also delivered the following programs that were not forecast at the 2005 review:

- development of the potential for extraction of groundwater at Leonay, Wallacia and Kangaloon
- investigation, design and commencement of construction of a fish way passage and delivery structures for environmental flows at Tallowa Dam
- upgrades to the SCADA (supervisory control and data acquisition) system in the Shoalhaven to improve the management of water delivery.⁶⁹

⁶⁷ SCA submission, September 2008, p 20.

⁶⁸ Ibid, p 21.

⁶⁹ Ibid.

WorleyParsons' review of the prudency of SCA's past capital expenditure

In assessing the prudency of SCA's capital expenditure over the 2005 determination period, WorleyParsons:

- reviewed differences between SCA's actual capital expenditure and the level of expenditure IPART allowed for in making the 2005 determination
- conducted detailed analysis of a sample of capital expenditure projects (including assessing SCA's performance against its output measures for the 2005 determination period)⁷⁰
- reviewed SCA's processes for the identification, selection and development of capital projects.

Excluding the expenditure allowed for the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme, WorleyParsons found that SCA's actual expenditure over the 2005 determination period was \$89.3 million⁷¹ greater than allowed for in the 2005 determination. WorleyParsons identified that \$66.9 million of this \$89.3 million was invested in the following projects:

- investigations and development of the potential for extraction of groundwater at Wallacia, Leonay and Kangaloon (\$28.3 million) – this project was initiated by Government under the Metropolitan Water Plan
- investigations, design and commencement of construction of a fish way passage and delivery structures for environmental flows at Tallowa Dam (\$26.5 million) – this project was also initiated by Government under the Metropolitan Water Plan
- upgrading the SCADA (supervisory control and data acquisition) system into the Shoalhaven to improve the management of water delivery (\$1.7 million) – WorleyParsons considers this project critical to the effective operation of SCA's assets
- investigations and development of options for the Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme (\$10.4 million).⁷²

⁷⁰ This step involved carrying out analysis of 17 capital expenditure projects, selected at random but each having more than \$1 million in cost in the 2005/06 to 2012/13 period and together making up more than 10% of the total number of projects and 10% of the total capital program value over this period. WorleyParsons' assessment of the drivers, justification and efficiency of these sampled projects (with a combined budget of approximately \$350 million) is listed in Appendix 2 of its report.

⁷¹ Nominal \$.

⁷² While this \$10.4 million is classed as capital expenditure, WorleyParsons (p 35) reports that a further \$4.5 million of costs associated with raising the Tallowa Dam wall (as part of the original Shoalhaven Transfers Scheme) have been 'expensed' to operating expenditure. As noted in this chapter and in section 2.3.3, since the 2004 Metropolitan Water Plan, the NSW Government has decided to not proceed with raising the dam wall at Tallowa. Instead, it is looking at alternative operational arrangements for the Shoalhaven Transfer Scheme and investigating pipeline and tunnel options should it proceed with transfers of more water from Tallowa Dam to Sydney.

With the exception of a portion of groundwater expenditure (discussed below), WorleyParsons found that this expenditure was prudent, as it was incurred in response to Government direction and/or is considered critical to the effective operation of SCA's supply system.

WorleyParsons also found that the remaining \$22.5 million of the \$89.3 million is likely to be efficient and prudent, given its detailed review of a sample of capital expenditure projects and its finding that SCA's processes and performance in project identification, selection and development are generally of a high quality.⁷³

The only item of SCA's capital expenditure that WorleyParsons did not find to be prudent was \$8.5 million⁷⁴ of groundwater expenditure. This finding is based on the NSW Audit Office's direction to SCA that it must write off this expenditure as it failed to deliver an asset. Of all of SCA's groundwater expenditure over the current determination period (\$28.3 million⁷⁵), the Audit Office allowed SCA to capitalise only its expenditure on the Kangaloon groundwater project (\$19.8 million⁷⁶). This is because Kangaloon is the only site to be taken to the 'readiness' stage – meaning that it is probable that future economic benefits would flow to SCA from this site.⁷⁷ In contrast, following the NSW Government's 2008 decision to halt construction of SCA's groundwater borefields⁷⁸, it is uncertain whether the SCA will yield any future economic benefits from its other groundwater sites. In regard to the groundwater project at Kangaloon, a NSW Government press release notes that:

Development of Kangaloon will be halted at the point where land acquisitions, planning approval and tender design are complete, to enable reactivation without delay in future emergencies.⁷⁹

WorleyParsons' finding on SCA's prudent expenditure over 2005/06 to 2008/09 is shown in Table 6.5 below.

⁷³ See: WorleyParsons, Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination), January 2009, p 54.

⁷⁴ \$8.5 million in nominal \$, which equates to \$9 million in \$2008/09.

⁷⁵ Nominal \$.

⁷⁶ Nominal \$.

⁷⁷ The Kangaloon site will be taken to the stage where it gains planning approval and can be activated to supply water at relatively short notice. This enhances SCA's security of supply and its yield.

⁷⁸ Rees, N (Minister for Water), News Release - Groundwater Borefields off the Agenda, 18 June 2008.

⁷⁹ Ibid.

real 2008/09)	2	•			-
	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09 ^b	Total
SCA's actual expenditure ^a	151.5	91.2	70.4	92.0	405.1

3.8

87.3

3.4

67.1

0.0

92.0

9.0

396.2

Table 6.5 WorleyParsons' findings on SCA's prudent capital expenditure (\$ million,

а Source: SCA's 2008 Information Return to IPART, increased by approximately \$6.4 million (\$2008/09) to correct errors identified by SCA's financial audit (see p 71 of WorleyParson's report), and indexed to \$2008/09.

1.8

149.7

b Source: WorleyParsons, Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination), January 2009, p 9, indexed to \$2008/09.

c May not add due to rounding.

expenditure^c

Groundwater project write down^b

WorleyParsons' finding on prudent

In relation to SCA's performance against its output measures for the 2005 determination period, WorleyParsons found that:

... overall, SCA has been effective in delivering against the nominated output measures. The Prospect WPS was delivered behind schedule and over budget, however it is considered by WorleyParsons to be a technically challenging project and has been assessed as being very well managed.⁸⁰

WorleyParsons' assessment of SCA's performance against its output measures is summarised in Table 6.6 below.

⁸⁰ WorleyParsons, Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination), January 2009, pp 63-64.

IPART output measure	Planning	Deliverables	Managing scope change / implementation
Substantial completion of the Deep Storage Scheme and provision of additional 30GL pa yield by July 2006	Efficient	Within budget, two months late, functionality met.	One scope change. Scope efficiently managed.
Substantial completion of the Prospect Water Pumping Station (WPS) and associated Dam remedial works by March 2007	WPS component efficient. Dam remedial works – not assessed as in future program.	WPS component: Budget within approved SCA budget, 3 months late, functionality met. Dam remedial works: Construction not commenced (April 2013 completion).	WPS component: One cost variation, efficiency managed. Dam remedial works: Estimated cost exceeds initial budget approval.
Substantial completion of the Warragamba Spillway and associated works by June 2007	Efficient	In progress, to be delivered by June 2011.	One cost variation to date (\$9M). Project scope efficiently managed to date.
Completion of phase 1 of the Shoalhaven Scheme and provision of an additional 50GL pa yield by July 2010	Project discontinued after Government decided not to raise Tallowa Dam.	Not assessed.	Not assessed.
Completion of works to allow the release of environmental flows into the Upper Nepean River by July 2010	Efficient	Forecast to be completed within budget, by April 2009.	Project management efficient to date. No scope of works change or price variations to date.

Table 6.6 WorleyParsons' assessment of SCA's performance against output measures

Source: WorleyParsons, *Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination)*, January 2009, p 63.

IPART's analysis of SCA's past capital expenditure

After considering SCA's submission, stakeholder comments and its consultant's report, IPART has accepted WorleyParsons' finding on the prudency of SCA's capital expenditure over 2005/06 to 2008/09, for the purposes of calculating the opening value of the RAB and calculating SCA's prices for the draft determination.

6 Revenue required for capital investment

6.1.2 Forecast capital expenditure, 2009/10 to 2011/12

SCA's submission on forecast capital expenditure

SCA's forecast capital expenditure for the 2009 determination period is shown in Table 6.7 below.

Table 6.7 SCA's forecast capital expenditure (Smillion, real 2008/09	Table 6.7	.7 SCA's forecast capi	al expenditure	(\$million, real 2	2008/09)
--	-----------	------------------------	----------------	--------------------	----------

	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12	Total		
SCA forecast expenditure	61.8	34.1	32.5	128.5 a		
Source: SCA submission, September 2008, p 28.						

a Total may not add due to rounding.

SCA submitted that its forecast capital expenditure is driven by the need to:

- ▼ Comply with the NSW Government's Metropolitan Water Plan including upgrading of the Upper Nepean Dams to provide environmental flows.
- Comply with the requirements of the NSW Dams Safety Committee including upgrading the crest gates at Warragamba Dam and upgrading Wingecarribee Dam for "probable maximum flood" criteria.
- Meet OH&S requirements including a number of projects to upgrade ageing electrical, civil and mechanical systems to provide improved protection to SCA's workforce and the general public (including electrical wiring, fencing, access arrangements, roads and security).
- Renew/refurbish aging infrastructure assets including roads and bridges.
- Refurbish the Upper Nepean transfer system⁸¹ SCA is reviewing the most appropriate way to augment and maintain this system. It has undertaken early investigations to identify feasible engineering options and broad design parameters, including staging and order of cost estimates. Expenditure has been flagged from 2008/09 to 2010/11 to undertake more detailed investigations, costing and preliminary designs, leading to a business case decision regarding replacement.⁸²

⁸¹ According to SCA (p 29 of its September 2008 submission), "The Upper Canal, which currently transfers approximately 20 percent of Sydney's water, consists of a series of tunnels, open canals and aqueducts [approximately 64 km] built over 100 years ago. The canal design and age introduces risks to water quality and limits the volume of water that can be transferred. In order to ensure both reliability and quality of water supplied, the SCA will need to undertake major refurbishment works or replace the canal structure. Replacement options can be staged, with the final stage including removal of run of river transfers that are currently an integral part of the transfer of water from the Upper Nepean dams to Sydney." That is, SCA propose to construct infrastructure that *both* replaces the Upper Canal and increases Sydney's water supply from the Shoalhaven River.

⁸² SCA's supplementary submission notes that major expenditure on the Upper Canal that was previously planned for 2012/13 (in SCA's original submission) has been deferred to 2015/16 and beyond.

 Replace support assets – according to SCA, it has a range of support assets such as motor vehicles, IT equipment and office equipment that need regular renewal.⁸³

SCA submitted that it has minimised its capital expenditure program over the 2009 determination period by, where possible, deferring major capital expenditure to beyond the next determination period.

Stakeholder submissions

TEC supported SCA's proposed capital expenditure on upgrading of the Upper Nepean Dams to provide environmental flows.⁸⁴ It also urged IPART to ensure that the SCA's expenditure on the Upper Nepean Transfer System (including the Upper Canal) includes expenditure to protect this asset from further long-wall mining damage. It noted that expenditure on refurbishment or replacement of the transfer system should seek to minimise transmission losses.⁸⁵

Wingecarribee Shire Council noted that SCA is jointly funding network flow gauging and performance assessment studies for the five sewerage schemes in the Shire. These studies will identify the potential for overflows from the sewerage system and propose a capital works program to control, minimise or eliminate overflows. Wingecarribee Shire Council argued it is essential that SCA include a funding commitment in its expenditure forecasts towards physical works identified in these studies.⁸⁶

WorleyParsons' review of the efficiency of SCA's forecast capital expenditure

To assess the efficiency of SCA's forecast capital expenditure, WorleyParsons:

- conducted detailed analysis of a sample of SCA's capital projects (as noted above)
- reviewed the forward program expenditure profile and any changes in SCA's operational drivers over time
- reviewed the drivers and nature of the projects making up the forward capital program
- considered potential efficiencies in the delivery of the forecast capital program.

As shown in Table 6.8 below, WorleyParsons found that most of SCA's proposed capital expenditure over 2009/10 to 2011/12 of \$128.5 million is efficient. It identified efficiency savings of approximately \$1.7 million (or about 1.4 per cent), which it considered can be achieved by bundling like projects to take advantage of economies of scale and reduced management costs. For example, WorleyParsons

⁸³ SCA submission, September 2008, pp 27-28.

⁸⁴ Total Environment Centre submission, October 2008, p 1.

⁸⁵ Ibid.

⁸⁶ Wingecarribee Shire Council submission, October 2008, p 8.

noted that efficiencies gained by grouping small IT projects together "would be likely in the order of 10% and may extend to 20%."⁸⁷

Table 6.8	WorleyParsons' findings on SCA's forecast capital expenditure that is
	efficient (\$million, real 2008/09)

	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12	Totala
SCA's forecast expenditure	61.8	34.1	32.5	128.5
WorleyParsons' findings on efficient expenditure	61.6	33.4	31.8	126.8

a Totals may not add due to rounding.

Source: SCA submission, p 28; and WorleyParsons' *Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination)*, p 10, converted to \$2008/09.

WorleyParsons' findings reflect its positive assessment of SCA's asset management and project evaluation and management processes. For example, it noted that:

SCA's capital project management processes include business case development steps. WorleyParsons has reviewed the business cases for a number of future projects, and on the basis of the SCA capital project management process and evidence of SCA following this process, WorleyParsons has confidence that SCA is developing business cases for its projects which ensure that they are efficient projects.⁸⁸

IPART's analysis

IPART has accepted WorleyParsons' finding on the efficiency of SCA's capital expenditure over 2009/10 to 2011/12.

6.2 Calculating the annual value of the RAB over the determination period

To determine both the allowance for a return on assets and the allowance for regulatory depreciation, IPART must calculate the value of SCA's RAB in each year of the determination period. It established the methodologies for calculating the value of the RAB at the start of the determination period (the opening value of the RAB), and for rolling forward the RAB to the end of the determination period. Then it applied these methodologies.

⁸⁷ WorleyParsons, Review of Capital and Operating Expenditure – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination), 15 January 2009, pp 75-77.

⁸⁸ Ibid, p 76.

6.2.1 Methodologies for establishing opening value of the RAB and rolling forward the RAB

To establish the opening value of SCA's RAB (ie, as at 1 June 2009), IPART:

- Rolled forward the 1 July 2005 RAB to 30 June 2009 by including the actual capital expenditure over this period it found to be prudent⁸⁹ (as discussed in section 6.1 above).
- Made other necessary adjustments, including
 - deducting any actual capital contributions from the RAB
 - deducting regulatory depreciation as allowed for in the 2005 determination⁹⁰
 - deducting actual asset disposals for 2005/06 to 2007/08 and estimated disposals for 2008/09.
- ▼ Indexed the annual closing RAB for actual/forecast inflation. In making this calculation, IPART assumed that half the capital expenditure and disposals occurred at the beginning of the year (and therefore receive a full year of indexation), while the other half occurred at the end of the period (and therefore is not indexed).

To roll forward the RAB to the end of the 2009 determination period (ie, 30 June 2012), IPART:

- ▼ Added the forecast capital expenditure it found to be efficient (as discussed in section 6.1 above) to the closing value of the RAB for the previous year.
- Made other necessary adjustments to the value of the RAB for each year, including
 - deducting any forecast capital contributions
 - deducting regulatory depreciation
 - deducting forecast disposals of assets.
- Indexed for forecast inflation.⁹¹

Both methodologies are the same as those IPART used in making the 2005 determination.

⁸⁹ Given that actual expenditure for 2008/09 is not fully known at the time of the Determination, IPART has used the estimated expenditure for this year. This estimate has been assessed by IPART as part of the review and adjusted where appropriate. At the next review, the RAB will be adjusted to reflect the difference between this estimate and actual expenditure for 2008/09.

⁹⁰ Regulatory depreciation refers to the depreciation amounts allowed for in the 2005 Determination. IPART uses regulatory depreciation, rather than actual depreciation, because the impact of any over/under-expenditure of capital expenditure during the determination period is limited to the return it earns on its expenditure. This provides agencies with an incentive not to overestimate their forecast expenditure at price reviews.

⁹¹ Similar to the approach of establishing the opening RAB, IPART assumes that half the capital expenditure and disposals occur at the beginning of the year (receiving a full year of indexation), with the remainder occurring at the end of the year.

6 Revenue required for capital investment

6.2.2 Applying these methodologies

To apply these methodologies, IPART rolled forward the opening value of SCA's RAB at the 2005 determination to reflect its findings on prudent actual capital expenditure over the 2005 determination period and efficient forecast capital expenditure for 2009/10 to 2011/12. As noted above, these expenditures are discussed in section 6.1. The sections below discuss the other adjustments IPART made to the value of the RAB, including adjustments to account for past and forecast capital contributions, past and forecast disposal of assets and regulatory depreciation.

Adjustments for capital contributions

For water utilities, 'capital contributions' generally refer to revenue received from developer charges or government grants. However, SCA does not receive revenue from developer charges, and its Information Returns to IPART indicated that it did not receive any capital contributions from government or other sources over the 2005 determination period, and does not forecast receipt of any such contributions over the 2009 determination period. Therefore, IPART did not make any adjustment to the RAB account for capital contributions.

Adjustments for disposal of assets

Table 6.9 shows the value of the assets SCA reported disposing of over the 2005 determination period, and expects to dispose of over the 2009 period. IPART has deducted these values from the value of RAB accordingly.

Table 6.9	SCA's past and	forecast assets	disposals	(\$million, rea	l 2008/09)
-----------	----------------	-----------------	-----------	-----------------	------------

	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Asset disposals	0.0	5.2	11.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Source: SCA 2008 Information Returns to IPART, indexed to \$2008/09.

Adjustments for regulatory depreciation

The RAB is adjusted each year to account for regulatory depreciation. To determine the opening value of SCA's RAB at 1 July 2009, IPART deducted the allowance for regulatory depreciation it included in making the 2005 determination. To calculate future regulatory depreciation to be deducted from the RAB (to roll forward the RAB to the end of the 2009 determination period) IPART has used the straight-line depreciation method. The amounts deducted are shown on Table 6.10 below.

As discussed in Chapter 4, an allowance for depreciation (return of assets) is made within the revenue required for capital investment. IPART's considerations in calculating this allowance for the 2009 determination period are discussed in section 6.4 below.

(\$ininion, real 2008/03)							
	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Regulatory depreciation	-9.6	-15.1	-16.8	-18.3	-19.7	-22.1	-22.9

Table 6.10 SCA's regulatory depreciation deducted from the RAB (\$million, real 2008/09)

6.2.3 Resulting annual values for the RAB

Table 6.11 shows IPART's calculated annual values of SCA's RAB over the 2009 determination period after adding the past and forecast capital expenditure discussed in section 6.1, making the adjustments discussed in section 6.2.2, and indexing the closing RAB for forecast inflation.

Table 6.11 SCA's RAB (\$million, real 2008/09)

	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
SCA RAB	1,295	1,335	1,345	1,354

6.3 Calculating the allowance for a return on assets

Once it calculated the value of SCA's RAB over the determination period, IPART decided on an appropriate rate of return for SCA. It then multiplied the rate of return by the value of the RAB in each year of the determination period to calculate the allowance for a return on assets.

There are several approaches for deciding on an appropriate rate of return. As for previous reviews, IPART used the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) approach. It developed a range for the water utility's real pre-tax WACC, then made a judgement on the most appropriate rate of return for SCA within this range.

In exercising its judgement, IPART considered SCA's proposed rate of return and its own analysis of the implications of its chosen rate return for customers, SCA's financial viability and economic efficiency.

6.3.1 SCA's submission

SCA proposed a real pre-tax WACC at least equal to that determined for Sydney Water, with market-based parameters updated at the time of the final decision. IPART determined a real pre-tax WACC of 7.5 per cent for Sydney Water in its 2008 price determination.

SCA also submitted advice from the NSW Treasury on IPART's approach to setting the risk free rate and implied inflation. This advice is considered in Appendix E.

6.3.2 IPART's analysis and draft decision

Draft decision

9 IPART's draft decision is that for the purposes of calculating the allowance for a return on assets, a real pre-tax WACC of 7.0 per cent will be applied.

IPART's draft decision on the rate of return reflects its view that an appropriate WACC for SCA is in the range of 5.9 per cent to 8.6 per cent. Under IPART's p-nought and then glide path approach to recovering SCA's revenue requirement, this translates into a return on capital of \$91.5 million by 2011/12, as outlined in Table 6.12 below.

Table 6.12 Draft decision or	allowance for a return	on assets (\$million,	real 2008/09)
------------------------------	------------------------	-----------------------	---------------

	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Return on capital	76.3	89.2	90.9	91.5
Rate of return from charges	6.3%	5.8%	6.3%	7.0%

In making its draft decision on an appropriate rate of return for SCA, IPART considered the views of SCA, current regulatory and financial practice, its previous decisions, section 15 of the IPART Act and its own analysis. It calculated a range for the WACC using the parameters shown in Table 6.13 below. These parameters were based on market conditions averaged for the 20 days to 14 January 2009.

IPART recognises that there has been significant volatility in financial markets recently and there is likely to be continued volatility in the future. This has affected the quality of data underpinning the market-based parameters (the risk free rates, the resulting implied inflation forecast, and the debt margin). IPART conducted preliminary analysis on these parameters and intends to finalise its position prior to its final determination.

WACC Parameters	Market value
Nominal risk free rate ^a	4.2%
Real risk free rate ^a	2.8% ^b
Inflation	1.3%
Market risk premium	5.5% - 6.5%
Debt margin ^a	1.2% – 3.6%
Debt to total assets	60%
Dividend imputation factor (gamma)	0.5 - 0.3
Tax rate	30%
Equity beta	0.8 - 1.0
Cost of equity (nominal post-tax)	8.6% - 10.7%
Cost of debt (nominal pre-tax)	5.4% - 7.7%
WACC range (real pre-tax)	5.9% - 8.6%
WACC (real pre-tax) point estimate	7.0%

Table 6.13 Draft decision on the rate of return and the parameters IPART used	d to
calculate the WACC	

a Reflects the average of the nominal risk free rate for the 20 days to 14 January 2009.

b Includes a scarcity premium of 20 basis points. Calculated by adding 20 basis points to the real risk free rate of 2.6%.

IPART intends to release a series of working papers commencing February 2009 and seek stakeholder comments on alternative approaches to calculating market-based parameters, particularly the implied inflation rate and the debt margin. IPART will consider stakeholders' comments on these issues in response to both this draft decision and the working papers. These responses will guide IPART's considerations when making its final decision on the rate of return.

A detailed discussion of IPART's considerations in relation to the appropriate rate of return is provided in Appendix E.

6.4 Calculating the allowance for regulatory depreciation

To calculate the allowance for regulatory depreciation, IPART decided on a depreciation method and asset lives for SCA's existing and new assets, then calculated depreciation accordingly.

6.4.1 Depreciation method

As for previous determinations, IPART chose to use the straight-line depreciation method. Under this method, the assets in the RAB are depreciated by an equal value in each year of their economic life, so that their real written-down value follows a straight line over time, from the initial value of the asset to zero at the end of the assets life. IPART considers that this method is superior to alternatives in terms of simplicity, consistency and transparency.

6 Revenue required for capital investment

6.4.2 Asset lives

For the 2005 determination, IPART used asset lives of 70 years for existing assets and 100 years for new assets in calculating the allowance for regulatory depreciation.⁹² For the 2009 determination, it considered SCA's proposal and sought WorleyParsons' advice before making its draft decision.

SCA's proposal

SCA proposed using an average asset life of 60 years for both existing and new assets for the purposes of calculating the allowance regulatory depreciation. It indicated that these asset lives are based on a review of its entire infrastructure assets, which it commissioned in 2007.⁹³

Discussions with SCA – and WorleyParsons analysis (see below) – indicate that the lower asset life for new assets is due the nature of its forward capital program, which includes assets with shorter lives than in the previous determination.

WorleyParsons' advice

IPART asked WorleyParsons to review asset lives in the SCA's RAB and forward capital program. WorleyParsons reviewed the asset lives SCA proposed and compared them to asset lives applied by other Australian water agencies and the Australian Taxation Office. WorleyParsons concluded that:

- For existing assets, an asset life of 60 years is appropriate.
- ▼ For new assets, an asset life of 60 years can be justified. However, it considers it more appropriate to use an asset life of 50 years to calculate regulatory depreciation, based on its assessment of the type of assets that make up SCA's current forward capital program. For future price determinations, WorleyParsons recommended that the asset life of new assets be reviewed again, as the composition of the forward capital program may change over time.⁹⁴

IPART's analysis and draft decision

Draft decision

10 IPART's draft decision is to calculate regulatory depreciation using asset lives of 60 years for both new and existing assets.

⁹² IPART, Sydney Water Corporation, Hunter Water Corporation, Sydney Catchment Authority – Prices of Water Supply, Wastewater and Stormwater Services, Final Determination and Report, June 2005, p 77.

⁹³ SCA submission, September 2008, 35.

⁹⁴ WorleyParsons, Review of Asset Life Determination – Sydney Catchment Authority (2009 Determination), January 2009, p 19.

IPART accepted SCA's proposal to calculate depreciation using asset lives of 60 years for both existing and new assets, given WorleyParsons' finding that these lives for existing and new assets were appropriate or could be justified.

In line with this draft decision and the straight-line depreciation method, SCA's existing and new assets were depreciated at a rate of approximately 1.67 per cent over the 2009 determination period. This means that, in general terms, IPART calculated the allowance for regulatory deprecation by multiplying the annual value of the RAB over the determination period by 1.67 per cent. This resulted in the annual allowances shown in Table 6.14 below.

Table 6.14 SCA allowance for depreciation (\$million, real 2008/09)

	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Allowance for regulatory depreciation	18.8	21.2	22.0	22.5

7 SCA's forecast water sales

Once IPART has decided on the revenue requirement for SCA, it sets SCA's prices taking into account this revenue requirement and forecast water sales and customer numbers.

Given SCA's role as primarily a water 'wholesaler' to Sydney Water and several Local Councils, forecasting its customer numbers is relatively straightforward. However, forecasting its water sales can be more difficult and requires significant analysis. This is due to the range of factors that can influence water demand and the unpredictability or volatility of some of these factors (eg, weather conditions).⁹⁵

If IPART's decision on forecast water sales is not reasonable, there is a risk that the prices it sets will lead to SCA significantly over or under recovering its required revenue, particularly as a large proportion of SCA's costs are fixed. If the volumetric prices are based on forecasts than turn out to be less than SCA's actual water sales, SCA will generate more than its revenue requirement. Conversely, if these prices are based on forecasts that turn out to be more than SCA's actual water sales, SCA will not generate sufficient revenue to cover its revenue requirement.

The section below summarises IPART's draft decisions on SCA's forecast water sales to Sydney Water, Local Councils and unfiltered and raw water customers. The following sections discuss these decisions in more detail.

7.1 Summary of IPART's decisions

Draft decision

11 IPART's draft decision is to use the forecast water sales listed in Table 7.1 below, for the purposes of calculating prices.

⁹⁵ Factors that can influence demand for bulk water include population growth, the structure and level of retail water prices, demand management programs implemented by the NSW Government and Sydney Water, weather conditions, the impact of water restrictions, and supply augmentation projects both within and beyond SCA's operations, such as the operation of Sydney Water's desalination plant.

Customer	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Sydney Water	507,214	445,632	458,828
Wingecarribee Shire Council	4,100	4,100	4,100
Shoalhaven City Council	80	80	80
Goulburn Mulwaree Council	0	1,800	1,800
Unfiltered water customers	185	185	185
Raw water customers	15	15	15
Total water sales	511,594	451,812	465,008

 Table 7.1 Draft decision on SCA's forecast water sales for the 2009 determination period (ML)

7.2 Forecast sales to Sydney Water

Table 7.2 compares SCA's actual sales to Sydney Water over the 2005 determination period to the forecast sales IPART used in making the 2005 determination. This shows that total SCA sales to Sydney Water over 2005/06 to 2008/09 have been about 12 per cent lower than forecast by IPART in 2005. SCA attributes this to the imposition of water restrictions as a result of the drought.

SCA sought the implementation of a consumption adjustment mechanism in this determination, on the grounds that there is considerable potential for continuing revenue volatility associated with consumption. As Chapter 3 discussed, IPART's draft decision is not to include such a mechanism. This is because uncertainty about water availability due to drought has lessened and, while there may be some future uncertainty about water demand from Sydney Water until the operating rules for the desalination plant have been released by Government, supply from the plant is relatively certain for its two-year proving period (from January 2010 to January 2012)⁹⁶, which comprises much of the 2009 determination period.

⁹⁶ Sydney Water's September 2007 submission (p 51) to its 2008 Determination states that: "After the plant is commissioned, there will be a 24-month proving period, during which the plant will predominately run at 100 per cent of its capacity. This will ensure that its warranted capacity and performance are achieved. The proving period will conclude five months before the end of the determination period [June 2012]." IPART also notes that the contract with the private builder/operator of the desalination plant provides for this two year proving period (see: *Sydney's Desalination Project, Project Documents, Volume 1 Design and Construct Contract*, available via www.sydneywater.com.au).

	2005/06	2006/07	2007/08	2008/09
IPART's decision: forecast water sales	557	567	587	578
SCA's actual sales to Sydney Water	522	503	475	513 a
% variation with IPART's decision	-6	-11	-19	-11
IPART's decision: cumulative forecast water sales	557	1,123	1,710	2,288
SCA's cumulative actual water sales	522	1,025	1,500	2,013
% variation with IPART's decision	-6	-9	-12	-12

Table 7.2 Comparison of SCA's actual sales to Sydney Water to IPART's decision on these sales in making the 2005 determination (GL)

a Based on forecast used in 2008 determination of Sydney Water's prices.

Source: SCA submission, September 2008, p 18.

Table 7.3 shows SCA's forecast water sales to Sydney Water over the 2009 determination period. This forecast is based on demand projections used by IPART at its 2008 determination of Sydney Water's prices, less forecast supplies from Sydney Water's desalination plant and its North Richmond supply facility.

For the 2008 Sydney Water determination, IPART accepted Sydney Water's forecast water sales, after considering the advice of its consultant, McLennan Magasanik Associates (MMA). MMA reviewed Sydney Water's forecasting methodology and its assumptions relating to the key drivers behind forecast water sales (eg, property numbers, water restrictions, demand management measures). MMA then recommended alternative forecast water sales based on its assessments. The difference between Sydney Water's and MMA's forecasts was not significant.

In estimating supply from Sydney Water's desalination plant, SCA has assumed that the plant will operate at 100 per cent for its first two years of operation and then at 50 per cent following this initial proving period. Forecast supplies from Sydney Water's North Richmond facility are based on historical data.

Table 7.3SCA's forecasts sales to Sydney Water over the 2009 determination period(kL)

	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Total Sydney Water supply	560,038,979	544,081,694	534,465,158
Sydney Water desalination plant supply	45,625,000	91,250,000	68,437,000
Sydney Water North Richmond supply	7,200,000	7,200,000	7,200,000
Forecast SCA supply to Sydney Water	507,213,979	445,631,694	458,828,158

Source: SCA submission, September 2008, p 38; and email from SCA, 29 September 2008.

7.3 SCA sales to Local Councils

Table 7.4 shows SCA's past and forecast sales to Wingecarribee and Shoalhaven Councils. It indicates that SCA expects a slight increase in average annual sales to these Councils over the 2009 determination period relative to the current determination period. Local Councils are forecast to account for about 0.8 per cent to 1.3 per cent of SCA's total sales over the determination period.

IPART notes that SCA has not provided forecast sales to Goulburn Mulwaree Council, even though there are plans to build a pipeline from SCA's Wingecarribee Reservoir to Goulburn to augment supply to the Goulburn community. SCA has indicated that the Wingecarribee to Goulburn pipeline will supply up to 1,800 ML of water per year and is due for completion in 2010/11.⁹⁷

Final year ending	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
Wingecarribee actual	3,447	3,337	3,594	4,221	4,042	-	-	-	-
Wingecarribee forecast		-	-	-	-	4,100	4,100	4,100	4,100
Shoalhaven actual	80	74	78	77	76	-	-	-	-
Shoalhaven forecast			-	-	-	80	80	80	80

Table 7.4	SCA's actual	and forecast	sales to l	Local Councils	: (ML)
	JCA J actual	and iorecast	Juies to i	Local Councils	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

Source: SCA submission, September 2008, p 42; and SCA 2008 Information Returns to IPART.

7.4 SCA sales to unfiltered and raw water customers

Table 7.5 shows SCA's actual and forecast sales to its raw and unfiltered water customers. These customers comprise approximately 0.04 per cent of SCA's total sales.

Final year ending	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
Raw water actual	26	4	23	9	-	-	-	-
Raw water forecast	-	-	-	-	15	15	15	15
Unfiltered water actual	265	274	245	-	-	-	-	-
Unfiltered water forecast	-	-	-	147	185	185	185	185

Table 7.5 SCA's actual and forecast sales to other customers (ML)

Source: SCA 2008 Information Returns to IPART.

⁹⁷ SCA submission, September 2008, p 43.

As SCA levies a fixed service charge on its unfiltered water customers, forecast customer connection numbers are required to model prices and revenue. SCA's 2008 Information Return to IPART forecast that it would have 56 unfiltered water customers throughout the 2009 determination period, in line with expected customer numbers in 2008/09. However, SCA has since advised that it had 57 unfiltered water customers at the start of 2008/09 and that it now has 58 customers, with an average service charge of \$424 per customer.⁹⁸ SCA's current mix of unfiltered water customers is shown in Table 7.6 below.

Meter size (mm)	Number of customers
20	29
25	5
30	0
32	2
40	3
50	6
80	2
100	1
150	0
200	1
300	1
No charge ^a	8
Total customers	58
Average revenue per customer	\$423.91

Table 7.6 SCA's unfiltered water customers as at January 2009

a No charge because pensioner or charity.

Source: Email from SCA to IPART, 22 January 2009.

7.5 IPART's analysis

IPART has accepted SCA's forecast sales to Sydney Water. These are largely based on IPART's 2008 assessment of Sydney Water's sales forecasts, adjusted for SCA's assumptions regarding the effect of Sydney Water's desalination plant and North Richmond supply facility on its demand. Although the operating regime of the desalination plant is yet to be established, IPART considers that SCA's assumption regarding the plant's operation over the three-year determination period is reasonable.

IPART has also accepted SCA's forecast sales to Wingecarribee Shire Council, Shoalhaven City Council and its raw and unfiltered water customers. While SCA has not provided detailed rationale for these forecasts, they appear reasonable in light of historical consumption levels.

⁹⁸ Email correspondence, SCA to IPART Secretariat, 22 January 2009.

For modelling purposes, IPART has also assumed that SCA will have 58 unfiltered water customers over the 2009 determination period, with an average service charge of \$424 per customer. This is in line with recent information provided by SCA (see section 7.4).

In the absence of forecasts provided by SCA, IPART has assumed that SCA will supply 1,800 ML per year to Goulburn Mulwaree Council from 2010/11 (see section 7.3).

8 Pricing decisions for SCA's water services

Using the draft decisions discussed above – including the decisions on SCA's target revenue and forecast water sales, plus the decision to set prices using a p-nought then a glide path approach – IPART has set draft prices for SCA's services over the 2009 determination period. The section below provides a summary of these draft pricing decisions. The following sections discuss the draft decisions on SCA's charges to Sydney Water, Local Councils and unfiltered and raw water customers in detail.

8.1 Summary of draft pricing decisions

Draft decision

12 IPART's draft decision is that SCA can charge the maximum prices shown in Table 8.1 for its services over the 2009 determination period.

Table 8.1 Draft decision on maximum prices SCA can charge for its services, 2009/10to 2011/12 (\$, real 2008/09)

SCA's charges	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Volumetric price to Sydney Water (\$/ML)	222.17	237.43	245.43	253.71
Fixed charge to Sydney Water (\$M)	67.21	71.82	74.24	76.75
Volumetric price to Local Councils (\$/ML)	210.05	224.48	232.04	239.87
Volumetric price for unfiltered water (\$/kL)	0.84	0.90	0.93	0.96
Volumetric price for raw water (\$/kL)	0.49	0.53	0.54	0.56
Fixed charge to unfiltered water customers – for 20 mm meters (\$)	75.00	80.15	82.85	85.65
Fixed charge to unfiltered water customers	(Meter	(Meter	(Meter	(Meter
– for meter size above 20 mm (\$)	size)2 x	size)2 x	size)2 x	size)2 x
	20mm	20mm	20mm	20mm
	charge/400	charge/400	charge/400	charge/400

As a result of the draft decision to use a p-nought approach to set prices in 2009/10, prices increase by a higher percentage (approximately 6.9 per cent for prices to Sydney Water and Local Councils⁹⁹) in this year than in the remaining two years of the determination period. As a result of the draft decision to use a glide path

⁹⁹ Volumetric prices for unfiltered and raw water listed in Table 8.1 do not increase by this exact amount, as they are rounded to the nearest cent (per kL).

approach to set prices in the second and third years, SCA's prices to Sydney Water and Local Councils increase by an equal, lower percentage in these years (about 3.4 per cent¹⁰⁰). The price levels have been set so that in the final year of determination period, SCA's charges are expected to generate revenue that is equal to the notional revenue requirement for that year.

8.2 Pricing decisions for charges to Sydney Water

In the 2005 determination, IPART changed the balance between SCA's fixed (per annum) charge and volumetric (per ML) charge to Sydney Water. It increased the relative size of the volumetric charge compared to the fixed charge, "so that approximately two-thirds of SCA's revenue will be obtained from volumetric charges by 2008/09."¹⁰¹ IPART noted that this will help achieve the objective of setting charges with reference to SCA's Long Run Marginal Cost of supply (LRMC),¹⁰² and "will send a pricing signal to Sydney Water that will help achieve the State Government's demand management objectives."¹⁰³

Prior to the 2005 determination, IPART had set SCA's prices so that it earned approximately equal revenue from its fixed and volumetric charges to Sydney Water.

8.2.1 SCA's submission

SCA's proposed prices are listed in Table 8.2. These prices would result in SCA generating approximately 80 per cent of its revenue from its fixed charge to Sydney Water, and only 20 per cent from its volumetric charge. This is a significant change from IPART's 2005 determination which, as discussed above, set prices so the volumetric charge generates around 65 per cent of revenue.

(\$2008/09)	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Fixed price (\$M)	67.21	172.43	161.52	161.67
Volumetric price (\$/ML)	222.17	75.59	78.69	78.76

 Table 8.2
 SCA's proposed prices for charges to Sydney Water (\$, real 2008/09)

Source: SCA submission, September 2008, p 41; and SCA 2008 Information Returns

SCA submitted that its proposed balance between the two charges would benefit SCA and Sydney Water, as the higher fixed charge would give them greater

¹⁰⁰ Ibid.

¹⁰¹ IPART, Sydney Water Corporation, Hunter Water Corporation, Sydney Catchment Authority – Prices of Water Supply, Wastewater and Stormwater Services, Final Determination and Report, September 2005, p 96.

¹⁰² In general terms, SCA's LRMC is calculated as the present value of the cost of SCA's next supply augmentation measure divided by the present value of the amount of water supplied by the measure.

¹⁰³ IPART, Sydney Water Corporation, Hunter Water Corporation, Sydney Catchment Authority – Prices of Water Supply, Wastewater and Stormwater Services, Final Determination and Report, September 2005, p 135.

revenue/cost certainty. It also submitted the lower volumetric charge would send a price signal to Sydney Water that reflects SCA's Short Run Marginal Cost of supply (SRMC) over the next determination period.

Further, in support of its pricing proposal, SCA argued that:

- The signals Sydney Water's prices send to its customers would be unaffected by the structure of SCA's prices over the 2009 determination period. This is because the cost pass-through mechanism in the 2008 Sydney Water determination specifies that variations in SCA's total charges to Sydney Water will be passed through only via Sydney Water's fixed water service charge to its customers.
- While Sydney Water has advised that it intends to run the desalination plant at full capacity for its first two years of operation:

...uncertainty over the volume of water that will be supplied to Sydney Water during and after its two year start up period is still a major concern for the SCA in terms of potential revenue variability. Trialling a fixed charge approach over the next price path would be a good way to minimise risk for the SCA, Sydney Water, and its customers during this period.¹⁰⁴

SCA also noted that setting its volumetric charge to Sydney Water with reference to its estimated LRMC would be problematic, for the following reasons:

- It is not possible to estimate SCA's LRMC accurately, as the scope, timing and decision to construct future SCA supply augmentation projects will be made by the Government in finalising the next version of the Metropolitan Water Plan (to be released in 2010).
- Given the magnitude of recent estimates of SCA's LRMC and its revenue requirement for the 2009 determination period, if its volumetric charge to Sydney Water was set to equal to its LRMC, SCA would over-recover its costs or require a negative fixed charge in order to avoid such over-recovery.¹⁰⁵

8.2.2 Stakeholder comments

Several stakeholders expressed concern with the SCA's proposal that a higher proportion of its revenue be generated through its fixed charge to Sydney Water.

The Independent Advisory Panel for the Sydney Metropolitan Water Plan (the Panel) submitted that in its view, SCA's proposed 80 per cent fixed and 20 per cent volumetric split has the potential to create perverse outcomes when Sydney Water makes choices between alternative water sources – particularly in the future, with a likely more complex portfolio of potential water sources. It also pointed out that if SCA's proposed split is adopted, Sydney will have a regime in which retail customers are receiving price signals guided by LRMC but wholesale water customers would receive price signals that more closely reflect the SRMC.

¹⁰⁴ SCA submission, September 2008, pp 40-41.

¹⁰⁵ Ibid, pp 38-41.

The Panel put the view that SCA's volumetric charge should generally be based on its LRMC of supply, and this LRMC should be estimated with reference to supply augmentation projects required over a 30-year planning horizon. However, the Panel also recognised that a feature of LRMC is that it can fluctuate sharply – falling immediately after a significant augmentation has been made to capacity; and rising steadily towards the next augmentation. The Panel considered that this may require some 'smoothing' of prices.

In addition, the Panel suggested that the estimated opportunity cost of desalination plant water could be used as a guide for setting SCA's volumetric charge. According to the Panel, this cost could be calculated as the variable operating costs of the desalination plant *plus* the 'cost' of lost airspace¹⁰⁶ in the dams as a result of running the desalination plant.¹⁰⁷

Jemena Limited also submitted that it would be a regressive step to lower the volumetric charge, especially to the extent proposed by SCA. Jemena put the view that this would compromise the economics of conservation measures, such as network leakage reduction, which could be justified in part by higher volumetric charges. Jemena supported an option whereby SCA charges Sydney Water a fixed price for a given maximum quantity of water ("something less than the sustainable yield"), with any consumption above this amount charged at a volumetric price set with reference to an estimate of SCA's LRMC. In recognition of the complexity in determining the LRMC, Jemena also proposed an alternative approach whereby the volumetric charge is set equivalent to the marginal cost of water from Sydney Water's desalination plant.¹⁰⁸

The Total Environment Centre (TEC) submitted that IPART should continue the process of reducing the reliance on fixed charges in favour of volumetric charges. TEC considered that SCA's proposal to increase its fixed charge would reduce the resource conservation signal to Sydney Water and "reverse the price reform progress made in the previous determination." TEC pointed out that Sydney Water has the capacity to respond to a volumetric price signal by investing in demand management and recycling initiatives.

TEC also submitted that Sydney Water should not exceed the demand management targets in its Operating Licence. It recommended a 'step pricing' approach to any water supplied by SCA that would place Sydney Water above these demand management targets. It argued that Sydney Water should not be allowed to pass this additional cost onto customers, and that any additional revenue received by SCA from 'step pricing' should be dedicated to environmental research and restoration.¹⁰⁹

¹⁰⁶ The Panel's submission (p 4) mentions "cheap water that can be captured when there is more airspace in storages" and "the benefits and costs of dam spills".

¹⁰⁷ Independent Advisory Panel for the Sydney Metropolitan Water Plan submission, October 2008, pp 1-5.

¹⁰⁸ Jemena Limited submission, October 2008, pp 1-2.

¹⁰⁹ Total Environment Centre submission, October 2008, pp 2-3.

Sydney Water noted that SCA's proposal would transfer significant risk from SCA to Sydney Water. It put the view that if SCA's proposed price structure is adopted, there would need to be an adjustment at the next determination of Sydney Water's prices for extra costs incurred by Sydney Water over the course of the 2009 determination period, as well as recognition of increased risk to Sydney Water in future determinations.¹¹⁰

8.2.3 IPART analysis

IPART considered a number of options for SCA's charges to Sydney Water, including those proposed by SCA and other stakeholders.

IPART's decision for the draft determination is to increase SCA's fixed and volumetric charges by equal proportion, using a p-nought and then glide path approach to meet SCA's revenue requirement. Its draft pricing decisions on these charges are shown in Table 8.3 below.

SCA's charges	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Volumetric price to Sydney Water (\$/ML)	222.17	237.43	245.43	253.71
Fixed charge to Sydney Water (\$M)	67.21	71.82	74.24	76.75
Year on year % increase in charges		6.9%	3.4%	3.4%
Proportion of revenue generated by fixed charge	37.1%	37.4%	40.4%	39.7%

Table 8.3 SCA prices to Sydney Water 2009/10 to 2011/12 (\$, real 2008/09)

This pricing approach:

- ▼ increases SCA's current fixed and volumetric charges to Sydney Water by about 14.2 per cent over 2008/09 (current prices) to 2011/12 (the last year of the upcoming determination period)
- provides a volumetric signal above SCA's SRMC (which is about \$70 per ML¹¹¹), but below estimates of its LRMC¹¹² and the desalination plant's marginal operating cost (estimated to be at least \$422 per ML¹¹³)
- approximately maintains the current ratio between the revenue generated from the volumetric charge and from the fixed charge
- maintains the current distribution of sales risk between SCA and Sydney Water.

¹¹⁰ Sydney Water submission, October 2008, p 2.

¹¹¹ SCA's supplementary submission (December 2008, p 1) reports that SCA's SRMC is estimated at \$0.07 per kL, "based on the current cost of water pumping in the Shoalhaven Scheme."

¹¹² Based on indicative estimates of the cost and yield (kL) of SCA's next likely supply augmentation project (a form of a Shoalhaven transfers project), IPART's preliminary estimate is that SCA's LRMC is at least \$1.20 per kL.

¹¹³ Sydney Water's September 2007 submission (p 51) to its 2008 Determination states that the annual operating costs of running the desalination plant at 250ML/day are about \$55 million and that about 70 per cent of these costs vary with output.

IPART considers that this approach is a reasonable 'holding' option for the 2009 determination, given that SCA's operating environment will be in a state of some transition during the determination period. One of the primary reasons for this is that the Metropolitan Water Plan is currently being updated (scheduled to be released 2010). The updated plan will drive SCA's expenditure and operating requirements in the future. Another reason is the commissioning of the desalination plant and development of the plant's operating rules (also due to occur in 2010).

IPART does not favour SCA's proposal for two main reasons:

- First, it would result in a significant decrease to SCA's volumetric charge, when this charge may have to be increased at future price determinations (eg, to signal the cost of SCA's supply augmentation requirements or the scarcity value of water in its storages). This would lead to significant price volatility between determination periods.
- Second, the volumetric charge would not provide any signal in relation to future (or longer term) SCA supply augmentation requirements.

Furthermore, while SCA has argued for a lower volumetric charge on that grounds that there is significant uncertainty over the volume of water that will be supplied to Sydney Water from the desalination plant, IPART notes that this uncertainty should only exist in the last five to six months of the 2009 determination period, as Sydney Water has advised that it intends to run the plant at full capacity for its first two years of operation (January 2010 to January 2012).¹¹⁴

In terms of other pricing options examined, IPART is particularly interested in developing a form of 'scarcity pricing', as a complement to (not replacement for) water restrictions. Under such an approach, SCA's volumetric charge to Sydney Water would vary with dam levels and the relative scarcity of SCA's available water supply. This may or may not be linked to a form of scarcity pricing for Sydney Water's customers – although if scarcity pricing is passed through to retail customers, IPART envisages that it would only apply to discretionary levels of water consumption.

A form of scarcity pricing would have the advantage of recognising that as SCA water becomes more (or less) scarce, the opportunity cost of using water for immediate consumption increases (or decreases). In turn, this may help:

- signal to Sydney Water the points in time when it is more appropriate to draw on alternative sources (such as desalination)
- provide incentives to Sydney Water to invest in additional water conservation and demand management measures, where efficient

¹¹⁴ Sydney Water's September 2007 submission (p 51) to its 2008 Determination states that: "After the plant is commissioned, there will be a 24-month proving period, during which the plant will predominately run at 100 per cent of its capacity. This will ensure that its warranted capacity and performance are achieved. The proving period will conclude five months before the end of the determination period [June 2012]."

signal to water consumers the scarcity value of water (meaning that they may have an incentive to reduce discretionary consumption when dam levels are low)
 if this price is ultimately passed through to these consumers by Sydney Water.

However, IPART has decided not to implement scarcity pricing as part of this determination. This is because IPART sees merit in examining this pricing option as part of a concurrent review of SCA's and Sydney Water's prices. Such a review could examine the merits and form of a workable scarcity pricing model suitable to the Sydney context, including consideration of its role and objectives, whether it should be applied to retail as well as wholesale prices, and the potential effects of this form of pricing.

IPART has also decided not to implement a form of scarcity pricing at this time because development and implementation of this option should be informed by reviews that are due to be completed during the 2009 determination period, including review of the current restriction regime (a new regime is scheduled to be introduced in 2010¹¹⁵), release of the updated Metropolitan Water Plan (due 2010), and release of the operating rules for the desalination plant (due 2010).

IPART's preliminary views on the characteristics of a potential scarcity pricing model are outlined in Appendix F. IPART seeks stakeholder comments on this pricing option.

8.3 Pricing decisions for charges to Local Councils

SCA currently levies Local Councils (Shoalhaven City Council and Wingecarribee Shire Council) a volumetric charge only.

Over the 2005 determination period, SCA's price to Local Councils has been increasing towards the level of SCA's volumetric charge to Sydney Water. The 2005 determination set SCA's prices to Local Councils at \$126.88 per ML in 2005/06 (\$2005/06), to transition up to \$192.27 per ML by 2008/09, which equates to a real price increase of 51.6 per cent. This compares to SCA's volumetric charges to Sydney Water of \$155.34 per ML and \$203.27 per ML (\$2005/06) in 2005/06 and 2008/09, respectively, which resulted in a real price increase of 30.9 per cent over the 2005 determination period. In its final report on the 2005 determination, IPART noted that this increase to Local Council prices over the determination period reflected its decision that:

¹¹⁵ According to the 2007 Progress Report on the NSW Government's Metropolitan Water Plan (p 10), "As part of the update of the Metropolitan Water Plan, an improved drought restrictions regime for the next drought will be developed to take account of the experiences and community responses from this drought and new developments such as the desalination plant."

...water usage charges for Wingecarribee Shire Council and Shoalhaven City Council should be increased in an orderly manner so that their water usage charges reach a similar level to Sydney Water's charges in the next determination period.¹¹⁶

8.3.1 SCA's submission

SCA proposed that its volumetric charge to the Wingecarribee Shire Council and Shoalhaven City Council increase by the change in the CPI only. It also proposed its charge to Goulburn Mulwaree Council be the same as the other Councils, once the SCA commences supply to Goulburn.¹¹⁷ SCA's proposed prices to Local Councils are listed in Table 8.4 below.

Table 8.4 SCA's proposed prices to Local Councils (\$, real 2008/09)

	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Volumetric price (\$/ML)	210.1	210.1	210.1	210.1

Source: SCA submission, September 2008, pp 42-43.

8.3.2 Stakeholder comments

Shoalhaven City Council submitted that SCA's proposal to increase its price to the Local Councils by the change in the CPI is reasonable.¹¹⁸

Goulburn Mulwaree Council stated that it would be concerned if prices increased by more than the change in the CPI. It would also oppose the introduction of a fixed charge – as there will be long periods when it is not required to purchase water from the SCA (because it will only need to do so to supplement its supply during times of drought).¹¹⁹

Wingecarribee Shire Council submitted that SCA's current charge to it should be reduced. It argued that, as its demand can be met from water collected from the Wingecarribee River Catchment, the transfer system from the Shoalhaven River to Metropolitan Sydney and the rest of Sydney's bulk water supply are not relevant for supplying the Wingecarribee Shire. Therefore it considered that only a 'small fraction' of the SCA's total operating costs and infrastructure relate to the supply of water to Wingecarribee Shire Council's treatment plant.

¹¹⁶ IPART, Sydney Water Corporation, Hunter Water Corporation, Sydney Catchment Authority – Prices of Water Supply, Wastewater and Stormwater Services, Final Determination and Report, September 2005, p 102.

¹¹⁷ A pipeline that will supply water from Wingecarribee Dam to Goulburn Mulwaree Council is due for completion in 2010/11.

¹¹⁸ Shoalhaven City Council submission, October 2008.

¹¹⁹ Goulburn Mulwaree Council submission, October 2008.

Wingecarribee Shire Council also noted that it is at least partly responsible for funding major sewage plant upgrades and sewerage works, which impose a significant cost on the Council and its residents (via higher sewerage charges), but which benefit Sydney as a whole by helping to protect the drinking water catchment.

In addition, Wingecarribee Shire Council pointed out that SCA's price has risen significantly since 2003/04, and that has had a 'marked' impact on the Council's charges to its customers, which it claims are already significantly higher than the state average.¹²⁰

8.3.3 IPART's analysis

IPART's draft decision is to increase all SCA's charges by equal proportion, using a p-nought and then glide path approach to recover SCA's costs. This means that from their current level in 2008/09 to the final year of the 2009 determination period (2011/12), SCA's prices to Local Councils would increase by approximately 14.2 per cent. These prices are shown in Table 8.5 below.

Table 8.5 Draft decision on SCA's prices to Local Councils (\$, real 2008/09)

	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Volumetric price (\$/ML)	210.05	224.48	232.04	239.87

This approach increases prices to Local Councils, in line with SCA's increasing costs and revenue requirement, but it still maintains a relatively small price differential between SCA's volumetric prices to Local Councils and to Sydney Water (about 5.8 per cent per annum throughout the determination period).

IPART notes that due to the integrated nature of SCA's system and because most of its costs are fixed, SCA has advised that it is difficult or almost impossible to separate out its costs of supplying each Council with any reasonable degree of accuracy.¹²¹

However, in response to the Councils' concerns about the level of SCA's prices, including the points raised in Wingecarribee Shire Council's submission, IPART notes the following:

- as with Sydney Water, Local Councils benefit from the dispersed yet integrated nature of SCA's supply system, through enhanced security and reliability of supply
- SCA's operating costs over 2009/10 to 2011/12 do not include provision for the cost of pumping water from the Shoalhaven to Sydney

¹²⁰ Wingecarribee Shire Council submission, October 2008, pp 1-12.

¹²¹ This is shown by the broad cost range (\$150 per ML to \$1,000 ML) quoted in SCA's supplementary submission, December 2008, p 3.

- unlike Sydney Water, Local Councils are not faced with a fixed charge from SCA, and their volumetric charge remains below that of Sydney Water's usage price for SCA water
- SCA's charge to Local Councils also remains well below estimates of SCA's overall average cost of water supply which, taking into account SCA's forecast costs and total water sales over 2009/10 to 2011/12, is estimated to be between about \$400 and \$430 per ML (2008/09).

8.4 Pricing decisions for charges to unfiltered and raw water customers

SCA supplies water to about 65 retail customers, which account for approximately 0.04 per cent of its water sales. Currently, the water supplied to retail customers is classified into two categories:

- raw water ie, water that has not been managed in any way
- unfiltered water ie, water that has been managed for quality, whether by chemical treatment or otherwise (eg, source selection), but not treated at a water filtration plant.

These retail customers have direct off-takes from SCA's pipelines, canals and storages. Raw water customers draw directly from SCA's storages. Unfiltered water customers draw from SCA's supply conduits, prior to the water reaching a filtration plant. SCA currently has approximately 58 unfiltered water and 7 raw water customers.

Under IPART's 2005 determination:

- ▼ Raw water customers only pay a volumetric charge. This was set at \$0.45 per kL in 2005/06 (\$2005/06), to be maintained in real terms throughout the determination period. This charge is \$0.49 in \$2008/09.122
- Unfiltered water customers currently pay:
 - A volumetric charge set at \$0.77 per kL in 2005/06 (\$2005/06), which was maintained in real terms throughout the determination period. This charge is \$0.84 per kL in \$2008/09.¹²³
 - A fixed service availability charge based on meter size. For each meter size, the fixed charge was held constant throughout the determination period.¹²⁴ For example, the charge for a 20mm meter was \$75.00 in 2005/06 and is still \$75.00 in 2008/09.¹²⁵

IPART notes that SCA's charges to unfiltered and raw water customers have remained essentially unchanged since 2000.

¹²² SCA submission, September 2008, p 43.

¹²³ Ibid.

¹²⁴ The 2005 Determination provided that only 75 per cent of this charge was to be levied in the first year of the determination period (2005/06).

¹²⁵ Ibid.

8 Pricing decisions for SCA's water services

8.4.1 SCA's submission

SCA proposed that its unfiltered water prices be fully aligned with Sydney Water's¹²⁶ unfiltered water prices.¹²⁷ It pointed out that, although the fixed charges for SCA's and Sydney Water's unfiltered water customers are 'practically identical' for 2008/09¹²⁸, the 2008 Sydney Water determination resulted in a Sydney Water volumetric charge for unfiltered water of \$1.31 per kL in 2008/09¹²⁹, compared to SCA's current charge of \$0.84 per kL. According to SCA:

This 36 percent disparity in prices for the same product results in neighbouring property holders wanting to switch from Sydney Water to SCA connection.¹³⁰

SCA also proposed that, over the 2009 determination period, raw water customers' usage charge be transitioned up to align with that of unfiltered water customers.¹³¹

SCA's supplementary submission noted that:

When the SCA was established in 1999, it inherited a number of other smaller 'retail' customers. In its original 2000 price determination for the SCA, IPART recognised the need to align prices between Sydney Water's customers and the SCA's retail customers. The SCA's approach to pricing for these retail customers has since been to essentially maintain the status quo. In making its price determination for the SCA's retail customers in 2000, IPART:

- took into account the fact that when normal reticulated water supplies are available from Sydney Water, customers are required to disconnect from the major transportation conduits of the SCA and reconnect to Sydney Water's 'normal' distribution mains
- sought to avoid price shocks that this might generate to the SCA's customers (when transferring to Sydney Water's reticulation)
- maintained the signal in relation to demand management and efficient resource use, to the SCA's retail customers, similar to that for Sydney Water's customers.

Since then however, SCA and Sydney Water pricing for unfiltered water have diverged.¹³²

¹²⁶ Sydney Water currently sells unfiltered water to a range of customers, including large industrial customers such as BlueScope Steel in Wollongong.

¹²⁷ SCA submission, September 2008, p 43.

¹²⁸ In 2008/09, for a 20mm fixed connection, charges for Sydney Water customers are \$75.70 per annum.

¹²⁹ SWC's unfiltered water charge is then set to transition up to \$1.63 per kL by 2011/12.

 $^{^{130}}$ SCA submission, September 2008, p 43.

¹³¹ Ibid.

¹³² SCA supplementary submission, December 2008, p 4.
8.4.2 IPART's analysis

As outlined above, IPART's decision for the draft determination is to increase all of SCA's charges by equal proportion, using a p-nought and then glide path approach to recover SCA's costs. This means that SCA's prices to unfiltered and raw water customers would increase by approximately 14 per cent over 2008/09 to 2011/12. These prices are shown in Table 8.6 below.

SCA's charges	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Volumetric price for raw water (\$/kL)	0.49	0.53	0.54	0.56
Volumetric price for unfiltered water (\$/kL)	0.84	0.90	0.93	0.96
Fixed charge to unfiltered water customers – for 20 mm meters (\$)	75.00	80.15	82.85	85.65
Fixed charge to unfiltered water customers – for meter size above 20 mm (\$)	(Meter size)2 x 20mm charge/400	(Meter size)2 x 20mm charge/400	(Meter size)2 x 20mm charge/400	(Meter size)2 x 20mm charge/400

Table 8.6 Draft decision on charges for unfiltered and raw water (\$, real 2008/09)

IPART considers that the benefits of this pricing option are:

- SCA's increase in revenue requirement (costs) is shared proportionally across all charges (and customers)
- unfiltered and raw water prices increase, as would be expected to occur given SCA's increased revenue requirement and the trend of all other water charges, but not to the significant extent proposed by SCA
- this appears to be a reasonable holding option, until further work is done on the cost of servicing SCA and Sydney Water's unfiltered and raw water customers.

IPART decided not to adopt SCA's proposal for the following reasons:

- it would involve significant increases in price for a small number of customers, and SCA was unable to provide sufficient justification for these price increases on the basis of cost
- this significant price increase would occur at a time when SCA's other customers face only relatively moderate price rises
- unfiltered and raw water customers account for only a small fraction of total demand for SCA's water - therefore, these prices would make an insignificant or negligible contribution to SCA's revenue, as well as an negligible impact on SCA's water supply balance.

IPART has sought detailed information from SCA on the costs of supplying its raw and unfiltered water customers. SCA has not been able to supply this information. Establishing prices that reflect the costs of providing the service is a key principle adopted by IPART in setting regulated prices. One outcome of the 2008 Sydney Water determination was the agreement of Sydney Water to participate in a review

8 Pricing decisions for SCA's water services

of the cost of supplying unfiltered water to its customers in preparation for the next price determination. SCA has volunteered to also review its costs of supplying raw and unfiltered water in preparation for the next determination.¹³³ IPART considers that SCA should undertake this.

¹³³ SCA supplementary submission, December 2008, p 5.

9 | Implications of draft pricing decisions

In making its draft determination, IPART had regard to all the matters it is required to consider under the IPART Act. (Appendix A lists these matters in full and indicates where each matter is discussed in this report.) IPART is satisfied that the draft determination achieves an appropriate balance between these matters, particularly the needs and interests of water customers, SCA, the broader community and the environment.

The sections below discuss IPART's considerations and analysis in relation to several of the matters including the implications of its draft pricing decisions on water customers, SCA's service standards, SCA's financial position and shareholders, general inflation and the environment.

9.1 Implications for water customers

In reaching its draft pricing decisions, IPART considered the implications of these prices for Sydney Water and its customers, the three Local Councils supplied by SCA and their customers, and SCA's retail (raw and unfiltered water) customers. As noted in Chapter 1, the determination primarily affects Sydney Water's and the Local Councils' water customers, as these businesses can generally pass SCA price rises onto their customers. IPART also analysed the contribution of the Minister for Water's section 16A direction to the price increases under the draft determination.

9.1.1 Implications for Sydney Water and its customers

IPART's 2008 Sydney Water determination included a 'pass-through' mechanism that allows Sydney Water to adjust its charges to reflect changes in its bulk water costs as a result of the 2009 determination of SCA's prices.

The formula Sydney Water must use to adjust its charges is set out in the 2008 Sydney Water determination. For that determination, IPART set the level of the variable water usage charge so it reflects the Long Run Marginal Cost (LRMC) of water supply. It then set the level of fixed water service charges to generate the difference between Sydney Water's annual revenue requirement and the expected annual revenue from usage charges. Therefore, the formula requires that any adjustments to Sydney Water's retail prices to account for changes in SCA's prices are to be made to the fixed water service charges.

Table 9.1 shows the increases in Sydney Water's current schedule of water service charges that would occur as a result of this draft SCA determination. These increases are relatively small. For example, for a typical residential customer (with a 20 mm meter), the water service charge would increase by \$6.59 in 2009/10 (taking the charge from \$90.96 to \$97.55 per annum) and by \$16.41 in 2011/12 (taking the charge from \$116.39 to \$132.80 per annum). In percentage terms, Sydney Water's water service charges would increase by 7.2 per cent in 2009/10, 9.0 per cent in 2010/11 and 14.1 per cent in 2011/12 as a result of the draft determination of SCA's prices.

Meter size (mm)	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
20	6.59	9.56	16.41
25	10.30	14.94	25.65
30	14.83	21.51	36.93
32	16.87	24.48	42.02
40	26.37	38.24	65.65
50	41.20	59.76	102.58
65	69.62	100.99	173.37
80	105.46	152.98	262.61
100	164.79	239.03	410.33
150	370.77	537.82	923.25
200	659.15	956.12	1641.34
% increase to all service charges	7.2%	9.0%	14.1%

 Table 9.1 Increases in Sydney Water's water service charge schedule as a result of the draft SCA determination (\$, real 2008/09)

Table 9.2 shows the increases in combined water and sewerage bills for a variety of customers that resulted from IPART's 2008 Sydney Water determination, and the additional increases that would result under the draft SCA determination. It indicates that the 2008 Sydney Water determination resulted in significant increases in average water and sewerage bills over 2007/08 to 2011/12, and that the draft SCA determination would result in further but relatively minor increases.

For example, for residential households that use 200kL of water per annum, the 2008 Sydney Water determination increased the average water and sewerage bill from \$752 in 2007/08 to \$997 in 2011/12, an increase of about 33 per cent over four years. The draft SCA determination would increase this average bill by a further \$16 (or around 1.6 per cent) in 2011/12, taking it from \$997 to \$1,013.

·					
Average water & sewerage bills	2007/08	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Res: 20mm meter & 100 kL pa					
Bill - 2008 SWC Det.ª	615	717	753	784	804
Year on year increase		16.6%	5.0%	4.1%	2.6%
Bill – 2009 SCA Det.			760	794	820
Increase to bill from 2009 SCA Det.			0.9%	1.2%	2.0%
Res: 20mm meter & 200 kL pa					
Bill - 2008 SWC Det.ª	752	878	933	974	997
Year on year increase		16.8%	6.3%	4.4%	2.4%
Bill – 2009 SCA Det.			940	984	1,013
Increase to bill from 2009 SCA Det.			0.7%	1.0%	1.6%
Non-Res: 20mm meter & 300 kL pa					
Bill - 2008 SWC Det. a	890	1,039	1,113	1,164	1,190
Year on year increase		16.7%	7.1%	4.6%	2.2%
Bill – 2009 SCA Det.			1,120	1,174	1,206
Increase to bill from 2009 SCA Det.			0.6%	0.8%	1.4%
Non-Res: 32mm meter & 1,000 kL pa					
Bill - 2008 SWC Det. a	3,130	3,581	3,816	3,969	4,043
Year on year increase		14.4%	6.6%	4.0%	1.9%
Bill – 2009 SCA Det.			3,833	3,993	4,085
Increase to bill from 2009 SCA Det.			0.4%	0.6%	1.0%
Non-Res: 80mm meter &10,000 kL pa					
Bill - 2008 SWC Det. a	31,519	35,408	37,584	38,920	39,494
Year on year increase		12.3%	6.1%	3.6%	1.5%
Bill – 2009 SCA Det.			37,689	39,073	39,757
Increase to bill from 2009 SCA Det.			0.3%	0.4%	0.7%

Table 9.2Increases to average water and sewerage bills in Sydney as a result of the
2008 Sydney Water determination and the draft SCA determination (\$,
real 2008/09)

^a Source: IPART, *Review of prices for Sydney Water Corporation's water, sewerage, stormwater and other services, From 1 July 2008, Determination Final Report, June 2008, pp131-133.*

To put these increases into context, Table 9.3 shows the average water and sewerage bills for Sydney Water customers since 1996/97, and compares these bills to average earnings in NSW. This comparison indicates that, while average water and sewerage bills have increased significantly since 2007/08, they have been a relatively constant proportion of average earnings since 1996/97. Table 9.3 also shows that the draft SCA determination would not have a significant impact on average water and sewerage bills as proportion of average earnings.

Year	Av bill (\$2008/09) ^a	Av earnings NSW (\$2008/09)	Av bill as a % of av earnings	Av bill from this draft det.	Av bill from this draft det. as a % of earnings
1996/97	689	43,107	1.6%		
1997/98	714	43,897	1.6%		
1998/99	725	44,999	1.6%		
1999/00	727	46,176	1.6%		
2000/01	708	45,798	1.5%		
2001/02	707	45,907	1.5%		
2002/03	699	46,918	1.5%		
2003/04	703	47,872	1.5%		
2004/05	706	48,781	1.4%		
2005/06	739	49,180	1.5%		
2006/07	750	49,689	1.5%		
2007/08	752	50,434	1.5%		
2008/09	878	51,191	1.7%		
2009/10	933	51,958	1.8%	940	1.8%
2010/11	974	52,738	1.8%	984	1.9%
2011/12	997	53,529	1.9%	1,013	1.9%

Table 9.3	Average Sydney water and sewerage bills as a proportion of average
	earnings in NSW, 1996/97 to 2011/12

^a Annual water and sewerage bill for a customer that consumes 200kL per annum, from IPART's *Review of prices for Sydney Water Corporation's water, sewerage, stormwater and other services, From 1 July 2008, Determination and Final Report,* June 2008, p 132.

b Annual average gross (before tax) earnings of all employees. Average of four quarters ending August 2008. Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, *Average Weekly Earnings Australia, 6302.0*, November 2007.

Note: Average earnings are assumed to increase at 1.5% per annum from 2006/07 levels (in real terms) from 2007/08 onwards.

Source: IPART, Review of prices for Sydney Water Corporation's water, sewerage, stormwater and other services, From 1 July 2008, Determination and Final Report, June 2008, p 132.

IPART also considered the impact of the draft SCA determination on potentially vulnerable customers (eg, those on low incomes who may be more affected by price increases). IPART notes that eligible pensioners currently receive rebates on their Sydney Water service charges. At present, these rebates are 100 per cent of the water service charge (subject to a maximum of \$18.94 per quarter, for 2008/09), 83 per cent of the sewerage service charge and 50 per cent of the stormwater service charge.¹³⁴ This means that, provided Sydney Water's pensioner rebate remains at 100 per cent of the water service charge (for metered residential properties and 20mm meter connections), this determination of SCA's prices will have no affect on 'eligible' pensioners' water bills.

¹³⁴ Sydney Water, Rebates and social policy 2008-09, www.sydneywater.com.au/Publications/FactSheets/RebatesAndSocialPolicy.pdf#Page=1, accessed 17 February 2009.

For other potentially vulnerable customers, Sydney Water's current social program includes several measures to mitigate the impact of prices, including:

- extended payment arrangements Sydney Water offers customers flexible extended payment terms and a range of payment options to help them manage their bills
- No Interest Loan Scheme Sydney Water supports this scheme, which involves a number of accredited community agencies providing loans to help customers purchase water efficient appliances
- Payment Assistance Scheme under this scheme, participating welfare agencies assess the financial position of customers and provide payment vouchers to customers in financial difficulty.¹³⁵

9.1.2 Implications for Local Councils and their customers

IPART's draft determination will increase prices to Local Councils by approximately 14.2 per cent from 2008/09 (current prices) to 2011/12 (the end of the 2009 determination period).

Wingecarribee Shire Council, the largest of SCA's Council customers, has advised that the current average household water bill for its customers is approximately \$380 per annum, and that the proportion of this bill attributable to bulk water costs is about \$47.50 (12.5 per cent).¹³⁶ Using these figures, Table 9.4 shows that the draft determination would increase a typical household water bill from \$380 in 2008/09 to approximately \$387 in 2011/12, a rise of about 1.8 per cent. This is equivalent to an increase of around 0.7 per cent for a typical household's combined water and sewerage bill.

IPART expects that impact of the draft determination on Shoalhaven City Council's water customers should be significantly less than this, as Shoalhaven is expected to purchase a much lower proportion of its water from SCA. Data from the Water Services Association of Australia (WSAA) indicates that Wingecarribee Shire Council purchased approximately 70 to 80 per cent of its bulk water from SCA over 2005/06 and 2006/07, while Shoalhaven City Council purchased about 0.5 per cent of its water from SCA over the same period.¹³⁷

¹³⁵www.sydneywater.com.au/CustomerServices/CommunityAssistance/FinancialAssistance/#Fa ctSheets, accessed 17 February 2009.

¹³⁶ Email from Michael Brearley, Director Technical Services, Wingecarribee Shire Council, 5 December 2008.

¹³⁷ Water Services Association of Australia, National Performance Report 2006-2007, urban water utilities, p 139 and 156.

The impact of the draft determination on Goulburn Mulwaree Council's water customers is likely to be similar to the impact on Wingecarribee Shire Council's customers. SCA is forecast to supply Goulburn Mulwaree Council with approximately 1,800 ML of water per year from 2010/11, which equates to about 55 to 75 per cent of its annual supply, depending on water restriction levels.¹³⁸

IPART also notes that, with State Government support, Local Councils offer pensioner rebates and other social programs designed to protect vulnerable customers.

Table 9.4 Impact of draft determination on Wingecarribee Shire Council water bills(\$, real 2008/09)

	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Typical household water bill	380 a	383	385	387
Increase relative to 2008/09		0.9%	1.3%	1.8%
Typical household water and sewerage bill	920 b	923	925	927
Increase relative to 2008/09		0.4%	0.5%	0.7%

a Email, Wingecarribee Shire Council to IPART, 5 December 2008.

b This figure is from Water Services Association of Australia, National Performance Report 2006-2007, urban water utilities, p 158, indexed up to \$2008/09.

9.1.3 Implications for unfiltered and raw water customers

As noted in section 8.4, SCA supplies water to about 65 retail customers, comprising 58 unfiltered water customers and 7 raw water customers. Around a third of the SCA's retail customers consume more than 1,000kL a year and are typically industrial customers.¹³⁹ However, SCA also provides raw and unfiltered water to government departments and agencies; religious orders, schools and scouting bodies; agricultural producers; and domestic users.¹⁴⁰

Table 9.5 shows the usage distribution of SCA's raw and unfiltered water customers for $2007/08.^{141}$

¹³⁸ Unrestricted demand for water in Goulburn would be 3,340 ML per annum in 2008 (or 9.15 ML per day) for a year of average rainfall (source: Goulburn Mulwaree Council's 2009 *Goulburn Water Supply Strategy Review*, p 3). However, Goulburn's daily average water consumption in February 2009 was about 6.85 ML per day (source: http://goulburn.local-e.nsw.gov.au/files/8644/File/9Feb09-15Feb09.pdf, accessed 17 February, 2009).

¹³⁹ SCA supplementary submission, December 2008, p 4.

¹⁴⁰ IPART, 2003, Sydney Catchment Authority Prices of Water Supply Services – Mid Term review of price path from 1 October 2000 to 30 June 2005, p 38.

¹⁴¹ SCA's 2008 Information Return to IPART reports that it had a total of 58 retail customers in 2007/08 (comprised of 3 raw water customers and 55 unfiltered water customers). This Information Return forecasts 7 raw water customers over the 2009 determination period, and recent information provided by SCA suggests it now services 58 unfiltered water customers (email from SCA to IPART, 22 January, 2009).

kL per annum	Number of customers
0	9
100	6
200	10
300	5
400	2
500	6
750	2
1000	10
>5000	8
Total	58

 Table 9.5
 Usage distribution of SCA's retail customers (2007/08)

Source: SCA supplementary submission, p 4.

Under IPART's draft determination, SCA's raw and unfiltered water customers' water bills would increase by around 14 per cent over the determination period. For raw water customers, this increase comprises an 8.2 per cent increase in 2009/10, a 1.9 per cent increase in 2010/11 and a 3.7 per cent increase in 2011/12. For an unfiltered water customer consuming 200kL per annum, with a 20 mm meter, this increase comprises a 7.1 per cent increase in its water bill in 2009/10, a 3.3 per cent increase in 2010/11 and a further 3.3 per cent increase in 2011/12.

IPART notes that SCA's raw and unfiltered water charges have remained essentially the same since 2000. IPART considers that this draft determination achieves an appropriate balance between ensuring that raw and unfiltered water customers adequately contribute to the recovery of SCA's costs, while also protecting them from a significant price shock.

IPART also notes that SCA undertakes a limited range of social programs designed to assist vulnerable retail customers. These programs are a continuation of those Sydney Water used to undertake prior to the transfer of bulk water responsibilities to SCA. SCA has advised that, in total, these programs represent less than \$3,000 per annum, and include:

- pensioner rebates these apply to three unfiltered water customers who receive a pensioner rebate equal to the unfiltered water service charge
- exempt properties these apply to four properties supplied with unfiltered water that were not charged a service charge by Sydney Water because they were exempt from such charges under the terms of the *Sydney Water Act* 1994.¹⁴²

IPART considers that these arrangements are appropriate and should continue.

¹⁴² Email, SCA to IPART, 18 February 2009.

9 Implications of draft pricing decisions

9.1.4 Impact on price increases of the section 16A direction

As noted in Chapter 2, the Minister for Water directed IPART to include in its 2009 determination the efficient costs of SCA complying with the Minister's direction to SCA to contribute \$17.7 million (\$2009/10) to the Accelerated Sewerage Program (ASP). Therefore, IPART has included this \$17.7 million in its estimate of SCA's efficient operating expenditure for 2009/10, for the purposes of determining SCA's notional revenue requirement and prices.

The exact effect on prices of SCA's contribution to the ASP depends on how IPART would have chosen to transition or smooth prices (and SCA's rate of return) over the determination period in the absence of this contribution. Nevertheless, IPART notes that this \$17.7 million contribution represents approximately 8.3 per cent of SCA's notional revenue requirement in 2009/10, which more than offsets the 6.9 per cent increase in SCA's prices to Sydney Water and Local Councils in 2009/10 under the draft determination.

Under SCA's pricing proposal, which involves equating revenue from prices with its notional revenue requirement in each year of the determination period, SCA's contribution to the ASP would add about \$11 (out of a total of \$18) to the annual water service charge of a typical (20 mm meter) Sydney Water customer.¹⁴³

9.2 Implications for SCA's service standards

It is important that IPART's pricing decisions do not adversely affect the standards of service delivered to customers. For SCA's customers, service standards primarily relate to catchment management, bulk water quality, and security and reliability of water supply.

SCA's operating licence contains a number of service-related standards and requirements, which are reviewed as part of the annual audit of its compliance with the provisions of this licence. The most recent completed audit was in 2007/08. This audit found that SCA achieved High to Full Compliance with the audited sections of its operating licence that relate to bulk raw water quality, catchment management and protection, and management of catchment infrastructure works and water conservation. (See Appendix D for more detail on this audit.)

In addition, as Chapter 2 discussed, SCA is regulated through a range of other instruments and requirements, many of which aim to ensure it maintains service standards. For example, these include SCA's water management licence, its bulk water supply agreements with customers, the requirements of NSW Health and the Dams Safety Committee, and the requirement for an audit of the state of the Catchment to be conducted every two years.

¹⁴³ SCA submission, September 2008, p 45.

IPART considers that the prices under the draft determination will allow SCA to continue to meet all of its service standards and other requirements during the 2009 determination period. The efficiency targets IPART included in estimating SCA's efficient operating and capital expenditure over this period are reasonable and achievable. In addition, IPART notes that in its submission, SCA identified a number of initiatives aimed at maintaining or enhancing its catchment management and bulk water supply performance. For example, these include enhancing the SCADA hydrometric system, implementing the Catchment Decision Support System, and developing an evaluation and monitoring process for all catchment activities.¹⁴⁴

Further, as Chapter 3 discussed, IPART has made a draft decision to require SCA to report against output measures over the 2009 determination period, to link expenditure with projects that are important to the effective functioning of SCA.

9.3 Implications for SCA and its shareholders

IPART is satisfied that its draft determination will not adversely affect SCA's ability to operate, maintain, renew and develop the assets required to deliver its regulated services. In particular, it is satisfied that the draft determination will enable SCA to earn a reasonable rate of return, achieve an acceptable investment category rating (well above the NSW Government's minimum requirement for a BBB rating), and pay appropriate dividends to its shareholder. If SCA did not increase its prices to the maximum levels allowed under the determination, IPART expects that SCA's contribution to the Consolidated Fund would fall.

9.3.1 Rate of return

Table 9.6 shows IPART's draft decision on SCA's annual notional revenue requirements over the determination period, and the annual target revenue SCA is expected to generate from charges (given IPART's draft pricing decisions). The table also shows the difference between these amounts and the expected rate of return from charges. It indicates that under the draft determination, IPART expects SCA to earn a pre-tax rate of return on its RAB of around 5.8 per cent in 2009/10, increasing to 7.0 per cent in 2011/12. IPART considers that this rate of return appropriately balances the interests of SCA, its shareholder, its customers and the broader community.

¹⁴⁴ Ibid, p 30 and 32.

	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
Notional revenue requirement	182.3	208.0	193.7	194.8
Targeted revenue from tariffs	182.3	193.4	185.2	194.8
NPV of difference	- 21.9			
Expected rate of return from tariffs (real pre-tax)	6.3%	5.8%	6.3%	7.0%

 Table 9.6
 SCA's expected rate of return, given IPART's draft decisions on notional revenue requirement and prices (\$ million, real 2008/2009)

9.3.2 Investment category rating

Investment category ratings provide an indication of a business' overall financial strength and viability. IPART analysed a range of financial indicators that are commonly used by credit rating agencies to assess an entity's financial strength and ability to service and repay debt. In doing so, IPART assumed that SCA would pay dividends to the NSW Government equal to 75 per cent of its after-tax profit. It also took account of the NSW Government's view that a BBB rating is the minimum target rating to ensure financial viability.

As Table 9.7 shows, IPART's analysis and financial modelling indicate that the maximum prices under the draft determination will enable SCA to achieve an overall credit rating of A+ in 2009/10 and 2010/11 and AA in 2011/12.

Indicator	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12
1. Funds from Operations Interest Cover	3.08	2.56	2.59	2.97
NSW Treasury rating (2008)	A+	А	А	A+
2. Funds from Operations / Total Debt	12.2%	9.5%	10.3%	13.0%
NSW Treasury rating (2008)	А	BBB+	А	A+
3. Debt gearing (regulatory value)	36.6%	37.7%	37.4%	36.5%
NSW Treasury rating (2008)	AAA	AAA	AAA	AAA
4. Pre-tax Interest Cover	2.86	2.30	2.38	2.83
NSW Treasury rating (2008)	AA	A+	A+	AA
5. NSW Treasury total score (0 -10)	7.75	7.00	7.25	8.00
Overall rating	A+	A+	A+	AA

Table 9.7 SCA's expected investment category rating under the draft determination

9.3.3 Dividend payments

Based on the prices in the draft determination, IPART's modelling indicates that SCA will be able to maintain a 75 per cent dividend payout ratio (consistent with SCA's past dividend performance) and still achieve a credit rating of at least A+ in each year of the determination period.

9 Implications of draft pricing decisions

9.3.4 Impact on the Consolidated Fund if SCA does not increase prices to maximum levels allowed under the draft determination

Under section 16 of the IPART Act, IPART is required to report on the likely impact on the Consolidated Fund if prices are not increased to the maximum levels permitted. If this is the case, then the level of tax equivalent and dividends paid to the Consolidated Fund will fall. The extent of this fall will depend on Treasury's application of its financial distribution policy and how the change affects after-tax profit.

IPART's financial modelling is consistent with a tax rate of 30 per cent for pre-tax profit and dividend payments at 75 per cent of after-tax profit. Assessing dividend applicable after-tax profits only, a one dollar decline in after-tax profit would result in a loss of revenue to the Consolidated Fund of 75 cents. Including the tax payable on pre-tax profits, a one dollar decline in pre-tax profit would result in a loss of revenue to the Consolidated Fund of 75 per cent of the after-tax profit of 70 cents, or 53 cents in total.

9.4 Implications for general inflation

Water and sewerage currently comprise about 0.77 per cent of the eight capital cities weighted average consumer price index (CPI), and approximately 0.64 per cent of Sydney's CPI.¹⁴⁵ For a Sydney Water customer consuming 200kL per annum, the annual average increase to a water and sewerage bill over 2009/10 to 2011/12 as a result of the draft SCA determination is about 1.1 per cent (in real terms). Therefore, given that Sydney represents about one third¹⁴⁶ of the eight capital cities weighted average consumer price index (CPI), the approximate annual impact of the draft SCA determination on the national average CPI is about 0.0029 per cent.¹⁴⁷ For Sydney's CPI, the approximate annual impact of the draft SCA determination is about 0.0070 per cent.¹⁴⁸ This suggests that this draft determination will have a minimal to negligible effect on general price inflation.

9.5 Implications for the environment

SCA's main objectives are to manage and protect Sydney's drinking water catchments and supply Sydney with reliable bulk water. Therefore, management and protection of the catchments' environments are fundamental to its operations.

¹⁴⁵ Australian Bureau of Statistics, Consumer Price Index 15th Series Weighting Pattern (cat. no. 6430.0), September 2005.

¹⁴⁶ Sydney represents 33.80 per cent of the eight capital cities weighted average CPI (ibid).

 $^{147\ 0.0029\% = (33.80\% \} x\ 0.77\%) \ x\ 1.1\%.$

 $^{148\ 0.0070\% = 0.64\%} x\ 1.1\%.$

9 Implications of draft pricing decisions

The most significant impact on the environment of SCA's activities is its extraction of water from the environment and its modification of natural stream and river flows. As Chapter 2 discussed, several government agencies are responsible for regulating the environmental performance of SCA, including DWE and DECC.

IPART expects that its draft pricing decisions will assist SCA in meeting its environmental performance standards and encourage sustainable water management and consumption by:

- Allowing SCA to recover the costs it efficiently incurs in fulfilling its catchment management and water supply functions and in meeting its environmental obligations.
- Allowing SCA to recover its efficient costs and structuring its prices so that a significant proportion of its revenue is received via volumetric charges. This means the volumetric charges signal the costs of additional water consumption to SCA's customers and thus promote water conservation (where efficient) and least cost planning in water supply.

Appendices

A Matters to be considered by IPART under section 15 of the IPART Act

In making determinations IPART is required, under the IPART Act, to have regard to the following matters (in addition to any other matters IPART considers relevant):

- a) the cost of providing the services concerned
- b) the protection of consumers from abuses of monopoly power in terms of prices, pricing policies and standard of services
- c) the appropriate rate of return on public sector assets, including appropriate payment of dividends to the Government for the benefit of the people of New South Wales
- d) the effect on general price inflation over the medium term
- e) the need for greater efficiency in the supply of services so as to reduce costs for the benefit of consumers and taxpayers
- f) the need to maintain ecologically sustainable development (within the meaning of section 6 of the *Protection of the Environment Administration Act 1991*) by appropriate pricing policies that take account of all the feasible options available to protect the environment
- g) the impact on pricing policies of borrowing, capital and dividend requirements of the government agency concerned and, in particular, the impact of any need to renew or increase relevant assets
- h) the impact on pricing policies of any arrangements that the government agency concerned has entered into for the exercise of its functions by some other person or body
- i) the need to promote competition in the supply of the services concerned
- j) considerations of demand management (including levels of demand) and least cost planning
- k) the social impact of the determinations and recommendations
- 1) standards of quality, reliability and safety of the services concerned (whether those standards are specified by legislation, agreement or otherwise).

Table A.1 outlines the sections of the report that address each matter.

A Matters to be considered by IPART under section 15 of the IPART Act

Section 15(1)	Report Reference
a) the cost of providing the services	Chapters 3 to 6
b) the protection of consumers from abuses of monopoly power	Chapters 2 and 3
c) the appropriate rate of return and dividends	Chapters 6 and 9
d) the effect on general price inflation	Chapters 9
e) the need for greater efficiency in the supply of services	Chapters 3 to 6
f) ecologically sustainable development	Chapters 9
g) the impact on borrowing, capital and dividend requirements	Chapter 9
h) impact on pricing policies of any arrangements that the government agency concerned has entered into for the exercise of its functions by some other person or body	SCA outsources some elements of its functions (eg, the SASPoM DECC Service Contract). IPART has set prices to allow SCA to recover its efficient costs of carrying out its roles and responsibilities (whether functions are carried out directly by SCA or contracted out to a third party). Chapters 5 and 6 outline IPART's findings on SCA's efficient expenditure.
i) need to promote competition	Not directly discussed, but relates to ensuring that prices reflect efficient costs and are not artificially deflated or inflated (which would distort competition).
j) considerations of demand management and least cost planning	Chapters 8 and 9
k) the social impact	Chapters 8 and 9
l) standards of quality, reliability and safety	Chapter 9

Table A.1 Consideration of section 15 matters by IPART

B SCA's 2006/07 water balance (for Total Supply System)¹⁴⁹

Total Supply System	Sources o	of water	Distributio	n of water
	Volume (ML)	% of total	Volume (ML)	% of total
Storage volume				
Volume in storages at start of year			1,078,660	
Volume in storages at end of year			1,405,760	
Changes in storages			327,100	21%
Storages net evaporation			94,015	6%
Inflows				
All dams and weirs (1)	1,546,655	99%		
Groundwater	450	0%		
Fish River water supply purchases	3,115	0%		
Sub-total	1,550,220	100%		
Water supplied to customers				
Sales to Sydney Water			502,692	32%
Sales to Wingecarribee Shire Council			4,221	0%
Sales to Shoalhaven City Council			77	0%
Sales to Retail Customers			268	0%
Sub-total			507,258	33%
Water released under water managem	ent licence			
Releases to Shoalhaven City Council (Tallowa)			12,440	1%
Riparian releases			2,008	0%
Environmental releases (2)			41,195	3%
Other System release to river			499	0%
Sub-total			56,142	4%
Reservoir or Weir Spills			572,274	37%
Unaccounted difference (3)	6,568	0%		
Total	1,556,788	100%	1,556,788	100%

(1 Environmental Releases from Wingecarribee to Warragamba are not included as inflow for the Total System although this release has been included as Inflow for the Warragamba System.

(2) Only Environmental Releases that leave the system boundary are included in the balance.

(3) Unaccounted for difference is estimated as the difference between inflows, outflows and change in the storage.

This includes river evaporation, seepage, overbank flow, theft and any measurement errors recording other components.

¹⁴⁹ Accessed from SCA's website on 5 March 2009,

http://www.sca.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/2015/WaterBalance0607.pdf.

C Recommendations of the 2007 Audit of the Sydney Drinking Water Catchment¹⁵⁰

The following recommendations were made in DECC's 2007 audit of the Sydney drinking water catchment (Catchment), undertaken in accordance with the *Sydney Water Catchment Management Act* 1998:

Raw water quality

- The operator and regulator(s) of the sewage treatment systems in the Catchment should continue efforts to reduce current levels of nutrient loads discharged into the Catchment.
- SCA should continue the process of understanding the causes of the 'high' incidences of algae in the water storages of the Kangaroo River (priority), Wingecarribee River (priority) and Lake Burragorang sub-catchments, to help ensure that specific management strategies are in place for the short, medium and long-term in each sub-catchment.
- SCA should investigate the causes of the continued presence of pathogens in the Nattai River and in the Wollondilly River, Mid Coxs River and Werriberri Creek (priority) sub-catchments.
- SCA should undertake sampling for the presence of pathogens in the Kangaroo River (priority) sub-catchment.

Managing water resources

▼ DWE should work with stakeholders to complete a Water Sharing Plan that covers the Catchment as soon as practicable.

Land condition

 SCA, DECC and CMAs (Catchment Management Authorities) should undertake programs that address soil erosion and salinity in the areas with identified and observed risk, and integrate them with other programs for riparian and vegetation management where possible.

¹⁵⁰ NSW Department of Environment and Climate Change (DECC), 2007 Audit of the Sydney Drinking Water Catchment, Report to the NSW Minister for Climate Change, Environment and Water, 2007, pp 132-133.

Ecosystem health

- SCA should investigate the reasons and drivers for declines in both water quality and macroinvertebrate health in those regions where declines have been documented.
- SCA should review its water quality monitoring and macroinvertebrate sampling programs to ensure that integrated ecosystem monitoring is undertaken in all subcatchments.
- SCA should undertake follow-up monitoring at macroinvertebrate monitoring locations that have significantly impaired or severely impaired AusRivAS ratings.

General

- The frequency of the Audit should be changed to every three years from 2009 to align with State of the Environment (SoE) and Monitoring, Evaluation and Reporting (MER) timeframes.
- Opportunities for the development of common or complementary indicators between the Audit SoE and MER reporting processes should be examined.
- ▼ SCA, DECC and CMAs should continued to work to establish a spatial information system to track and record information on all ground works being undertaken or funded by Government for the purposes of water quality and ecosystem health management in the Catchment.

D SCA's compliance with its operating licence over 2007/08¹⁵¹

IPART employed a risk-based approach for the 2007/08 audit of SCA's compliance with its operating licence. This meant that only clauses assessed as having high risks associated with non-compliance were included in the audit scope. Other clauses were subject to audit review, which required SCA to provide IPART with a statement of compliance together with evidence or an outline of compliance.

Overall, the auditor found that SCA achieved predominantly Full Compliance with the audited sections of its operating licence.

More specifically:

- Full Compliance was achieved for most of the audited clauses relating to Bulk Raw Water Quality. Out of twenty-five clauses, only three High Compliances were awarded.
- ▼ Full Compliance was achieved for all audited clauses relating to Catchment Management and Protection.
- Full Compliance was achieved for most of the audited clauses relating to Management of Catchment Infrastructure Works and Water Conservation. Two High Compliance ratings were awarded.

In addition, SCA provided evidence of compliance with all of the operating licence conditions not subject to audit.

The full report on the 2007/08 audit of SCA's performance against its operating licence is available at IPART's website: www.ipart.nsw.gov.au.

¹⁵¹ IPART, Sydney Catchment Authority Operational Audit 2007/08, Report to the Minister, December 2008, pp 1 – 2.

E Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC)

There are several approaches for calculating the return on capital on the regulated asset base (RAB). IPART's preferred approach is to use the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) to determine an appropriate range for the rate of return. A point estimate of the WACC is selected from this range. The WACC for a business is the expected cost of the various classes of capital (debt and equity), weighted to take into account the relative share of debt and equity in the total capital structure. As with previous determinations, IPART has used a real pre-tax WACC.¹⁵²

There are a number of input parameters to consider in determining an appropriate WACC range. Interest rates, inflation and debt margin are dependent on current market rates. The market risk premium, tax rate and dividend imputation factor do not vary with the nature of the business. However, the equity beta, capital structure and debt margin vary with the nature of the business.

In making its draft decision, IPART has considered the views of SCA, current regulatory and financial practice, its previous decisions and its own analysis. In particular, IPART has conducted analysis on the debt margin, the risk free rates and the implied inflation. No other stakeholders have commented on the rate of return.

IPART's decisions for its approach to the WACC and each of the WACC parameters for the draft decision are discussed below.

E.1 IPART's past WACC decision

Table E.1 below shows the final parameters adopted by IPART in the 2008, 2005 and the 2003 Metropolitan Water decision, the 2006 Bulk Water decision, and more recently, the 2008 CityRail decision.

¹⁵² The real pre-tax formula is presented in Bulk Water Prices for State Water Corporation and Water Administration Ministerial Corporation from 1 October 2006 to 30 June 2010 – Final Report, September 2006, Appendix D.

Parameter	2008 CityRail	2008 Sydney Water	2007 Electricity retail	2006 Bulk water	2005 Metro water	2003 Metro water
Nominal risk free rate	5.2%	6.1%	5.9%	5.8%	5.2%	5.1%
Real risk free rate	2.5%	2.4%	2.7%	2.4%	2.6%	2.9%
Inflation	2.7%	3.6%	3.1%	3.3%	2.5%	2.2%
Market risk premium	5.5 - 6.5%	5.5 - 6.5%	5.5 - 6.5%	5.5 - 6.5%	5.5 - 6.5%	5.0 - 6.0%
Debt margin	2.9 - 6.0%	3.1 - 3.7%	1.0 - 1.3%	1.1 - 1.3%	1.2 - 1.3%	0.7 - 1.0%
Debt to total assets	60%	60%	30 to 40%	60%	60%	60%
Dividend imputation factor (gamma)	0.5 - 0.3	0.5 - 0.3	0.5 - 0.3	0.5 - 0.3	0.5 - 0.3	0.5 - 0.3
Tax rate	30%	30%	30%	30%	30%	30%
Equity beta	0.8 - 1.0	0.8 - 1.0	0.8 – 1.2	0.8 - 1.0	0.8 - 1.0	0.65 - 0.90
WACC range (real pre-tax)	6.5 - 9.7%	6.8 - 8.4%	7.2 - 9.9%	5.5 - 6.9%	5.7 - 7.1%	5.2 - 6.7%
WACC (real pre-tax point estimate)	7.2%	7.5%	8.6%	6.5%	6.5%	5.6%

 Table E.1
 Rate of return parameters – past decisions

As can be seen from Table E.1, there has been a wide variation in the WACC range that IPART has determined over the years. This is not surprising, given that some parameters are based on market observations and consequently reflect prevailing market conditions at the time of the decision. IPART considers that there is merit in maintaining a consistent approach to the calculation of the cost of capital across regulatory decisions. Table E.1 highlights a very high degree of consistency for parameters that are not directly observable from market data. Such inter-temporal consistency reduces regulatory risk and its associated costs. Hence, there is a presumption that unless an alternative approach to the calculation of a WACC parameter is demonstrated to be clearly superior, the existing approach should be maintained.

E.2 Issues Paper

In July 2008, IPART released an Issues Paper setting out its preliminary position on its approach to calculating an appropriate rate of return to apply to SCA's RAB seeking comments from stakeholders. IPART proposed to maintain its existing approach of using the real pre-tax WACC and selecting a point estimate for the WACC from a range. IPART indicated that the capital asset pricing model (CAPM) has been used to derive the cost of equity, and the cost of debt has been calculated as a margin over the risk free rate.

E.3 Stakeholder submissions

SCA has proposed a real pre-tax WACC of at least 7.5 per cent, which was the rate of return determined by IPART for Sydney Water in its 2008 price determination. The parameters used in this determination are shown in Table E.2. SCA consider that the 'market based parameters ... will need to be updated at the time of the SCA's Final Determination to reflect prevailing market conditions and potential changes in methodology to reflect current regulatory practice.' 153

SCA has based its proposal on the rate of return determined for Sydney Water (subject to variation of market-based parameters) as it is 'heavily reliant on sales to Sydney Water. Any variability in its sales to Sydney Water consequent to future operation of the desalination plant will have a major impact on the SCA's revenue.'154

SCA has received advice from the NSW Treasury on the approach adopted by IPART in setting the WACC in the 2008 price determination for Sydney Water. Treasury has provided comment on IPART's approach to determining the nominal risk free rate and implied inflation. This will be considered in more detail under 'Nominal and real risk free rates and inflation' below.

E.4 IPART's analysis and decision

Approach to calculating the WACC

Draft decision

13 IPART's decision for the draft determination is for real pre-tax WACC of 7.0 per cent to be applied to the RAB.

IPART's finding is that for the purposes of calculating the allowance for a return on assets, a real pre-tax WACC of 7.0 per cent will be applied. This finding reflects IPART's view that an appropriate rate of return is in the range of 5.9 per cent to 8.6 per cent. A range has been constructed in recognition of the uncertainty of calculating the WACC, particularly the market risk premium, debt margin, equity beta and the dividend imputation factor. The point estimate has been selected after balancing the requirements of section 15 of the IPART Act.

¹⁵³ SCA submission, September 2008, p 56.¹⁵⁴ Ibid, p 35.

E Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC)

The parameters IPART used to calculate this WACC range are shown in Table E.2 and were based on market conditions averaged over the 20 days to 14 January 2009 where relevant. IPART recognises that there has been significant volatility in financial markets recently and there is likely to be continued volatility in the near future. This has affected market-based parameters including the risk free rates and the resulting implied inflation forecast, and the debt margin. For this draft decision, IPART has decided to:

- Continue to calculate the implied inflation rate using the Fisher equation and 20 day averages of Commonwealth Government bond yields. To account for scarcity in the market, IPART has marked up the interest rate on the indexed bonds by 20 basis points.
- Set the range for the debt margin using IPART's traditional approach of using fair value yield curve data obtained from Bloomberg for BBB rated Australian corporate bonds with a maturity of 10 years, as well as actual bond yields for BBB and BBB+ rated securities. Yields are averaged over the twenty days to 14 January 2009. An allowance of 12.5 basis points is made for the transactional costs involved in raising debt.

These issues are discussed further in the relevant sections of this appendix. IPART is currently conducting further analysis on these parameters and will finalise its views prior to making its final decision. IPART intends to release a series of working papers from February 2009 outlining its preliminary analysis of alternatives to estimating the debt margin and implied inflation. IPART is separately consulting on these issues in parallel with the consultation on this draft decision. Any revisions to the estimation of the WACC will have implications for all sectors that IPART regulates. Hence outcomes of the consultation on these parameters will guide IPART's findings for the final determination.

As previously noted, a key consideration of IPART is the objective of consistency between regulatory decisions over time. IPART will consider this objective when evaluating possible alternative approaches to estimating these market-based parameters.

The remainder of this appendix details IPART's considerations in making this decision.

WACC Parameters	Market value
Nominal risk free rate ^a	4.2%
Real risk free rate ^a	2.8% ^b
Inflation ^a	1.3%
Market risk premium	5.5% - 6.5%
Debt margin ^a	1.2% – 3.6%
Debt to total assets	60%
Dividend imputation factor (gamma)	0.5 to 0.3
Tax rate	30%
Equity beta	0.8 - 1.0
Cost of equity (nominal post-tax)	8.6% – 10.7%
Cost of debt (nominal pre-tax)	5.4% - 7.7%
WACC range (real pre-tax)	5.9% - 8.6%
WACC (real pre-tax) point estimate	7.0%

Table E.2 Rate of return range and parameters – IPART's decision for the draft determination

a Based on market data for the 20 days prior to 14 January 2009.

b Includes a scarcity premium of 20 basis points. Calculated by adding 20 basis points to the real risk free rate of 2.6%.

Nominal and real risk free rates and inflation

Draft decision

- 14 IPART's decision for the draft determination is to apply the following parameters for the purpose of calculating the rate of return to apply for SCA:
 - a nominal risk free rate of 4.2 per cent based on the 20-day average as at 14 January 2009
 - a real risk free rate of 2.8 per cent based on the 20 day the average as at 14 January 2009
 - an implied inflation rate of 1.3 per cent.

The risk free rates are used as reference points in determining both the return on equity and the cost of debt within the WACC. In both the CAPM and cost of debt calculation, the risk free rate is the base to which is added a premium or margin reflecting the riskiness of the specific business for which the rate of return is being derived.

The use of a real pre-tax WACC necessitates the use of a real risk free rate. Historically, IPART has estimated the nominal and real risk free rates from 20-day averages of yields on 10-year Commonwealth Government bonds. The Fisher equation is used to calculate implied inflation.

E Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC)

IPART updated its approach in the 2008 Sydney Water determination. In recognition of the strong evidence of a bias in the indexed government bond market due to severe shortages of supply, IPART made an adjustment of 20 basis points to the inflation forecast. This was done after considering evidence from NERA¹⁵⁵, the Allen Consulting Group (ACG)¹⁵⁶, the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) and the Australian Treasury.¹⁵⁷

To test whether there is a bias in the real risk free rate used by Australian regulators, NERA calculated the margin that the real and nominal corporate bonds issued by Electranet and Envestra were yielding over the equivalent real and nominal government bonds for the period from November 2003 to March 2007. From this, NERA concluded that the margin for real corporate bonds became larger than the margin for nominal corporate bonds from the last quarter of 2004 and increased until it reached a value of approximately 20 basis points by March 2007.

NERA considers that given this evidence of an emerging bias, both nominal and real government bonds are becoming poor proxies for nominal and real risk free rates under the CAPM, and that upward adjustments should be made to their yields to correct for the biases.

ACG believes that there is evidence that the yields on real government bonds result in a downward-biased estimate of the real risk free rate. The reasons offered for this view by ACG were as follows:

- ▼ The forecasts of inflation implied by returns on government bonds are generally above the target inflation range of the RBA of two per cent to three per cent. As at 28 June 2007, the average annual level of inflation implied by the 2010, 2015 and 2020 inflation indexed bonds is 2.8 per cent, 3.3 per cent and 3.5 per cent, respectively. The level of inflation implied by the 10 year nominal and real risk free rates calculated using the Fisher equation was 3.3 per cent.
- ACG's consultation with a number of financial market participants on the conditions in the market for real government bonds indicated that most market participants consider that there is an element of downward bias in yields of these bonds.

However, ACG did not support the proposition that there is a bias in nominal Commonwealth Government bonds (an absolute bias). The existence of the absolute bias was also rejected by the RBA and the Australian Treasury.

¹⁵⁵ NERA, Bias in inflation-indexed CGS yields as a proxy for the CAPM risk-free rate, March 2007; NERA, Absolute bias in (nominal) Commonwealth Government Securities, June 2007.

¹⁵⁶ ACG, Relative bias of inflation indexed CGS yields as a proxy for the CAPM risk-free rate, July 2007.

¹⁵⁷ Australian Treasury, *The Treasury bond yield as a proxy for the CAPM risk-free rate*, Letter to the ACCC, August 2007.

The RBA and the Australian Treasury's views are that:

- demand for inflation indexed bonds has increased as supply has fallen
- turnover for these bonds is low and the market is not liquid
- ▼ as inflation-linked government bonds mature without replacement, their usefulness for estimating long term real risk free rates will diminish.

SCA has submitted advice from NSW Treasury regarding IPART's methodology for determining implied inflation.

Treasury suggested that:

- The methodology adopted by IPART is inconsistent with broader regulatory practice of using the 10-year nominal government bond rate as the nominal risk free rate and subtracting a forecast of the expected rate of inflation over that period to derive the real risk free rate of return.
- The 20 basis point scarcity premium adopted by IPART was based on March 2007 analysis and did not reflect subsequent increases in the level of relative bias in indexed bonds.
- ▼ In the absence of indexed government bonds with an exact 10-year maturity, it is appropriate to derive the risk free rate by extrapolating indexed bond yields with maturity dates closest to before and after the 10-year period. IPART based the real risk free rate solely on 20 August 2020 dated indexed bond yields, representing a 12.3 year rather than 10-year maturity term from the 17 April 2008 reference date.¹⁵⁸

Treasury has not proposed an alternative approach.

IPART agrees with NSW Treasury that the current approach of estimating implied inflation is not without problems. However, IPART considers that the alternative approach whereby the real risk free rate is derived using non-market forecasts of inflation is likely to be more problematic.

As noted, IPART is currently considering alternative approaches to estimating implied inflation including a methodology whereby the implied inflation is estimated using data from the zero-coupon inflation-linked swap market. IPART intends to release a series of working paper commencing February 2009 to seek comments on its proposed approach. Alternative approaches to estimating the debt margin will also be investigated in this series of working papers. The final determination for SCA will be guided by the findings of this consultation.

¹⁵⁸ From SCA submission, September 2008, p 56.

IPART has considered NSW Treasury's three concerns in turn. The first point indicates a preference for calculating the real risk free rate from an expectation of inflation. This approach has recently been adopted by Australian regulators as follows:

- The Australian Energy Regulator's (AER) determination for SP Ausnet used a methodology that references the RBA's short term inflation forecasts, which extend out two years, and adopted the midpoint of the RBA's target inflation band beyond that period (ie, 2.5 per cent).¹⁵⁹ This resulted in an inflation forecast of 2.6 per cent.
- ▼ In its final decision of the Gas Access Arrangement Review 2008-2012, the Essential Services Commission (ESC) applied an inflation forecast of 2.7 per cent based on a range of considerations including market practice in making assumptions of long-term inflation, levels of historical inflation and the RBA's target range for the rate of inflation.¹⁶⁰

The alternative methodologies were developed out of a need to correct for the bias in data from the Commonwealth Government bond market. They are alternatives to applying a correction to the real risk free rate in the order of the estimation of the relative bias.

However, it should be noted that:

- The objective is to determine a real cost of funds in order to derive an appropriate real return on assets to be included in prices.
- It has not been disputed that in principle that these real costs of funds would be best derived from market data where it is available and reliable.

IPART continues to have a preference for relying on yields of real and nominal bonds to derive a forecast of inflation for the following reasons:

- Relying on market observations to determine the real and nominal risk free rates and determining the implied inflation rate using the Fisher equation is objective, repeatable and transparent. In addition, it delivers a more reliable indicator of expected inflation as investors' expectations are built into the data.
- Forecasting inflation from other sources requires subjective selection of data. Sources for the inflation forecast include the midpoint of the RBA's target inflation range, statements of monetary policy and collated economic forecasts.
 - Individual economist forecasts (or even an average of economist forecasts) may be influenced or biased in favour of the strategy of the institution they are originating from and/or may not be a long term view.

¹⁵⁹ AER, Final Decision, SP AusNet Transmission Determination 2008-09 to 2013-14, January 2008, p 104.

¹⁶⁰ ESC, Final Decision, Gas Access Arrangement Review 2008-2012 – public version, March 2008, p 460.

- Taking the midpoint of the RBA's target relies on the RBA's ability to control inflation and the continuity of monetary policy and objectives rather than relying on the market's best estimates of expected inflation.
- Using the Fisher equation to calculate the implied inflation is generally used by market practitioners.
- The inflation forecast derived from the Fisher equation maintains consistency with other financial parameters used in the regulatory framework.

Treasury's second point queries whether a 20 basis point adjustment is appropriate. IPART has based its conclusion on the level of the relative bias on evidence from NERA, ACG, the RBA and the Australian Treasury as discussed above. IPART notes that this evidence indicates that the level of the relative bias is around 20 basis points, although, as noted by the NSW Treasury, it does vary with time. IPART recognises the volatility in the underlying market data as a particular challenge that has emerged and intends to resolve this issue through its parallel consultation on the market-based parameters.

The third point queries the merit of relying on actual bond data rather than interpolated data. As noted by NSW Treasury, there is currently no inflation-indexed Commonwealth Government bond with an exact maturity of 10 years. The bond with the closest term to maturity to this 10-year benchmark is the 2020 inflation-indexed Commonwealth Government bond (TI406). IPART's analysis indicates that over the 20 days to 14 January 2009, the difference between actual and interpolated data in the indexed bond market is negligible. Further, at the time of the final determination, TI406 will have a maturity of close to 10 years. IPART therefore considers that actual data is an appropriate proxy for the 10 year risk free rate.

For the purposes of this draft decision, IPART has maintained the methodology used in the 2008 Sydney Water determination whereby a scarcity premium of 20 basis points is added to the inflation indexed Commonwealth Government bond yield to account for any bias in the yield. However, the final decision will be guided by further analysis and the findings of the upcoming consultation on these marketbased parameters.

As at 14 January 2009, the implied inflation rate between the nominal Commonwealth Government bond and the inflation indexed Commonwealth Government bond was 1.3 per cent. This is calculated in Table E.3.

Parameter	Value
Nominal risk free rate	4.2%
Real risk free rate	2.8%
Scarcity adjustment	0.2%
Expected inflation	1.3%

 Table E.3
 Risk free rates and implied inflation

Source: RBA data and IPART analysis.

Debt margin

Draft decision

15 IPART's decision for the draft determination is to adopt a debt margin range of 1.2 per cent to 3.6 per cent based on market observations as at 14 January 2008.

The debt margin represents the cost of debt a company has to pay above the nominal risk free rate. The debt margin is related to current market interest rates on corporate bonds, the maturity of debt, the assumed capital structure and the credit rating.

IPART in the past has based its debt margin estimates on 20-day averages of fair value yield curve data obtained from fair value yield curves for BBB and BBB+ rated Australian corporate bonds with a maturity of 10 years, as well as actual bond yields for BBB and BBB+ rated securities.

IPART has also previously made an allowance for transaction costs associated with the raising of debt, expressed as an increment to the debt margin. In previous decisions, IPART has considered an allowance of 12.5 basis points to be an adequate adjustment for debt raising costs.

As noted in Chapter 6 and in the Final Report for CityRail¹⁶¹, IPART has conducted preliminary analysis on the measurement of the debt margin. This was in response to concerns that market conditions in the Australian corporate bond market may not reflect the actual cost of debt a utility would face in a competitive market.

The analysis conducted in the CityRail final determination highlighted the extent of the volatility in the yield on corporate debt resulting from to the current financial crisis. Yields prior to the middle of 2007 were fairly stable. Since then, a re-pricing of risk became evident, particularly with regards to:

- industry-specific issues (property and financial services) and
- business-specific issues (mainly debt and its refinancing).

IPART also considered historical yields on corporate bonds by credit rating of all corporate debt issues in Australia excluding financial, property and foreign government issued securities.

IPART's analysis indicated that there was a narrowing in the debt margins between AAA and BBB rated debt. The average yield on AAA bonds exceeded the average yield on BBB bonds in August 2008. IPART concluded that the credit rating was not likely to be a reliable indicator of credit risk in the current market.

Preliminary investigations indicated that an alternative portfolio based on Australian utility-issued debt may be a more reliable proxy for the debt margin than IPART's traditional portfolio of securities.

¹⁶¹ IPART, Review of CityRail fares, 2009-2012, Final Report, December 2008.

For this determination, IPART has compared the 20-day average debt margins generated using its traditional methodology¹⁶² and the alternative portfolio as described in the CityRail final determination. The results are presented in Table E.4.

IPART is concerned that in the current environment its traditional approach to estimating the debt margin is particularly volatile due to the small number of proxies included. In particular, IPART's analysis of credit spreads of only utility-issued bonds indicates that while there has been an increase in yields since mid-2007, this increase is considerably less than that evident using IPART's traditional methodology as shown in Table E.4.

Table E.4 Debt margins at 14 January 2008

	Lower bound	Upper bound
Traditional methodology	1.2%	3.6%
Utility issued bonds only	0.7%	2.6%

Note: Includes 12.5bp debt raising costs.

Source: Bloomberg and IPART analysis.

Table E.4 indicates that the differential between IPART's traditional methodology and the only utility-issued bond portfolio is driven by the upper bound of the debt margin range. IPART is concerned that the upper bound of the traditional debt margin estimate may not be relevant for SCA. It notes that the debt margin estimate generated using the only utility-issued bond portfolio is more consistent with historical averages.

As noted, IPART is currently considering alternative approaches to estimating the debt margin such as constructing alternative portfolios, relying on alternative data sources or extending the sampling period. IPART's preliminary view is that extending the sampling period would be inconsistent with its approach for other market parameters. IPART intends to release a working paper in March 2009 to seek comments on alternative approaches. A working paper was released in February 2009 to consult on the issue of determining the implied inflation.

IPART's initial assessment indicates that the current upward trend in debt margins may not be as pronounced in those industries which IPART regulates. However for the purpose of this decision, IPART has continued to use its traditional methodology to determining the range for the debt margin. IPART has also had regard to the alternative approach in setting the point estimate within that range.

IPART has included an allowance of 12.5 basis points in the debt margin in recognition that debt raising and debt refinancing costs are costs above the debt margin that businesses incur in competitive markets.

¹⁶² IPART has relied on fair value yields and actual bond yields from Bloomberg as CBASpectrum has discontinued its service to some non-bank customers. However, the treatment of this data is the same as in previous determinations.

For the purposes of the draft decision, IPART has therefore adopted a debt margin in the range of 1.2 per cent to 3.6 per cent.

Equity beta

Draft decision

16 IPART's decision for the draft determination is to adopt an equity beta of 0.8 to 1.0 for the purpose of calculating the rate of return to apply for SCA.

The equity beta value is a business-specific parameter that measures the extent to which the return of a security varies in line with the return of the market. It represents the systematic or market-wide risk of an asset that cannot be avoided by holding the assets as part of a diversified portfolio. It is important to note that the equity beta does not take into account business-specific or unsystematic risks.

SCA has noted that the 2008 Sydney Water price determination valued the equity beta within the range of 0.8 to 1.0 and did not propose to vary these valuations for this determination.

As Table E.1 shows, IPART's preference is to value equity beta in a range of 0.8 to 1.0. A range has consistently been constructed, due to the inherent uncertainty in estimating the equity beta. This range was adopted in the 2005 determination for SCA and in the 2008 determination for Sydney Water.

It is likely that SCA faces a similar level of systematic risk to that of Sydney Water. In the interest of achieving consistency between regulatory decisions, IPART considers that a range of 0.8 to 1.0 is an appropriate valuation of the equity beta for this draft decision.

IPART notes that new evidence on the value of equity beta has caused other Australian regulators to revise their established valuations for equity beta:

- ▼ In its final decision of the Gas Access Arrangement Review 2008-2012, the ESC valued equity beta at 0.7. This decision included a transitional mechanism which effectively allowed an equity beta at 0.8.
- The AER's draft position in its review of WACC parameters to apply to electricity transmission and distribution network service providers revises the equity beta from 1.0 to 0.8.

As the AER is required to complete its review by 31 March 2009, IPART intends to observe the AER's final position when making a final decision for an appropriate rate of return to apply to SCA. IPART will continue to monitor and evaluate decisions in other jurisdictions but at this stage it is not inclined to modify the equity beta range.

Capital structure, tax rate and dividend imputation factor (gamma)

Draft decision

- 17 IPART's decision for the draft determination is to adopt the following parameters for the purpose of calculating an appropriate rate of return to apply for SCA:
 - debt to total assets of 60 per cent
 - tax rate of 30 per cent (statutory tax rate)
 - dividend imputation factor of 0.5 to 0.3.

When determining the level of gearing used to calculate the WACC, IPART adopts a benchmark capital structure, rather than the actual financial structure, to ensure that customers will not bear the cost associated with an inefficient financing structure. Another factor that needs to be considered is the dividend imputation factor (gamma). Under the Australian dividend imputation system, investors receive a tax credit (franking credit) for the company tax they have paid. This ensures that the investor is not taxed twice on their investment returns (ie, once at the company level and once on the personal tax level).

The value of the imputation tax credits is represented in the CAPM by 'gamma'. The rationale behind this, including the value of gamma in the CAPM, is that investors are receiving a tax credit from their investment, they would accept an investment with a lower return than if there were no tax credits attached to this investment. The gamma is an important input in the CAPM, as a high value (valued at or approaching one) would reduce the cost of capital considerably.

SCA has noted that the 2008 Sydney Water price determination was for a gamma of 50 per cent to 30 per cent, gearing of 60 per cent and tax rate of 30 per cent and does not propose to vary these valuations for this determination.

As Table E.1 shows, IPART's preference for debt to total assets and tax rate parameters has been the benchmark capital structure value and use the prevailing company statutory tax rate. In establishing what value to assign to gamma, IPART over the years has reviewed a number of independent expert reports and academic studies that have consistently shown that there is no conclusive market evidence on the exact value that investors attach to imputation tax credits. IPART has therefore maintained the range of 0.5 to 0.3 rather than a point estimate to account for the uncertainty in estimating this value.

There is no new information in submissions received in this review that warrant a change from its previous decisions on the capital structure, tax rate and dividend imputation factor.

Market risk premium

Draft decision

18 IPART's decision for the draft determination is to adopt an MRP range of 5.5 to 6.5 per cent for the purpose of calculating an appropriate rate of return to apply for SCA.

The market risk premium (MRP) represents the additional return over the risk free rate of return that an investor requires for the risk of investing in a diversified equity portfolio.

SCA has noted that the 2008 Sydney Water price determination was for an MRP in the range of 5.5 to 6.5 per cent and does not propose to vary this valuation for this determination.

As Table E.1 shows, in most recent decisions, IPART has maintained an MRP range of 5.5 to 6.5 per cent. This range was adopted in the 2005 determination for SCA and in the 2008 determination for Sydney Water. IPART has consistently used a range rather than a point estimate due to the inherent uncertainty in estimating an MRP for an unlisted business. IPART believes that there is no new information arising out of the submissions to warrant a departure of the MRP range adopted in IPART's recent decisions.
F | Pricing that depends on dam levels

Economic theory and empirical evidence show that when a resource is scarce, its market price will rise (and vice-versa). This relationship is important for ensuring that demand and supply for the resource are in balance over time and that economic welfare is maximised. It does this by:

- ensuring that the resource is allocated to its highest value uses
- providing incentives to consumers of the resource to reduce consumption in times of scarcity – eg, by innovating, developing technology, changing behaviour or seeking out alternatives so that less of the scarce, more costly resource is required
- providing incentives to producers to develop means of increasing supply of the resource (or alternatives to it) in times of scarcity.

With this in mind, IPART is interested in developing a form of 'scarcity pricing' for potential implementation at the 2012 SCA price determination. Under such a pricing approach, the price of water from SCA's dams would vary inversely with dam levels (available supply). SCA's prices to Sydney Water would rise when dam levels fall (ie, when dam water is scarce); and fall when dam levels rise (when dam water is plentiful) – thus prices would reflect the relative scarcity or value of SCA water under prevailing conditions. Notably, in contrast to other scarcity pricing proposals, IPART favours an approach that complements, rather than replaces, the current regime of water restrictions.

A form of scarcity pricing could ultimately apply to retail prices (ie, Sydney Water's prices to its customers). However, IPART is particularly interested in applying this pricing approach to wholesale water prices (ie, SCA's prices to Sydney Water). The appeal of this approach to wholesale water pricing is that it has the potential to:

- provide incentives to Sydney Water to invest in water conservation and demand management measures, where efficient
- signal to Sydney Water when it is more appropriate to obtain water from sources other than SCA, and vice-versa
- provide signals to potential new suppliers of bulk water as to when it may or may not be viable for them to invest in new water supply infrastructure.

If a form of scarcity pricing were to be introduced at the retail level, IPART envisages that it would be applied at the margin, targeting discretionary water consumption

F Pricing that depends on dam levels

only and operating to support the water restriction regime in equating water demand with supply.

Outlined below are more details on IPART's preliminary thoughts on a potential pricing model applicable to Sydney's water supply.

IPART will consider this issue further throughout the 2009 determination period. During this period, it is therefore seeking stakeholder views on the potential form and application of scarcity pricing.

F.1 Scarcity pricing at the wholesale level

To ensure that appropriate price signals are sent to bulk water consumers and other potential bulk water suppliers, and that SCA's water is used efficiently, the price of water from SCA's dams should reflect its scarcity value, as well as SCA's costs of water capture, storage and supply. This suggests that SCA's prices to Sydney Water should depend on SCA's dam levels – with higher prices during droughts when dam levels decline, and lower prices when water is in relative abundance and dam levels are high.

In the absence of a market determined price, IPART favours an administrative form of scarcity pricing, whereby IPART would set SCA's prices to apply at specified dam levels or determine a formula for the calculation of these prices. Under this arrangement, the relationship between SCA's volumetric water price and dam levels would depend, amongst other factors, on the adequacy of existing water storage infrastructure, the cost of augmenting water supplies and the importance that society places on not running out of essential water. As mentioned above, IPART considers that such a pricing regime should work alongside and complement, rather than replace, the water restriction regime.

Determining volumetric prices under such a scarcity pricing approach would require careful consideration. For illustrative purposes, a purely hypothetical example of a schedule of SCA's volumetric prices to Sydney Water is as follows:

- ▼ storage level below 40 per cent: \$600 per ML
- storage level between 40 and 50 per cent: \$400 per ML
- ▼ storage level between 50 and 70 per cent: \$300 per ML
- ▼ storage level above 70 per cent: \$245 per ML.

Consideration would also need to be given to the level of SCA's fixed charge to Sydney Water and how frequently this charge should be adjusted, taking into account SCA's revenue requirement as well as the intention of scarcity pricing to provide a price (or cost) signal to Sydney Water. Similarly, consideration may need to be given to mechanisms such as an 'unders and overs' account to manage any variations between SCA's revenue under a scarcity pricing model and its actual revenue requirement. IPART notes that any viable pricing option must allow SCA to recover its efficient costs of meeting the community's service and environmental standards.

The benefits of scarcity pricing at the wholesale level

IPART envisages that SCA's scarcity price schedule would operate in conjunction with the rules for the operation of Sydney Water's desalination plant, which are currently being developed by Government. These operating rules are expected to optimise the operation of the plant in relation to its primary role as a supplementary supply source in times of drought. Scarcity pricing could complement these operating rules by signalling to Sydney Water the point at which it is appropriate to draw on supply from the desalination plant, as opposed to additional water from SCA, and vice-versa.

A form of scarcity pricing could also signal to SCA when it is appropriate to pump water from the Shoalhaven, taking into account the cost to SCA of pumping this water and the revenue that it could receive by selling it to Sydney Water. For example, under scarcity pricing, SCA would have little incentive to pump water from the Shoalhaven when its dam levels are full (and its volumetric price to Sydney Water is low). Rather, to maximise the difference between Shoalhaven pumping costs and revenue received from sales of this water, it would have an incentive to pump water from the Shoalhaven when its dam levels are low (and its volumetric price to Sydney Water is high).

While acknowledging the dominant role that SCA is likely to continue to play in the provision of water, IPART considers that it is also important to recognise that Sydney is likely to increasingly have alternative sources of water supply. In addition to SCA's dams, desalination and the use of recycled water for non-potable purposes will become increasingly important. Some alternative sources of water are owned by Government, but others may be privately owned. In these circumstances, it is worth investigating the role that pricing can play in providing effective signals to both Sydney Water and potential new suppliers of bulk water, to ensure that Sydney's water needs are supplied at least cost to the community.

A pricing approach that takes into account dam levels has the potential to:

- Signal to Sydney Water the cost, based on prevailing conditions, of various water supply sources, thus helping to ensure that it obtains its necessary supply of water from the least cost combination of supply sources (ie, the optimal mix of desalination, recycled and dam water).
- Provide incentives to Sydney Water to invest in additional water conservation and demand management measures, where efficient.
- Provide signals to potential new suppliers of bulk water. For instance, if bulk water prices reflect dam levels and dam levels are relatively low over a sustained period, average bulk water prices will be higher, which may provide an incentive for new bulk water suppliers to enter the market.

Such a pricing approach can also act to reinforce the impact of water restrictions or defer or avoid the need for more severe restrictions. For instance, if variations in SCA's prices are not passed through to retail prices, Sydney Water would have an incentive to ensure that drought restrictions are effectively implemented and enforced so as to minimise its exposure to high SCA prices during periods of low dam levels and, over the longer term, to invest in drought-resistant supply options such as recycled water.

A pricing approach that varied SCA's volumetric price inversely with its dam levels could also mitigate sales risk to SCA. Presently, if SCA's sales are less than forecast when setting its volumetric price (eg, due to the effect of higher than forecast restriction levels in reducing water demand), it is at risk of under recovering its revenue requirement – particularly as its costs are mostly fixed. To date, this has acted to limit the extent to which IPART can increase SCA's volumetric charge at the expense of its fixed charge. Under a scarcity pricing approach, higher level water restrictions (as a result of low dam levels) will result in proportionally higher volumetric SCA prices. However, IPART recognises that the allocation of financial risk (between SCA, Sydney Water and water customers) arising from any new water pricing arrangements is an issue that requires further consideration.

F.2 Scarcity pricing at the retail level

The above sections primarily consider how the price that SCA charges Sydney Water might change with dam levels. A separate question is whether Sydney Water's retail prices should also vary with SCA's dam levels to reflect the economic value of water. IPART notes that this does not necessarily need to occur, even if SCA's wholesale price to Sydney Water does vary with dam levels.

If a form of scarcity pricing were to be introduced at the retail level, IPART favours an approach that acts to support (rather than replace) water restrictions and which only targets discretionary levels of water consumption (to protect customers' essential levels of water consumption from significant price variations).

Under such a pricing model, prices for residential and non-residential levels of water consumption above non-discretionary or essential levels would be charged at a price that varies with dam levels (and Sydney Water's cost of bulk water purchases from SCA). A purely hypothetical example of Sydney Water's price schedule for discretionary levels of retail customer water consumption is as follows:

- storage level below 40 per cent: \$3.60 per kL
- storage level between 40 and 50 per cent: \$2.50 per kL
- storage level between 50 and 70 per cent: \$1.90 per kL
- storage level above 70 per cent: \$1.60 per kL.

As with SCA's wholesale prices, consideration would need to be given to the level of Sydney Water's fixed charges to its customers and the extent to which these should change over time, taking into account Sydney Water's costs and the price signal provided to customers by their water bills – as well as the potential for measures such as an 'unders and overs' account to manage any variations between Sydney Water's revenue and its costs.

The benefits of scarcity pricing at the retail level

Theoretically, the potential benefits of introducing a form of scarcity pricing at the retail level are that it would:

- reinforce the impact of drought water restrictions or defer or avoid the need for more severe restrictions – as Sydney Water's usage prices for discretionary levels of water consumption would be higher during times of low dam levels and high water restrictions
- provide an indication of the scarcity value of water to end use consumers, meaning that they would have an incentive to reduce discretionary consumption when dam levels are low.

However, IPART notes that the implementation challenges of applying a form of scarcity pricing at the retail level (ie, Sydney Water's prices to its customers) are likely to be somewhat greater than merely applying this at the wholesale level (ie, SCA's prices to Sydney Water).

For instance, determining a 'discretionary' (or non-essential) level of water consumption to which scarcity pricing would apply, and establishing a price structure accordingly, can be problematic. In reality, the discretionary level of water consumption can vary across households (eg, with family size) and industry, and can also vary over time (eg, as a result of technological development in water saving measures). To be cautious, IPART would favour setting the level of discretionary consumption fairly low relative to total average household water consumption. However, this would mean that the scarcity price would only affect a relatively small component of retail consumption - which, added to the administrative costs involved in such a pricing approach, calls into question whether scarcity pricing is worth implementing at the retail level.

IPART also recognises that the natural volatility of dam inflows, combined with Sydney Water's current practice of issuing its bills quarterly, can create challenges in effectively applying scarcity pricing to retail prices. This is because by the time retail customer bills are issued, these bills could reflect past rather than existing (or expected future) dam levels, thus resulting in a disconnection between the price signal received by retail customers (via receipt of their bills) and dam levels. This could lead to a scenario where retail customers face high prices, which reflect past, low dam levels – even though dams have subsequently filled and SCA water is in relative plentiful supply. 163

F.3 IPART's preliminary position

While recognising that there are a number of implementation issues to work through, IPART initially favours introducing a form of scarcity pricing at the wholesale level only (ie, SCA's prices to Sydney Water). This is primarily because of the potential benefits listed in section 1.1.1. IPART also notes that water restrictions have been effective in reducing discretionary demand in times of drought (one of the main arguments for introducing scarcity pricing at the retail level), and that applying an acceptable form of scarcity pricing at the retail price level is likely to be more problematic than at the wholesale level.

Regardless, IPART seeks comments on the potential application of scarcity pricing in Sydney at the wholesale and/or retail level. It is particularly interested in stakeholders' views on the design and application of such a pricing model, implementation issues to be addressed and its potential advantages and disadvantages.

¹⁶³ Although IPART does also note that over time retail customers could become accustomed to a scarcity pricing regime and its relationship with bills. For example, the prevailing retail price could be published on Sydney Water's website or in the newspaper, so that customers have access to information on current prices (reflecting current dam levels), even though they might not receive an actual bill for their water consumption until several months later.

G Section 16A direction



The Hon. Nathan Rees MP

Minister for Emergency Services Minister for Water

2 - JUL 2008

1	A WELFLAFD A
Dr Michael Keating	- 4 JUL 2008
Chaiman (P	1
independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal of M	SW LYNAM S
PO Box Q290	Comments of
QUEEN VICTORIA BUILDING NSW 1230	CHEV.

Dear Dr Keating

The Sydney Catchment Authority (SCA) manages its Accelerated Severage Program to fund the fast-tracking of upgrades of severage treatment plants in Sydney's drinking water catchments. The SCA has already spent or committed \$20 million over five years on these works, which further protect raw drinking water quality. The funding is included in the SCA's approved regulated price. The method of funding is by augmenting funds made available to councils for the upgrades through the Department of Water & Energy's (DWE's) Country Towns Water Supply and Severage Program.

I have directed the SCA, pursuant to section 11 of the Sydney Water Catchment Management Act 1996, to pay from its Accelerated Sewerage Program an additionel \$17.7 million, plus GST, to DWE towards the cost of six sewage treatment plant upgrades (Attachment 1).

Pursuant to Section 16A of the Independent Pricing & Regulatory Act 1992, I hereby direct that the Independent Pricing & Regulatory Tribunal, when it next determines the maximum price for the government monopoly services provided by the SCA, to include in the price an amount representing the efficient cost of the SCA complying with the requirement to fund the Sewerage Treatment Plan Upgrade Works as set out in my direction to the SCA.

I attach the contract between SCA and DWE, entitled Accelerated sewerage program funding contract, dated 15 April 2008, which includes the schedules of payments (Attachment 2).

Yours since

The Hon, Nathan Rees MP Minister for Emergency Services Minister for Water

> GPD Box 5341, SYDNEY NSW 2001. Telephone: (02) 6238 5350. Facultule: (02) 6238 5068 Email: reception@wee.ninite:ma.gov.au

ef:M2008/00116

H Output measures

As discussed in section 3.9, IPART has decided to develop output measures for the 2009 determination, as a starting point for the assessment of prudent expenditure at the next determination of SCA's prices.

Listed below are IPART's draft output measures. These have been developed after considering SCA's proposed output measures (also listed below) and WorleyParsons' advice on the 'criticality' of projects in SCA's forecast expenditure program.

IPART seeks further comment from SCA and other stakeholders on suitable output measures for the 2009 determination period.

H.1 IPART's draft output measures

1. Deliver a strategy for the future of the Upper Canal by June 2013

The Upper Canal, which currently transfers approximately 20 per cent of Sydney's water, consists of a series of tunnels, open canals and aqueducts built over 100 years ago. The canal design and age introduces risks to water quality, and limits the volume of water that can be transferred. In order to ensure both the reliability and quality of water supplied, the SCA will need to either undertake major refurbishment works or replace the canal structure.¹⁶⁴ Over the forthcoming determination period, SCA will undertake longer-term water supply system planning, including developing options for the replacement of the Upper Canal.

2. Complete the Prospect Reservoir upstream embankment stabilisation upgrade by April 2013

This project is to comply with dam safety mandatory standards. The installation of a new raw water pumping station and the subsequent use of Prospect Reservoir as an emergency supply can lead to a drawdown of seven metres and poses stability risks for the upstream dam embankment. This project will result in stabilisation of this embankment.

¹⁶⁴ SCA submission, September 2008, p 29.

- **3.** Complete the Warragamba Dam crest gates construction project by June 2011. This project involves:
 - raising the radial gates to provide greater clearance for passing of flood waters
 - improving drum and radial gate reliability and strength
 - updating the drum and radial gate control system, and
 - application of protective painting.

WorleyParsons notes that this is a critical dam safety requirement. The capacity to raise the radial gate and strengthen the facility provides greater protection against dam failure.

- **4.** Complete the Wingecarribee Dam safety upgrade project by June 2013 This project comprises mandatory upgrades to dam safety to meet existing safety legislation.
- **5.** Complete the Upper Nepean environmental flows works project by April 2010 The project, which is part of the NSW Government's Metropolitan Water Plan, requires SCA to undertake works to:
 - Release 80/20 environmental flows from the Upper Nepean Dams (Cataract, Cordeaux and Nepean)
 - ▼ To maximise the environmental benefits for the Nepean and Hawkesbury Rivers by enabling the passage of these flows and of fish past two water supply weirs (at Broughton Pass and Pheasants Nest) and 13 irrigation weirs downstream.

6. Complete the Metropolitan Dams electrical systems upgrade project by April 2013

This program comprises upgrades to meet mandatory Occupational Health and Safety standards.

H.2 SCA's proposed output measures¹⁶⁵

In addition to operational requirements under the Sydney Water Catchment Management Act 1998, SCA's operating licence¹⁶⁶ and SCA's Corporate Plan,¹⁶⁷ SCA has proposed that the following output measures be adopted for the forthcoming determination period:

- 1. a strategy for the future of the Upper Canal
- 2. compliance of the SCA's information technology platforms the NSW Government's information technology standards
- 3. infrastructure works in relation to occupational health and safety risks
- 4. upgrading dams to meet the Metropolitan Water Plan requirements
- 5. implementing efficiency strategies to reduce operating costs
- 6. ongoing renewal of the hydrometric monitoring network
- 7. completing the upgrade program for sewage treatment plants posing risks to water quality.

¹⁶⁵ SCA submission, September 2008, pp 33-34.

¹⁶⁶ Sydney Catchment Authority Operating Licence, 1 January 2006, http://www.sca.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/4446/operating_licence_2006_2010 __final.pdf

¹⁶⁷ Sydney Catchment Authority, Corporate Plan 2007 – 2012, http://www.sca.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/4559/CorporatePlan.pdf

Glossary

2005 determination	Sydney Water Corporation, Hunter Water Corporation, Sydney Catchment Authority – Prices of Water Supply, Wastewater and Stormwater Services, Final Determination and Report, September 2005 (Determination Nos 5, 6 and 7, 2005).
2005 determination period	The period from 1 October 2005 to 30 June 2009, as set in the 2005 Determination.
2008 Sydney Water determination	<i>Review of prices for Sydney Water Corporation's water, sewerage, stormwater and other services from 1 July 2008, June 2008 (Determination No 1, 2008).</i>
2009 determination period	The period commencing 1 July 2009
Act	Sydney Water Catchment Management Act 1998
ASP	Accelerated Sewerage Program
BWSA	Bulk Water Supply Agreement
Catchment	Sydney drinking water catchment
COAG	Council of Australian Governments
current determination period	The period from 1 October 2005 to 30 June 2009, as set in the 2005 Determination.
СРІ	Consumer Price Index
DECC	NSW Department of Environment and Climate Change
determination	Price limits (maximum prices) set by IPART for a given period (determination period)
DWE	NSW Department of Water and Energy
GL	gigalitre
IPART	Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal of NSW

Glossary

IPART Act	Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal Act 1992
kL	kilolitre
LRMC	Long Run Marginal Cost of supply
Minister	Minister for Water
ML	megalitre
MMA	McLennan Magasanik Associates
NPV	Net Present Value
P-nought adjustment	P-nought is the price at time nought, which is for the first year of the determination period. A p-nought adjustment allows prices to increase more sharply in the first year of the determination period than subsequent years, to reflect a step up in revenue requirement.
RAB	Regulatory Asset Base
REP	Regional Environmental Plan
SASPoM	Special Areas Strategic Plan of Management
SCA	Sydney Catchment Authority
SRMC	Short Run Marginal Cost of supply
Sydney Water	Sydney Water Corporation
upcoming determination period	the period commencing 1 July 2009
WICA	Water Industry Competition Act 2006
WACC	Weighted Average Cost of Capital
WorleyParsons	WorleyParsons Services Limited Pty Ltd
X-factor	The rate by which prices can rise or fall over a determination period to account for efficiency gains and/or significant changes in the operating environment (such as new environmental standards or customer service standards).